
CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS MEETING AGENDA 

1705  MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, AL 

SEPTEMBER 16, 2013 

6:30 P.M. 
                                                                              

 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

 2.  ROLL CALL / INVOCATION  /  Reverend Stuart Davidson / Eastern Shore Baptist Church 

 

 3.  APPROVE MINUTES:    Council meeting minutes / September 3, 2013     

                                                   Council Work Session minutes / September 9, 2013 

                                                   Council Strategic Plan meeting minutes / August 26, 2013   

                                                   Council Strategic Plan meeting minutes / September 9, 2013   

         
PRESENTATION:     Certificate of Appreciation /  Ms. Amelia Alawine 

 

PROCLAMATION:   Cancer Awareness Month / Mr. Calvin Hunt 

 

PUBLIC HEARING:    Revisions to Zoning Map 

 

                                                   

4. REPORT STANDING COMMITTEES: 

 

A. FINANCE COMMITTEE / Conaway  

   a. Review Special Called meeting minutes / August 28
th
  

   b. Review minutes / September 9
th
  

    

1. Ordinances 

  a.  ATRIP / Resurfacing: Lake Forest Blvd (Lake Forest Phase IV)  

                   & North Main St.  /  Ordinance 2013-52 

 

2. Resolutions 

a.  Bid Award: Safety Shoes/Boots / Eastern Shore Shoe Hospital / Resolution 2013-48 

                        b.  Bid Award: Uniforms /  Unifirst Corp / Resolution 2013-49   

 

3. Motion 

      a. To close the 2012 Investment Account and transfer the remaining funds to the 2012       

          Construction account, and once all projects approved to be funded with 2012  

          Construction monies are paid the balance then be transferred to the Capital Reserve  

          Account 

 

4. Financial Reports 

            a.  Treasurers Report / August 31, 2013 

               b.  Sales & Use Tax Collections / July 31, 2013 

               c.  Lodging Tax Collections / July 31, 2013 

 
B. BUILDINGS & PROPERTY  COMMITTEE-  Davis    

             Review minutes / September 3
rd

  

 

   C.      PUBLIC SAFETY -  Rudicell    

             Review minutes / September 11
th
  

          

   D.      CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE  - Fry  

             Review minutes / September 11
th
  

 

   E.      PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE / SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY  -  LeJeune     

            a.  Review Beautification minutes / September 4
th
  

            b.  Review Environmental Advisory Board minutes / June 24
th
  

1



 

 

 

COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA                   SEPTEMBER 16, 2013                              PAGE   2 

 

5. REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS:  
   A.  Board of Zoning Adjustments – Adrienne Jones   

   B.  Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Conaway 

   C.  Industrial Development Board – Davis 

         Review minutes / August 26
th

  

 

   D.  Library Board  - Lake 

   E.  Planning Commission – Scott   

         a.)  Review minutes / July 25
th

  

         b.)  Review Sign Committee minutes/ August 20
th

,  August 27
th

  

 

   F.  Recreation Board  -  LeJeune 

   G. Utility Board - Fry    

 

6.  REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

     A.  Mayors Report 

     B.  City Attorney’s Report 

     C.   Department Head Comments 

            City Clerk Report 

 

             

7. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:   

 

 

8. RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 
   

  RESOLUTIONS: 

 

a.)  Declaring Certain Property Surplus and Authorize Disposition . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2013-44 

 

b.)  Declaring Certain Property Surplus and Authorize Disposition. . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2013-45 

 

c.)  Declaring Certain Property Surplus and Authorize Disposition. . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2013-46 

 

d.)  Declaring Certain Property Surplus and Authorize Disposition. . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2013-47 

 

e.)  Bid Award: Safety Shoes/Boots / Eastern Shore Shoe Hospital. . . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2013-48 

 

f.)  Bid Award: Uniforms / Unifirst Corp. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Resolution 2013-49 

 

g.)  Appoint Two Directors  to the Board of Directors of the Special  

      Care Facilities Financing Authority of the City of Daphne. . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2013-50  
 

 

 

 

 

 

2



 

 

 

 

COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA                   SEPTEMBER 16, 2013                              PAGE   3 
 

 

 

 ORDINANCES:         

 

        2
ND 

READ 

a.)   Adopting Council Rules of Procedure. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2013-21 

 

b.)   Amend Employee Handbook / Revise Discrimination and 

        Harassment Prevention / Chapter 1, 7 & 8. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-47 

 

c.)  Amend Employee Handbook / Reorganize Chapter 9. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-48 

 

d.)   Amend Employee Handbook / Reorganize Chapter 11. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-49 

  

       

 

       1
ST

 READ 

a.)  Adopting Fiscal Year 2014 Budget. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-50  

 

b.)  Adopting the Fiscal Year 2014 Capital Budget. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-51 

 

c.) ATRIP Grants: Initial Survey, Design & Geo-Technical  

Engineering: Resurfacing Lake Forest Blvd (Lake Forest Phase IV) 

Resurfacing North Main Street. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2013-52 

 

d.)  Establish Penalties and Enforcement Procedures for  

Violation of Municipal Ordinances. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-53 

 

e.)  Repealing Ordinance 2013-02 and Establishing 

Public Works Equipment Use Policy. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2013-54 

 

f.)  Revisions to Zoning Map. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2013-55 

     

 

 

9.    COUNCIL COMMENTS        

10.  ADJOURN 

3



CITY OF DAPHNE 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

CITY COUNCIL: 

 

COUNCILWOMAN CONAWAY    PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN RUDICELL     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN LAKE     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN FRY      PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN SCOTT     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN LEJEUNE     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

COUNCILMAN DAVIS     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

MAYOR: 

MAYOR HAYGOOD     PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

CITY CLERK: 

REBECCA HAYES      PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

 

CITY ATTORNEY: 

JAY ROSS       PRESENT___  ABSENT___ 

4



SEPTEMBER 3, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 
 

 
 

P
ag

e1
 

1.    CALL TO ORDER:  

Council President Scott called the meeting to order at 6:35 p.m.       

 

2.    ROLL CALL/INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

Mr. Willie Robison gave the invocation. 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:    

Tommie Conaway; Pat Rudicell, John Lake; Randy Fry; Ron Scott; Robin LeJeune; Joe Davis, 

III. 

 

Also present:  Mayor Haygood; Rebecca Hayes, City Clerk; Sarah Toulson, Assistant City Clerk; 

Jay Ross, City Attorney; David Carpenter, Police Chief; James White, Fire Chief; Margaret 

Thigpen, Civic Center Director; Vickie Hinman, HR Director; David McKelroy, Recreation 

Director; Richard Johnson, Public Works Director; Adrienne Jones, Director of Community 

Development; Mike Hinson, Finance Director; Tonja Young, Library Director; Danny Dillard, 

Building Inspection; Angie Phillips, Revenue Officer; Willie Robison, BZA; Larry Cooke, BZA. 

 

Absent: Michael Hoyt, Municipal Judge; Richard Merchant, Building Official. 

 

3.    APPROVE MINUTES: 

August 19, 2013 Council meeting minutes 

 

The August 19, 2013 council meeting minutes stand approved with the following amendment: 

Under Council Comments amend Councilman Davis’s comments: strike “the facilities are old 

and in need of repair”  and replace with “in order to deal with the importance of growth and the 

future needs and to avoid the facilities getting old and needing repair that the rates might need to 

be reviewed”. 

 

 

PROCLAMATION:     Certificate of Appreciation /  Ms. Amelia Alawine 

The reading of the proclamation was postponed until the September 16, 2013 council meeting. 

 

 

4.    REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEES: 

      A.   FINANCE COMMITTEE – Conaway 

The next meeting will be September 9
th

 at 4:30 p.m. in the Executive Conference room. 

 

      B.   BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE -  Davis 

The committee met at 5:30 p.m. today and the minutes will be in the next packet. 

 

 

5



SEPTEMBER 3, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 
 

 
 

P
ag

e2
 

 

      C.   PUBLIC SAFETY  COMMITTEE – Rudicell  

The minutes August 14
th

 minutes are in the packet.  The next meeting is September 11
th

 at 4:30 

p.m. 

 

      D.   CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE – Fry 

The next meeting will be September 11
th

 after the Public Safety meeting.  They will be 

considering several ordinances that are being updated and several ordinance where they are 

combining amendments into one ordinance. 

 

      E.   PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE – LeJeune 

The next meeting will be September 16
th

 at 5:00 p.m. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune to authorize the Mayor to enter into a 

Memorandum of Understanding with Kamco Daphne, LLC for Right-of-Way 

improvements at Bayfront Drive and Main Street.  Seconded by Councilman Lake. 
 

                                     MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune to  Authorize the Mayor, Council President and 

Public Works Director to identify and submit projects to the Metropolitan Planning 

Organization.  Seconded by councilman Lake. 

 

                                            MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

 

5.    REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMITTSIONS: 
      A.   Board of Zoning Adjustments – Adrienne Jones 

No meeting. No report. 

 

      B.   Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Conaway 

The next meeting will be September 23
rd

 at 5:30 p.m. 

 

      C.   Industrial Development Board – Davis 

The board met August 26
th
, and the minutes will be in the next packet.  The next meeting will be 

September 23
rd

 at 6:00 p.m.  He turned the floor over to the chairman of the IDB, Mrs. Toni Fassbender. 

 

Mrs. Fassbender thanked Mr. Davis for being extremely active with the IDB, and for his guidance in areas 

of his expertise.  They are trying to bring the board to more current operating procedures.  The board has 

had several projects in the past couple of years, and from what has been reported back three out of the 

four businesses have been moving along as expected if not better with one exception that has been a little 

6



SEPTEMBER 3, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 
 

 
 

P
ag

e3
 

stagnant.  They are making some progress, and they are happy to help businesses in Daphne, and hope 

they can bring in a lot more. 

 

      D.   Library Board – Lake 

The next meeting is Thursday, September 12
th

.  

 

      E.   Planning Commission – Scott 

The sign Committee minutes for July 23
rd

, July 30
th

, August 6
th

 and August 13 are in the packet.  

They will make a final recommendation to go to the Planning Commission on September 24
th

.  

On September 17
th

 there will be a sign company that will bring a displays of an electronic signs 

to the meeting. 

 

     F.   Recreation Board – LeJeune 
The next meeting will be September 11

th
 at 6:30 p.m. 

 

      G.   Utility Board – Fry 

The next meeting will be Wednesday, September 25
th

 at 5:00 p.m. 

 

6.    REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

       A.  Mayor’s Report 

           a.) Parade Permit / Gem of Champions / 5K Run / Walk / October 19, 2013 

MOTION BY Councilman Fry to approve the permit for Gem of Champions / 5K Run / 

Walk / October 19, 2013.  Seconded by Councilman Davis. 

 

                                      MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

Mayor Haygood introduced the new Finance Director, Mike Hinson and the new Revenue 

Officer, Angie Phillips to Council. 

 

      B.  City Attorney’s Report 

No report. 

 

     C.   Department Head Comments 

David McKelroy – Recreation Director – reported Brown Bag by the Bay will be for the next 

two months on Thursdays from 11:30 – 1:30. 

 

Margaret Thigpen – Civic Center Director – reported the Taste of the Eastern Shore was a 

success selling 1,144 tickets, and they had 36 vendors. She mentioned the upcoming events at the 

Civic Center. 

 

7



SEPTEMBER 3, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 
 

 
 

P
ag

e4
 

Mike Hinson – Finance Director – said it is an honor to be given this great opportunity.  He 

thanked the Mayor, and said he has been building relationships, and is now ready to get down to 

work. 

 

Angie Phillips – Revenue Officer – commended the Mayor on his ability to hire excellent 

employees.  She is enjoying meeting everyone, and said it is rare to go into a business and find 

so many happy employees.  She is glad to be here. 

 

Richard Johnson – Public Works Director – reported the Lake Forest road work has begun, and 

they are waiting on the stripping to go down on the north side, so there is not a whole lot to do to 

complete the north side.  

 

City Clerk Report – Rebecca Hayes –  
No report. 

 

 

7.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

No one spoke. 

 

 

8.    RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 

         

       RESOLUTIONS: 
a.)  Community Contribution: Ruff Wilson Youth Organization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2013-43 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to waive the reading of Resolution 2013-43.  

Seconded by Councilman Lake. 

 

                                      MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt Resolution 2013-43.  Seconded by 

Councilman Lake. 

 

                                     MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8



SEPTEMBER 3, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 
 

 
 

P
ag

e5
 

       ORDINANCES: 

       2
ND

  READ     
a.)   Amend Land Use & Development Ordinance / Common Space & 

       Recreation Provisions /  Definitions & Terms – No Clear Zone 

       Definitions & Terms – Related to Community Standards Ordinance . . ./Ordinance 2013-46 

 

 

        1
ST

 READ 
a.)   Amend Employee Handbook / Revise Discrimination and 

        Harassment Prevention / Chapter 1, 7 & 8 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-47 

 

b.)  Amend Employee Handbook / Reorganize Chapter 9. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-48 

 

c.)   Amend Employee Handbook / Reorganize Chapter 11. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2013-49 

 

d.)   Adopting Council Rules of Procedure. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2013-21 

        

MOTION BY Councilman Fry to waive the reading of Ordinance 2013-46.  Seconded by 

Councilman Rudicell. 

 

                                    MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Rudicell to adopt Ordinance 2013-46.  Seconded by Councilman 

Fry. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to amend Ordinance 2013-46 Section I,  11-14(h) the 

Section delete Proximity and Access to Existing Recreation Areas section.  Seconded by 

Councilman Davis. 

 

VOTE ON AMENDMENT 

 

                                       MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
VOTE ON ORIGINAL MOTION AS AMENDED 

 

                                        MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

 

9



SEPTEMBER 3, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 
 

 
 

P
ag

e6
 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to call a Special Called Council meeting for September 23, 

2013 6:30 P.M. to consider the Fiscal Year 2014 Budget.  Seconded by Councilwoman 

Conaway.  

 

                                              MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

ORDINANCES  2013-47, 2013-48, 2013-49 AND 2013-21 ARE  1
ST

 READS. 
 

 

 

9.    COUNCIL COMMENTS: 

Councilman Fry welcomed the new staff members, and said he is glad they are here, and hopes 

they are here for a longtime.  He mentioned the “Round Up” program that Daphne utilities has to 

help those who cannot afford their utility bills.  This is administered through Ecumenical 

Ministries.  He said all anyone has to do is call the utilities and enroll in the program if you want 

to help out.  He gave Mrs. Thigpen a shout out for the Taste of the Eastern Shore event, and said 

there was a great turnout.  It was very well done, and thanks very much. 

 

Councilman LeJeune commented on the Sign Committee saying it is great that citizens come 

out every week.  He said there will be a rate increase in utilities the board passed it last week at 

their meeting.  He said it is important to come out and be heard. 

 

Councilman Davis said he met Mr. Hinson at the Buildings and Property meeting, and he 

welcomed him aboard.  He said the “No Clear Zone” is important in the Land Use and 

Development Ordinance, and it addresses need from the past. 

 

Council President Scott said that he looks forward to working with the new employees.  He said 

the Department Heads wake up each morning and say “What can I do for the city and council to 

want to make it a better place. 

 

Mayor Haygood reported on the dead oak tree issue saying that a soil sample has been taken and 

sent to Montgomery by the Department of Agriculture. He was not given a time frame for the 

results. Mr. Johnson has received quotes for the remediation.  There are seven people on the Sign 

Committee who have done a wonderful job: Mrs. Elnora Jackson, Mr. Steve Robinson, Mr. Bill 

Burdick, Mrs. Toni Fassbender, Mr. John Peterson, Mr. Victor LeJeune and Mrs. Frieda 

Romanchuk.  Mrs. Jones has been there leading the charge facilitating the meetings, and he 

appreciates her work.  He is thankful to the council for their continued dedication in attending 

meetings.  He said Daphne High School showed a lot of character to come back fighting despite 

injuries during the game with Spanish Fort.  He said the next game is at home against Baldwin 

County High School. 

 

 

10



SEPTEMBER 3, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 
 

 
 

P
ag

e7
 

10.   ADJOURN: 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Lake to adjourn the meeting.  Seconded by Councilman 

LeJeune. 

                                       MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO DISCUSS, THE MEETING 

ADJOURNEDAT 7:25 P.M. 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by,       

         

                                                     

__________________________________    

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk       

 

        Certification of Presiding Officer,    

 

 

        ___________________________ 

        Ron Scott, Council President      

11



SEPTEMBER 9, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e1
 

   

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Tommie Conaway; Pat Rudicell; John Lake; Randy Fry; Ron 

Scott; Robin LeJeune; Joe Davis. 

  

Also present: Mayor Dane Haygood; Rebecca Hayes, City Clerk; Jay Ross, City Attorney; Richard 

Johnson, Public Works Director; Adrienne Jones, Community Development Director; David Carpenter, 

Police Chief; Michael Hoyt, Municipal Judge; Tonja Young, Library Director; David McKelroy, 

Recreation Director; Mike Hinson, Finance Director; Christine Ciancetta, Deputy Finance Director; 

Darrelyn Bender, ES Chamber of Commerce; Tomasina Werner, Beautification Committee. 

 

Council President Scott called the meeting to order at 6:35 p.m. 

 

 

1.FISCAL YEAR 2014 BUDGET 

Council listed their amendments as follows: 

                                                                                      Currently      Lower To 

Conaway     

Equipment Purchased / General Government  pg 30 $  18,175              Look At 

Renovations/Building Improvements   $  30,000        Look AT 

City Administrator / Capital Budget   $  73,865        Look At 

 

Councilman Rudicell 

Renovations / Building Improvement            Look At 

City Administrator            Eliminate Position 

Travel Budget: Mayor     $  15,000        Look At 

Travel Budget: Legislative    $  36,000 $  27,000 

Cut Overtime / Court     $    5,000  Trim 

Training Coordinator / HR    $  52,170 $  17,025    Cut to Part-time 

Library Aide; 2 Requested           Allow for 1 

Marketing/Communications/Technical Writer  $  45,000      Eliminate Position 

Recreation Program     $  20,000 $  10,000 

Community Contributions            Look At 

Mobile National Estuary Program   $       500 $    5,000 

Daphne High School Fields    $  20,000       Look At 

ES Chamber of Commerce/Blue Print for Tomorrow $  35,000 $  17,500     Cut by Half 

 

Councilman Lake 

Training Budget / Legislative            No Change 

Training Coordinator / HR    Consider utilizing Nurse to hybrid position 

City Administrator            Eliminate Position 

Marketing/Communications/Technical Writer         Eliminate Position 

Flag Initiative                   Put in Beautification Budget 

Flowers                    Put in Beautification Budget 

 

 

12



SEPTEMBER 9, 2013 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e2
 

 

 

Councilman Fry 

City Administrator            Eliminate Position 

Marketing/Communications/Technical Writer         Eliminate Position 

 

 

        Current        Lower To 

Councilman LeJeune 
1 Mile Sidewalk in Lake Forest    $  65,000 

Road Improvements     $250,000 $200,000    Reduce to cover sidewalks 

ES Chamber of Commerce/Blue Print for Tomorrow $  35,000 $  20,000    

Mobile Bay National Estuary Program            Eliminate 

City Administrator             No Change 

Training Coordinator / HR            No Change 

Recreation Program Coordinator           No Change 

 

Councilman Davis 

Councilman Davis feels the budget is about how much money they have, and taking it and using as best 

as they can, and he will be satisfied.  

 

Council President Scott 

Council President Scott asked that the budget be on the September 16
th

 agenda for a 1
st
 read.  He asked 

that a financial summary be prepared since they have not had one in a while.  He said he is not against 

all the requested positions, and is for Public Works personnel. 

 

 

 

1. ADJOURN 

 

There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 8:12 p.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by,       

                                                     

                               

___________________________                                                                                        

Rebecca A. Hayes,                                                                     

City Clerk                                                                                                                                             

       Certification of Presiding Officer:   

 

 

       ________________________________      

      Ron Scott,     

      Council President   

13



AUGUST 26, 2013 

STRATEGIC PLAN MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

4:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e1
 

Councilman Davis called the meeting to order at 4:42 p.m. 

 

PRESENT:  Councilman Rudicell Councilman Lake; Councilman Fry; Council President Scott; 

Councilman LeJeune; Councilman Davis; Mayor Haygood; Rebecca Hayes, City Clerk; Sarah Toulman 

Assistant City Clerk; Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director; Vicki Hinman, Human Resources 

Director; David Carpenter, Police Chief; Richard Johnson, Public Works Director; David McKelroy, 

Recreation Director. 

 

 

 

1. PUB LIC PARTICIPATION 

No one spoke. 

 

2. VISION STATEMENT 

Council changed some wording to the Vision deleting the work “growth” at the end of the sentence. 

 

“The City of Daphne is committed to a family oriented environment that promotes high quality of life, 

strong sense of community and the fostering of educational, cultural and business.” growth 

 

3. STAKEHOLDERS 

1. Develop framework before inviting stakeholders to a meeting 

2. Participation from POA’s through communication 

3. Stakeholders give what they think needs to be included in the plan 

4. City Department give what they think needs to be included 

 

4. LETTER TO STAKEHOLDERS 

1. Ask for feedback 

2. Ask for 3 most important features of Daphne 

3. Enlist their help and give them topics 

4. Use surveymonkey.com to survey the stakeholders 

 

5. TIMELINE 

Have specific goals with a 1 year, 2 year, 5 year timeline 

 

E-Mail council the retreat minutes as a reminder of the goals stated at that meeting. 

 

Councilman Fry thinks it would be a good idea to have a consultant to help with formulating a strategic 

plan. 

 

Add Recreation to goals. 

 

Also discussed: 

 

1. The possibility of goals and objectives coming in conflict with one another. 

2. The level of detail needed for goals and the sub-points or objectives beneath them. 

14



AUGUST 26, 2013 

STRATEGIC PLAN MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

4:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e2
 

3. Appropriate point at which to include the stakeholders or public at large.  Discussion revolved 

around the general question: Should stakeholders be involved earlier in the process, to assist in 

the formation of goals, or later in the process, after the committee has established their own goals 

and priorities for strategic planning, in order to provide feedback to the established plan? 

Chairman Davis mentioned at the end of the discussion that stakeholders do not need to be brought into 

the process until the goals are decided and all members of the committee are of the same mind in 

determining what the strategic plan is, and what the general goals will be.  He expressed a desire to take 

this process to the city department heads before inviting stakeholder comment. 

 

 

6. WHATEVER ELSE IS DEEMED NECESSARY 

There were no other necessary items to discuss. 

 

The next meeting in two weeks, September 9
th
.  

The meeting adjourned at 6:01 p.m. 

 

Submitted by 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

 

 

Certification of Presiding Officer 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Ron Scott, Council President 

15



SEPTEMBER 9, 2013 

STRATEGIC PLAN MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

4:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e1
 

Councilman Davis called the meeting to order at 5:08 p.m. 

 

PRESENT:  Councilwoman Conaway; Councilman Rudicell Councilman Lake; Councilman Fry; 

Council President Scott; Councilman LeJeune; Councilman Davis; Mayor Haygood; Rebecca Hayes, City 

Clerk; Sarah Toulman Assistant City Clerk; Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director; Vicki Hinman, 

Human Resources Director; Richard Johnson, Public Works Director; Tonja Young, Library Director; 

Mike Hinson, Finance Director; Jane Ellis, Mayor’s Assistant. 

 

 

 

1. PUB LIC PARTICIPATION 

No one spoke. 

 

2. CITY WIDE GOALS 

Councilman Davis: 

1. Annexation 

a. Exit 38 east and west SR181 to Belaton 

b. 500 foot plus at all intersections  

c. All agricultural area north of CR64 and west of SR181   

This is potential future commercial and residential 

d. US Highway 90 east to CR 54 and south to Corte Road 

2. City Management 

a. Information “How did we do” survey 

b. Customer service training 

c. “How To” checklist for citizen interaction with “ALL” city departments 

3. Economic Development 

a. Professional business center/industrial park 

b. 1
st
 class office space and assembly, distribution and warehousing 

4. Recreation 

a. Improve access to Bay Front: Add water features, fountains to attract visitors, tourists and 

citizens 

b. Add multi-purpose theatre/Senior Center/Gym 

c. Add Tennis Center / Control use, fees, tournaments 

5. Transportation 

a. Work with ALDOT for improvements to Exits 35 and 38, including 6 lanes 

b. Highway 13 interchange to I-10 

 

Mayor Haygood 

Mayor Haygood did not have anything to add to his list he presented at the August 12
th
 meeting. His goals 

are listed below: 

 

1. Strong and diverse economy 

2. Safe and secure community 

3. Thriving and livable neighborhoods  /  Also apply to the downtown area 

               a.    Roads 

4. Well managed city 

5. Positive image 

16



SEPTEMBER 9, 2013 

STRATEGIC PLAN MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

4:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e2
 

6. Healthy and active citizenry  

          a.)  Recreation  

7.         Enhance transportation and infrastructure 

 

Councilman Fry 

1. Recreation Facilities 

a. Tennis courts 

b. Amphitheatre 

c. Nicholson Center / Long-term Plan 

2. Infrastructure 

a. Roads 

b. Sidewalks 

c. Storm water management 

d. ALDOT / Highway 13 Interchange 

3. Department Heads 

a. Pay increases for high performers 

4. Grant Consultant  

a.  Contingency Arrangement 

5. Communication  

a. E-Mail / Signatures 

b. Website Improvements 

c.  Logo 

6. Benefits Restructure / Long-term / City Viability 

7. Annexation 

8. Sewer Expansion 

 

Councilman Lake 

1. Recreation 

a. Pool 

b. Tennis courts 

c. Skateboard Park 

2. Transportation 

a. US Highway 90  4-lane 

b. Annex all land from CR 13 and Lawson Road to US Highway 90  / 4-lane 

c.  

3. Recreation Diversification 

a. Amphitheatre 

b. Nicholson Center / Used by BRAGG 

4. Public Safety 

5. Aesthetics  

a. Appealing clean community  

 

 

 

 

 

Councilwoman Conaway 

17



SEPTEMBER 9, 2013 

STRATEGIC PLAN MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

4:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e3
 

1. Community Involvement 

2. Coffee with the Mayor / Festivities 

3. Education Opportunities  

4. Recreation Services 

a. Senior Citizens area addressed 

b. More activity programs 

5. Jobs 

a. Attract more jobs 

b. Keep businesses already here 

c. Look to why businesses leave  

 

Councilman Scott 

1. Recreation 

2. Amphitheatre 

a. Opportunity for something different, something no other city in Baldwin County has 

3. Inventory city assets 

a. Storm water 

b. Buildings 

c. Right-of-Way / Know how much acreage is mowed 

4. Arts 

5. Nicholson Center  

a. BRAGG 

6. Education 

7. Comprehensive Plan 

 

Councilman Rudicell 

1. Debt Reduction 

a. Future debt 

b. Decide worthy project 

2. Budget Strategy 

3. Recreation 

a. Amphitheatre 

4. Infrastructure 

a. Roads 

b. Sidewalks 

c. Drainage 

5. Planning / Image 

a. Balance business and residential 

b. Recruit people with skill set 

 

Councilman LeJeune 
1. Tennis Courts 

2. Recreation Facilities 

a. Girls softball fields 

b. Build new fields for boys and repair old fields for girls 

3. Sidewalks in Lake Forest 

4. Repaving 

18



SEPTEMBER 9, 2013 

STRATEGIC PLAN MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

4:30 P.M. 

 

P
ag

e4
 

5. City assets 

a. Do inventory on equipment longevity and when to replace 

b. Be proactive not reactive 

 

 

 

6. WHATEVER ELSE IS DEEMED NECESSARY 

There were no other necessary items to discuss. 

 

The next meeting in two weeks, September 23
rd

.  

The meeting adjourned at 6:28 p.m. 

 

Submitted by 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

 

 

Certification of Presiding Officer 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Ron Scott, Council President 

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



 

 

 

REPORT  

OF  

STANDING COMMITTEES 

28



CITY OF DAPHNE 

SPECIAL CALLED FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 
   AUGUST 28, 2013 

4:00 P.M. 
 
I.      CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
 

The meeting was called to order at  4:00p.m.  Present were Chairperson Mrs. Conaway, Councilman 
Ron Scott, Councilman Joseph Davis, Councilman John Lake, Deputy Finance Director Christine 
Ciancetta,  Senior Accountant Suzânne Henson and Accounting Technician Sue Moody. 
 
Also in attendance were Councilman Randy Fry, Councilman Robin LeJeune, Councilman Pat 
Rudicell, Human Resource Director Vickie Hinman, Public Works Director Richard Johnson, Captain 
Scott Taylor, Civic Center Director Margaret Thigpen, Recreation Director David McKelroy, and 
Library Director Tonja Young.          . 
 
 

II.      PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
 

III.    CURRENT BUSINESS 
 

A.  FY2014 Budget 
Ms. Conaway opened the meeting and noted questions could be directed to Department Heads or 
Finance Council members.  The Mayor gave a summary of the proposed Budget and noted that most 
important was that we have a surplus Budget.  The Mayor noted that there are two forms of employee 
compensation (2% COLA starting January 1st and a Merit based increase, starting point allocation in 
the amount of $42,000 (1% increase for selected employees).   The Mayor noted he is looking to 
change the culture by rewarding employees who are doing an outstanding job.  The Mayor continued 
talking about standardizing employee reviews at the same time which would enable the 
implementation of the COLA and Merit increases.  The Mayor noted that the Capital budget is 
presented at the beginning of the year and he has created more transparency for Community 
contributions (amount set at ½ % of General Fund revenues – currently proposed is $115,500 which 
is less than ½% $123,000).  The Mayor reviewed the $250,000 allocated for Road Projects and noted 
that previously $500,000 had been appropriated for these projects and discussed other Capital 
projects that needed future considerations.   The Mayor reviewed the overall summary for Revenues 
over Expenditures: FY2014 proposed - $339,000 General Fund surplus and $1.845 Million surplus for 
all funds combined.  The Mayor continued the comparison to FY2013’s surplus $565,000-all funds 
and $83,000-General Fund; and FY2012 ($353,000)-General Fund and $915,000 all funds combined.  
The Mayor noted that all Revenue projections were set by Mrs. Briley as well as the departmental 
presentation before she retired.  Mr. Davis asked on what basis/model did Mrs. Briley used to 
establish the revenue projections.  Mrs. Henson noted that Mrs. Briley has always based the 
projections on historical data, County projections for Ad Valorem, and any legislative changes that 
would affect existing revenues or provide new revenues.  Mrs. Henson noted that Mrs. Briley’s 
projections were generally an increase between 1- 5% according to the economy and then based 
upon any additional information that she had found out in her research.  Mr. Scott noted that Mrs. 
Briley has been incredibly accurate  with her projections. Mr. Scott noted that this year Mrs. Briley 
projected 4.4 Mil in Ad Valorem and when Mrs. Henson checked with the county their projections 
came in at 4.394 Million.   
 
Mrs. Conaway moved through the department’s budget starting with Legislative and discussed the 
change in the Council Retreat line item.  The Mayor discussed the proposed changes.  Mr. Davis 
asked about the notations on the summary sheet on personnel changes and promotional advertising.  

29



Finance Minutes - 08-28 Special Meeting.doc  2  

Ms. Ciancetta reviewed the personnel changes and noted that the Mayor had requested that one of 
the three Finance Accounting Technician positions be removed and add an additional Deputy 
Director.  Ms. Ciancetta noted that a new Deputy Director had been hired.  Ms. Conaway asked if 
there was a Finance Director.  The Mayor explained the elimination of the Accounting Technician 
position and noted that the new Deputy Director will be the acting Finance Director.  The Mayor noted 
he was hired in as a Deputy Finance Director and explained the Finance Director position will remain 
open and the new Deputy Director may move into that position but he is now serving as the acting 
Finance Director.  Mr. Davis asked who will perform the tasks performed by the third Accounting 
Technician.  The Mayor noted that those tasks will have to be evaluated and that the new acting 
Finance Director will evaluate the current process and advise.  Mr. Davis agreed a fresh set of eyes is 
always good but he did want to make sure that there are backups in place so that there are not any 
breakdowns and the work is getting done.  Mr. Davis asked about the duties this position performs 
and if some of the reports that has recently not been able to be included in the Finance packet are 
based on duties of this position.  Mrs. Henson answered yes and summarized the duties this 
technician performed..  Mrs. Henson noted that there are currently two part-time temporary people 
performing the two main duties of this position and emphasized the need to maintain separation of 
duties within the finance department.   Mr. Lake discussed the need for checks and balances.  The 
Mayor noted that the new acting Finance  Director will be reviewing the separation of duties.   
 
Mr. Scott noted that there was a lot of information to cover and noted the Mayor has presented a 
balanced budget and Council is responsible for funding the budget.  Mr. Rudicell asked if there was 
any consideration for funding a Bond Issue that he would like to be aware of a potential Bond Issue 
before adopting the proposed budget.  The Mayor reviewed some pending Capital projects (Road 
projects, Tennis Courts…) and noted that any Bond Issue would have to come before the Council for 
approval.  Mr. Scott noted that a small bond issue would not have a big effect on the current budget.  
Mr. Rudicell discussed the need to look at the budget in a critical manner. Mr. Lake agreed with Mr. 
Rudicell’s point.   
 
Mr. Johnson noted that overall he is good with Public Works budget and reviewed the new personnel 
request.  The Mayor noted that he would be glad to meet individually or in groups as needed to 
discuss any area of the budget.  Discussion was made on the Mechanical Parts transfer/inventory 
budget process.  Discussion continued on the Flower & Flag Initiative new line items moved out of 
Grounds/Beautification to the Executive department.  Ms. Ciancetta noted that only $5,000 was taken 
out of Beautification’s budget with the remainder coming out of Grounds Supplies.  The Mayor noted 
that the change is a designation issue and he is more than willing for them to help with these projects. 
Mr. Scott asked about where monies would be budgeted for new sidewalks.  Mr. Johnson noted that 
new projects would need to be appropriated. 
 
Discussion continued on Public Safety.  Mr. Lake noted he had some questions for Public Safety but 
they were answered earlier.  Mr. Davis asked about new vehicles.  Ms. Ciancetta answered that new 
vehicle requests were summarized on the Capital spreadsheet in the back of the budget book and 
after they are approved they will be added to the budget.  Mr. Rudicell asked about the part-time 
personnel request in Dispatch.  Captain Taylor answered that the purpose of the part-time positions is 
to get someone who has experience, perhaps someone who works part-time in other municipalities 
dispatch. 
 
Recreation and Library budget was discussed.  Mr. Rudicell asked if the Daphne High School field 
maintenance was the same items that was referenced in the Community Contribution spreadsheet.  
The Mayor noted that the Community contribution spreadsheet is an extraction from the budget – not 
an addition.  Lights used at the Middle School was discussed.  Mr. McKelroy explained the City uses 
these fields and that he keeps the keys to turn on the lights and that the school predominantly uses 
these fields during the day.  Discussion continued on irrigation budget at the Daphne Sports Complex 
and the need for irrigation if new Tennis Courts are built. 
Mr. Rudicell asked about the Library personnel requests.  Ms. Young explained there were not 
enough people to cover Saturdays and nights and these new employees would cover those days.  Mr. 

30



Finance Minutes - 08-28 Special Meeting.doc  3  

Rudicell asked about the portable bathrooms.  Mr. McKelroy noted that they are predominantly 
needed for Lott Park for 5-6 year old field and for special City events/needs. 
 
Ms. Conaway asked about City Hall building renovations/improvements.  The Mayor answered one 
project is in the City Clerk’s office and drywalling in the Revenue Department.  Mr. Rudicell asked 
about the Marketing personnel request and the promotional items line item.  The Mayor answered 
each department would still have a promotional items line item but the new Marketing person would 
coordinate those purchases.  Discussion continued on the need to get continuity of logos/uniforms 
throughout the departments. 
 
Community Contributions and Events were discussed and in-kind services the City provides to outside 
agencies.  Mr. Davis stated the need for these outside agencies to provide financial reports as 
requested/required.  Ms. Conaway noted that the undesignated contributions are available for future 
contributions.  Discussion continued on Blueprint for tomorrow, it’s purpose, and what other 
municipalities contribute. Mr. Davis asked if the City is funding the Blueprint does the City have any 
input as to what the plan is?  Mr. LeJeune discussed the proposed community contribution amounts 
and a policy being set by Resolution designating what the percentage of the budget  will be for 
community contributions. 

 
  

V. OLD BUSINESS 
 
      
 

VI. ADJOURN   
 

The meeting adjourned at 5:38  p.m.. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

31



CITY OF DAPHNE 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 
   SEPTEMBER 9, 2013 

4:00 P.M. 
 
I.      CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
 

The meeting was called to order at 4:00 p.m.  Present were Chairperson Mrs. Conaway, Councilman 
Ron Scott, Councilman Joseph Davis, Deputy Finance Director Christine Ciancetta, Senior 
Accountant Suzânne Henson and Accounting Technician Sue Moody. 
Councilman John Lake arrived at 4:27 p.m. 
Also in attendance were Human Resource Director Vickie Hinman, Revenue Officer Angie Phillips, 
Public Works Director Richard Johnson, Civic Center Director Margaret Thigpen, and Library Director 
Tonja Young. 
 
 
 

II.      PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
A.  Blueprint for Tomorrow - Ms. Darrelyn Bender, Eastern Shore Chamber of Commerce  
 
Ms. Darrelyn Bender presented the June 2013 End of Year Report for Blueprint for a Better 
Tomorrow.  Ms. Bender reviewed the programs and projects made possible by investors:  Economic 
Development, Workforce Development for students in seventh grade through High School, and 
Tourism.  Ms. Bender continued discussing other annual highlights of the Chamber of Commerce. 

 

III.    HUMAN RESOURCES BUSINESS 
 

A.  Update on Human Resources Department Activity 
      Mrs. Vickie Hinman reviewed the Human Resource Report including open position status. 
 
Positions      Status 
Accounting Technician    Open 
(2) PT Public Service Workers   Interviewing 
Library Circulation Supervisor   Reviewing Applications 
   
Safety Committee Meeting: August 29, 2013  
All Public Works employees who have not attended a Flagging training class will attend the training on 
September 18 at Public Works.  The Building Maintenance Supervisor attended a Competent Person Ladder 
Safety class on August 30.  A protocol for injured temporary workers in Public Works was developed and is the 
following: City of Daphne’s Fire Medics will be contacted first and the temporary employee will be taken to the 
American Family Care Clinic or Thomas Hospital if additional medical attention is needed.  
Next Safety Committee meeting will be September 26, 2013. 
 
HR projects/meetings: 

 Employee Personnel Handbook revisions     

 Customer Service Training for employees (Sept. 4, Sept. 11, and Sept. 25) 

 EEO-4 Federal report due Sept. 30 

 Meetings with different insurance companies regarding cost savings for Short Term/Long Term ins. for 
employees 

 
 
 
 
 
 

32



  2  

 

IV. CURRENT BUSINESS 
 
A.  Financial Reports 

 
1. Treasurer’s Report: August, 2013 

The draft Treasurer’s Report totaling $15,794,164.40 was presented by Mrs. Henson.  Mrs. Henson 
noted that this is a draft report since all cash receipts for August have not been entered and therefore 
all Bank Statements are not reconciled. Mr. Scott asked if the investment account is being monitored.  
Mrs. Henson noted the Finance Director has previously monitored that account and noted that a 
monthly statement is received from Raymond James, the City’s investment company.  The Mayor 
noted he had been corresponding with Scott Hunter from Raymond James concerning the City’s 
investment accounts.   
 

2.  Sales and Use Taxes:  July, 2013 
 Ms. Conaway reviewed the Sales Tax Reports.  Ms. Henson noted that July was up $17,467 from 
July’s budget amount and up  $463,711 year to date. 
 

3.  Lodging Tax Collections,  July, 2013  
Mrs. Conaway reviewed the Lodging Tax information and noted that July 2013 was up $94,310.47 
over July 2012 -  $79,417.80.  Mr. Scott noted that this appears to be the highest Lodging Tax 
Collection ever for the month of July. 
 

4.  Report: New Business Licenses –   August, 2013     
Ms. Angie Phillips, the new Revenue Officer reviewed the new Business License report and advised 
she was doing some cleanup and organization work in Revenue and that will be reflected in next 
month’s report. 
     

6.  Bills Paid Reports –   August, 2013 
Mrs. Conaway reviewed the Bills Paid Report. 
 
 7.  2012 Investment Account - Discuss closing 
Mrs. Henson noted that there had been discussion at a previous Finance Meeting concerning the 
closing of the 2012 Investment Account with Raymond James and transferring the funds to the 2012 
Construction Account.  Ms. Henson stated at the previous meeting she had reviewed that the 
investment account fees were higher than the current interest earned and noted that the current net 
loss on the investment fund is $11,676.16.  The Mayor noted he had been corresponding with Mr. 
Scott Hunter of Raymond James concerning the Investment account.  Ms. Henson noted that two of 
the three projects that were being funded by the 2012 monies were complete with basically only 
retainage left to be paid.  Ms. Henson noted that the Investment fund was approved by Council to be 
opened and would now require a motion from Council to close the account and transfer funds to the 
Construction Fund.  Ms. Henson noted that there will be some available funds remaining in the 
Construction account after completion of the approved projects.  Ms. Henson noted that the final fees 
and interest will need to be posted before a final available balance can be determined, but estimated 
that the available balance will be approximately $130,000. Ms. Henson continued that once all 
projects are complete and the monies reach a minimal balance Construction Account funds are 
typically transferred to the Capital Reserve account so that the Construction account can be closed. 

 

Motion by Mr. Scott to recommend to Council to close the 2012 Investment Account 
and transfer the remaining funds to the 2012 Construction account.  Also, once all 
projects approved to be funded with 2012 Construction monies are paid that the 
balance be transferred to the Capital Reserve Account.   Seconded by Mr. Davis.  
Motion carried. 
 

33



  3  

 

B. Appropriation Request:  (Ordinance)  
1.  2012 CONSTRUCTION  & CAPITAL RESERVE:  

 ATRIP Road Projects – Match required for FY2013: $160,452    
o North Main Street Resurfacing   - $  43,565 
o Lake Forest Blvds Phase IV       - $116,887             

 
Mr. Johnson reviewed the two new ATRIP projects:  North Main Street and Lake Forest Phase IV.  
Mr. Johnson noted that initial survey & design and initial engineering cost ($160,452) would need to 
be allocated in FY13 for these projects.  Discussion continued that these two projects along with the 
U.S. 98 Service Road Extension project would extend into FY2014 and that an additional $796,270 
would need to be appropriated.  Ms. Henson noted that there would be some remaining monies left in 
the 2012 Construction Fund and that those monies would be available to help fund the FY13 cost.  
Ms. Henson noted that the balance of the funds needed for FY13 would need to come from Capital 
Reserve or General Fund.  Ms. Henson noted that since part of the 2012 Construction funds are in an 
Investment account the account balance will fluctuate due to pending interest and fees. Discussion 
continued that the estimated account balance available for the 2012 Construction fund is $130,000. 
 

 

Motion by Mr. Scott to adopt an ordinance appropriating $160,452 from the balance of 
the 2012 Construction account for the initial Survey, Design, and Engineering for the 
following projects:  North Main Street & Lake Forest Boulevards Phase IV with the 
balance coming from Capital Reserve Fund.   Seconded by Mr. Davis.  Motion carried. 
 

 

         2.  LODGING TAX: 

 Bayfront Paving Project - $26,000  
Mr. Johnson discussed the need to pave the Bayfront Parking area and noted the cost will be 
approximately $26,000 which includes striping.  Discussion continued on the need to pave this area 
for safety issues and that complaints had been received from ladies attending events at the Bayfront 
Facility that the gravel is difficult to walk on in high heels.  Mr. Johnson noted paving the parking lot 
will also make it easier for the City to maintain.  

 

Motion by Mr. Scott to adopt an ordinance appropriating $26,000 from the Lodging Tax 
Fund for the Bayfront Parking Paving Project.   Seconded by Mr. Davis.  Motion 
carried. 

 
 
 

C. Bids: (Resolution) 
 
1. 2013-P-SAFETY SHOES/BOOTS  

Mr. Johnson noted this was an annual bid and that the recommendation was to award to Eastern 
Shore Shoe Hospital.  Mr. Johnson noted that there was no increase in pricing from the previous year. 

 

Motion by Lake to adopt a resolution to award the Safety Shoes/Boots bid to Eastern 
Shore Shoe Hospital for unit cost as follows: $120 -8” Boot/Waterproof Boot, $115 – 6” 
Boot/Waterproof Boot,  $109 – Shoe/Waterproof Shoe.  Seconded by Davis.  Motion 
carried. 

 
 
 

34



  4  

2.  2013-Q-UNIFORMS 
Mr. Johnson noted this was also an Annual bid and he recommended the bid be awarded to Unifirst 

Corporation. 
 

Motion by Davis to adopt a resolution to award the Uniform bid to Unifirst Corp. for 
unit cost as bid.  Seconded by Scott.  Motion carried. 

 
 
  

V. OLD BUSINESS 
 
      
 

VI. ADJOURN   
The meeting was adjourned at 4:46 p.m.. 

35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



Buildings & Property Committee Meeting 

Tuesday, September 3, 2013  

5:30 PM 

Daphne City Hall- Mayor’s Conference Room 

 

Committee Members 

 

Councilman Joe Davis, Chair 

Councilman Randy Fry 

Councilman Pat Rudicell 

Mayor Dane Haygood 

Richard Merchant, Building Official 

Frank Barnett, Maintenance Supervisor 

Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director 

Rick Whitehead, IT Coordinator 

 

Committee Minutes 

Present: Councilman Joe Davis, Councilman Randy Fry, Councilman Pat Rudicell, Frank 

Barnett, Margaret Thigpen, Richard Johnson, Danny Dillard, Mike Hinson, Suzanne Henson, 

Sarah Toulson (Recording Secretary) 

Absent: Rick Whitehead, Mayor Dane Haygood 

The meeting brought to order at 5:33 pm by Chairman Joe Davis 

1. Approval of the Minutes: Motion by Mr. Fry to adopt the August 5, 2013 minutes as 

written.  Seconded by Mr. Rudicell.  Motion carried unanimously.  

 

2. Resolutions for Surplus Property: Suzanne Henson presented three resolutions to the 

committee declaring certain personal property surplus and authorizing disposition: 

 

a. Walk-Through Metal Detector: To be donated to the Mobile Correctional Center 

or otherwise directed for disposition by the Mayor, 

b. Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment: To be donated to the Belforest 

Volunteer Fire Department, and  

c. Other Surplus Equipment: To be advertised and sold through Govdeals.com. 

Mr. Davis asked that the Finance Department request a letter from the receiving agency 

confirming any donated equipment given by the City. 

Motion: Adopt the three Resolutions Declaring Certain Personal Property Surplus and 

Authorizing the Mayor to Dispose of Such Property.  Moved by Mr. Rudicell, Second by 

Mr. Fry.  Carried unanimously. 

3. Civic Center & Bayfront Report: Margaret Thigpen distributed and discussed her 

reports, noting the event Taste of the Eastern Shore successfully took place, with 36 vendors 

and 1,140 tickets sold.  August 2013 revenue totaled $13,286.50, slightly under August 2012 

59



levels, with Year to Date revenues standing at $173,506.00, above figures listed for FY2012.  

Figures shown indicated that revenues to date are ahead of pace from the previous fiscal 

year.   

 

Ms. Thigpen listed a number of upcoming events scheduled at the Civic Center, and reported 

that the Civic Center was already taking bookings for spring and fall 2014.   

 

She gave an open invitation to the committee and any other interested parties to attend the 

Tourism meeting scheduled for September 5, and to be held monthly thereafter. 

 

Mr. Johnson reported on the Bayfront Pavilion paving project, noting that the gravel 

currently in place presented multiple problems.  He presented quotes for the cost of paving, 

noting that the low bid had come from American Asphalt.   

Motion: To use lodging tax funds to allocate $26,000 to facilitate the paving project at 

Bayfront Pavilion.  Moved by Mr. Rudicell, Second by Mr. Fry.  Carried 

unanimously. 

Conversation ensued regarding safety concerns at Bayfront Pavilion.  Mr. Fry suggested that 

extra patrols and signs, cameras, or other crime deterrents should be considered.  Mr. 

Johnson mentioned that once park maintenance crews were under control of Public Works, 

cameras and other crime deterrents would be a priority. 

 

4. Building Inspection Monthly Reports: Danny Dillard reported that 15 new 

construction projects had been started, with 102 permits filed during August.  Total job cost 

was $4,226,835.79 with permit fees totaling $28,952.73.  

 

5. Daphne Search and Rescue: Mr. Johnson updated the committee, stating that Daphne 

Search and Rescue seemed to currently be in a “fact-finding” mode, and no further action on 

the City’s part was requested.   

Mr. Rudicell requested that a sense of urgency be conveyed to Daphne Search and Rescue, to 

ensure any facility requests were included in the FY2014 budget currently under 

consideration. 

6. Lights and Cameras for Gator Alley: Mr. Rudicell reported that Councilman Robin 

Lejune had figures for the cost of these additions, and would speak with him on the matter.  

Mr. Johnson noted that this equipment could possibly be obtained through the state bid list 

or through Govdeals.com. 

 

7. Nicholson Center: Frank Barnett reported that the reroofing of the Nicholson Center was 

completed.  Conversation was had regarding the next steps for the Nicholson Center, 

including finding a good leasee for the property. 

 

8. Proposed Property Sale: Beth Pierce was not in attendance, so the proposed property 

sale was tabled until the next meeting.   

60



 

9. Other items:  

 

a. Alligator Alley Repairs: Mr. Johnson reported that the City would be unable 

to repair the erosion damage until the State had repaired the drainage issues in 

the immediate area.  The damaged portion of Alligator Alley would remain closed 

until repairs were completed. 

 

b. Water Fountain at Joe Louis Patrick Park: Mr. Barnett updated the 

committee, stating that the water fountain had been installed.  He also 

mentioned that the air conditioning units at the Ruff Wilson Youth Center were 

also installed and running properly. 

 

c. Battlefield Cross Statue: Mr. Johnson mentioned that it was his goal to have 

the Battlefield Cross statue installed at Patriot’s Point for a Veteran’s Day 

unveiling.  The statue is currently awaiting mayoral approval. 

 

Mr. Rudicell moved to adjourn, and was seconded by Mr. Fry.  The motion carried unanimously.  

The Meeting was adjourned at 6:19 pm. 

 

61



62



63



64



Code Enforcement / Ordinance  Committee                  September 11, 2013 Page 1 
 

Code Enforcement / Ordinance Committee 
    Wednesday, September 11, 2013 

1705 Main Street 

Daphne, AL 

5:30 p.m. 

                                                                               

                                                                                  

  

Councilman Randy Fry, Chairman       

Councilman Ron Scott                                                                  

Councilman Robin LeJeune 

Councilman Pat Rudicell 

 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL: 

 Chairman Rudicell called the meeting to order at 5:05 p.m. 

 

 MEMBERS PRESENT:  Randy Fry; Pat Rudicell; Ron Scott; Robin LeJeune.                                               

 

Also present:  Rebecca Hayes, recording secretary; Councilwoman Conaway; Ashley Campbell, 

Environmental Programs Manager;  Kyle Navarro, Attorney; Michael Hoyt, Municipal Judge; Lt. 

Ric Yelding, Police Department, Animal Control; Angie Phillips, Revenue Officer; Mike Hinson, 

Finance Director; Jim Scroggins, City Prosecutor; Sylvia Miller Ensley, citizen. 

 

II.  APPROVE MINUTES  / August 14, 2013 

 

Motion by Councilman Scott to approve the August 14, 2013 minutes.  Seconded by Councilman 

LeJeune. 

 

Motion Carried Unanimously 

 

 

III. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Considered at end of the meeting 

 

IV.      ORDINANCE REVIEW  

a.)  Consolidation of Business License Ordinances 

Angie mentioned that Kyle had asked her to establish a code for tattoo parlors and adult 

entertainment establishments, but her research showed no one assigns a code for these specific 

businesses.  They can fall under different codes depending on the type of business and inventory 

they sell.   

 

The committee had questions regarding Section “G” – Electric Company and Gas Company, can 

city charge a business license fee;  “O”  Billiard and/or Pool Tables; “P” Amusement Devices, 

check out the decals, has the city ever used decals and the last time one was given; “Q” Buses, 

Trucks & Other Equipment, check decals as with “P”.  Angie will check with other cities. 

 

The ordinance was laid over until the next meeting. 

 

 

 

65



Code Enforcement / Ordinance  Committee                  September 11, 2013 Page 2 
 

b.)  Animal Control Ordinance 

The committee discussed Section IV Optional License 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Rudicell to change the word mandatory to optional 

except when an animal is deemed vicious, and remove the fees, and place on the 

October 7, 2013 council agenda.  Seconded by Councilman Scott. 

 

Motion Carried Unanimously. 

 

c.) Land Disturbance Ordinance 

Ashley Campbell, Environmental Programs Manager, gave a summary of the ordinance 

saying it is updating the 2007 ordinance with eight (8) definitions and updating the permit 

section.  It is primarily for small residential properties.  The ordinances raises the fees 

from $50 to $100, because of added duties involved. The ordinance aids with the city’s 

MS-4.  She also moved sections around to make the ordinance flow better. 

 

The committee requested Ashley consult with some engineering companies and get their 

comments on the ordinance. 

 

The ordinance will come back to the next meeting.  

 

d.)   Illicit Discharge Ordinance 

Ashley presented the new ordinance to the committee explaining that the ordinance will 

give her authority to correct illicit discharges and to facilitate the correction of the 

problem.  It also has language to give her the authority to inspect industry. 

 

The committee asked Ashley to send the ordinance to Kyle for review, and bring it back 

to the committee next month. 

 

e.)   Update Ordinance 1991-12 / Permitting of Massage Parlors in the City    

   Limits of Daphne 

Councilman Fry asked Kyle to get with Captain Danny Bell regarding the ordinance. 

 

V.  SCHEDULE OF FINES  

Judge Hoyt was fine with the revisions to the ordinance. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Scott to send the MOT Schedule of Fines ordinance to 

council as written for the October 7, 2013 council meeting.  Seconded by 

Councilman Rudicell. 

 

Motion Carried unanimously. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

66



Code Enforcement / Ordinance  Committee                  September 11, 2013 Page 3 
 

 

VII.     OTHER BUSINESS 

Public Participation:  Ms. Sylvia Mille Ensley. 

Ms. Ensley spoke regarding her dog being picked up, because someone accidentally let 

the dog out, and she had to pay $255 for the ticket which she thought was ridiculous since 

a vagrant before her had a lower fine. 

 

 

VIII.   NEXT MEETING 
The next meeting will be October 9

th
.  

 

 

IX.   ADJOURN 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Rudicell to adjourn.  Seconded by Councilman LeJeune 

 

Motion Carried Unanimously. 

 

 

There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 6:20 p.m.  

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted 

 

 

________________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, Recording Secretary 

 

 

Code Enforcement / Ordinance Committee 

 

67



District 1 
 

Dorothy Morrison, 
Chair 
Debbie Strahley 
 
District 4 
 

Selena Vaughn 
Tomasina Werner 
 
District 5 
 

David Dueitt 
Rebecca Trosclair 
Linda Williams 
 
District 6 
 

Elaine Maxime 
Hollie LeJeuune 
 
City Liaisons 
 

Marjorie Bellue 
Richard Johnson 
Dwayne Coley 
David McKelroy 
Denise Penry 
 

 

Daphne Beautification Minutes 

September 4, 2013 

 

Present: Denise Penry, Elaine Maxime, Rebecca Trosclair, Tomasina Werner, Mayor Haygood, Deb-

bie Strahley, Dwayne Coolie, Marjorie Bellue, Dorothy Morrison  

 

A. Ashley Campbell sent a report that we are still waiting for grants and details to complete the new 

Gator Alley Projects 

B. Veterans’ Day plan are being completed for a 10AM service at Patriot’s Point on Nov 11th.  More 

details are coming.  We will have a tent, chairs, small American Flags, water bottles, cookies 

(getting prices and Numbers of Cookie required) 

C. Denise reported that we have $1,187.78  in Encumbered Funds.  These we get to keep.  Our 

FY2013 Balance is $2,251.55.  There are questions if we may roll this over as we have done in the 

past.  New Finance Director and the Mayor will make this decision .  We requested that at least 

for this 2013 budget we be allowed to roll over these funds .  Next year if necessary we can have a 

plan to use our funds earlier  Some expenses (i.e. Flags, cookies, water may be needed for Veter-

ans Day 2013 maybe needed).  Also, Jane Ellis is coordinating the inside Christmas Tree Decora-

tions.   The Beautification Committee has traditionally covered the approximate $500 cost for 

supplies for the children’s project of making the decorations. 

D. Top Ten List 

Chain Length fence pole at No Main St curve fixed + orange netting in bushes removed. 

Highway 98 underpass north side look vastly improved.  The grass near the roadway still needs 

weed eating.  Suggestion remains that we do not use chemical that could hurt the Bay for weed 

control. New wall design at the Library Complex.  The Mayor likes the design that was suggested 

several months ago and has asked  Richard to move ahead with plan to complete this new phase.  

Flowers to follow.  Sidewalk by former Uncorked.  Master plan for Malfunction Junction, I-10 

interchanges, 98 Crape Myrtles (we were told 2 of the dead trees had been removed).  Redesign 

signs City entrances. Map for Martin Birds. Plan need for American Flags for Veterans’ Day.  

Areas, spacing, etc. Hwy 64 between Main Street and Hwy 98 on the north side of the street do 

almost anything to improve.  Main way to Post office and City Hall.  Christmas decoration re-

member we have request for more decoration on the east side of Hwy 98. South Main Street by 

entrance to Daphne-we were told it was seeded it needs more seeds. 

E. PW Report- Christmas Tree lighting Nov 22nd, Fri before Thanksgiving  Mark calendars now.  

Dwayne says his project list for next year is already full .  Most of the Christmas lighting is al-

ready done.  From our list #8, 78, 85, 86 still looks bald, & 90 completed.  .#87 waiting for 

ALDOT not completed.  #79 we will need a new plan.   #82 need to plant this area in Oct. 

F. Parks Report – suggestion made for Parks Department to use the large stone that fit into each oth-

er to make a wall to replace railroad ties. Then work on plantings , possibly to use Gator Alley 

Crape Myrtles when they need to be moved or we could buy some. 

G. Crape Myrtles on 98.  Create a plan for reworking this prime real estate.  1st thing visitor/ new 

residents see of Daphne. 

H. Hwy181-we need to stake our claim that is the future.  Waiting to see what we can plant. What is 

possibility of someone from ALDOT coming to our meeting or going to one of theirs? 

I. DRA report Debbie reported that DRA is working with business to try to offer them free ads for 

Jubilee Festival.  She got lots of interesting feedback for DRA.  Boy Scout Planter Boxes for Main 

Street project almost complete.  Will plant in October. 

J. Martin Map-still waiting to hear from Karen. 

K. Adopted new By-Laws.  Thanks to all the proof readers. 

L. Endowments-the Mayor said he is interested in a Tree/Flower Endowment Fund.   Money is need-

ed to help the ailing trees on Hwy 98. This is a good time to start a Fund that could impact all of 

Daphne with money to purchase trees and flowers to make the City more Beautiful.  Our City 

Attorney has started with a donation.  We are sure there will be many more people who will add 

to the Fund.  
68



L. Mayor’s Comments- The Mayor reported that our budget will remain the same as last year )($15,000)  His 

plan is to create an Endowment Fund of $25,000 for trees and flowers there would be a separate $2,000 

Flag Fund  to keep our flags looking at their best.  The trip to Paris was an important time for Daphne to 

connect with other city and State leaders…….. 

N. New Business-Oct 2  meeting to be at Market by the Bay.  Councilman LeJeune works in Fairhope and can 

never come to our meeting so we are going to him.  We always talk about how great Fairhope looks, so we 

are off stealing ideas.  The Mayor offered to contact Mayor Kant and Jennifer Fiddler, Public Works Direc-

tor of Fairhope.  Both are delighted to be invited to share ideas.  Both Mayors and Jennifer and our PW 

People are all involved and plan to attend the meeting and take us on a tour of Fairhope.  Our schedule will 

be to meet at 10:00AM  at Market by the Bay.  Parking is limited so carpooling would be great.  Followed 

by the Tour and then lunch for those who can stay. 

O. Please make this a priority on your schedule.  Plan on 2 hours.  It will be worth your time.  Denise  is work-

ing on a bus for our group.  Rain will not slow us down get you umbrellas and boots.  Thank you for your 

support. 

  

 

69



70



71



 

 

 

REPORT  

OF  

SPECIAL BOARDS 

72



AUGUST 26, 2013 

CITY OF DAPHNE, AL  

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD MEETING  

1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, AL  

6:00 P.M.  

 

 

P
ag

e1
 

 

1.  CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 

The meeting was called to order at 6:05 p.m. 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT –Toni Fassbender; Doug Bailey; Pokey Miller; Denis Kearney, III. 

 

Absent Excused:  John R. Cox; Dan Romanchuk. 

 

Absent Not Excused:  Angela Mayer 

 

Also present –  Rebecca Hayes, Recording Secretary; Joe Davis, Council Liaison; Lee Johnson; 

BCEDA.  

 

2. APPROVE MINUTES / JUNE 26, 2013 

 

MOTION BY Doug Bailey to amend the June 26, 2013 minutes to include Councilman 

Davis as being present.  MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 

3.  OLD BUSINESS 

Members discussed amending the by-laws and incorporation papers with the following changes: 

 

Section III        Meeting of the Board of Directors 

      1:  Change: Regular meeting of the board of directors may be held without 

    notice  

 

2. Special meetings of the board of directors may be called by the chairman of the board of     

    directors …. 

 

The notice provided for in this paragraph must be given in person, unless any director is 

absent from the City of Daphne, Alabama, in which event any such notice may be given by 

registered letter or by telegram.  The notice provided for in this paragraph may be waived 

by any director, either before or after the meeting of which notice is waived.   

 

ADD:   At all meetings of the board of directors, a majority (present or by conference call, 

             to establish a quorum)….. 

 

(Will check to see if members can vote by phone) 

 

 

73



AUGUST 26, 2013 

CITY OF DAPHNE, AL  

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD MEETING  

1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, AL  

6:00 P.M.  

 

 

P
ag

e2
 

 

Section X         Fiscal Year 

ADD:  The fiscal year shall begin (October 1) succeeding (September 30) 

 

Send the incorporations papers to Kyle Navarro to make sure they are up-to-date. 

 

The June 26
th

 minutes will be in the next packet for approval.  Pokey left the meeting so there 

was not a quorum to adopt. 

 

 

4.   NEW BUSINESS 

Discussed appointing a new vice-chairman.  Members should be ready to vote at the next 

meeting. 

 

Toni asked if a member is sued are they covered under the city’s insurance. 

 

 

5.)  TREASURERS REPORT  

 

Treasurers report as of July 31, 2013 is $273,033.35 

 

 

6.  OTHER BUSINESS 

Lee Johnson reported on his trip to the Paris Air Show saying they had 20 meetings with 

suppliers of Air bus.  They have had follow-ups with site showings. This is long-term. They 

expect opportunities with Air Bus coming to the area. 

 

Lee gave an update on businesses the IDB has helped: 

1. Call Center – did not get full employment and did not meet the projected figures. 

2. Algae Systems – Abatement through October.  They are moving right along with 

purchases.  They will follow up with the abatement and track data to see what was spent. 

3. Lumber company – in full operation and doing well 

4. Medical Facility – going great!  More than expected! 

 

The IDB and BCDEA will be working to recruit more office developments. 

 

 

 

 

 

74



AUGUST 26, 2013 

CITY OF DAPHNE, AL  

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD MEETING  

1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, AL  

6:00 P.M.  

 

 

P
ag

e3
 

 

 

 

7.   ADJOURN 

 

MOTION BY Doug Bailey to adjourn.  Seconded by Denis Kearney. 

 

ALL IN FAVOR  NONED OPPOSED  MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

 

THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO DISCUSS THE MEETING ADJOUNED AT 

 7:02 P.M. 

 
 

Submitted:       Certification of Presiding Officer: 

 

 

_______________________     ____________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes,       Toni Fassbender, 

Secretary       Chariman 

 

75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



 

 

 

REPORT  

OF  

OFFICERS 

102



 

 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

& 

ORDINANCES 

103



RESOLUTION 2013 - 44  
 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY SURPLUS  AND 

AUTHORIZING DISPOSITION 
 
 

WHEREAS,  the Court of the City of Daphne has determined that the Walk-Through Metal 
Detector are no longer required for public or municipal purposes;  and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Walk-Through Metal Detector that was previously utilized in the City’s Court 
Department  is no longer used by City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Walk-Through Metal Detector has been recommended for surplus; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Mobile Correctional Center has a need for this equipment for Court operations. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,  by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne 
that  

 
1- The following property is hereby declared to be surplus:     

 
Walk-Through Metal Detector  

and 
 

2- The Mayor is authorized to direct the donation of the above listed property to the Mobile 
Correctional Center. 

3- The Mayor is further authorized to direct the disposition of the above listed property if it 
is not claimed by Mobile Correctional Center. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA, this    ____   day of  __________    , 2013. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                            

                                                                                             

                                                                                                                                                                                          
     _________________________________ 

                                                                                      Dane Haygood, Mayor 
              

 

 

ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  
 
 
   

104



RESOLUTION 2013 - 45 
 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY SURPLUS  AND 

AUTHORIZING DISPOSITION 
 
 

WHEREAS,  the Fire Department of the City of Daphne has determined that the 
Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment are no longer required for public or municipal 
purposes;  and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment that was previously utilized in the 
City’s Fire Department  is no longer used by City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment has been recommended for 
surplus; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Belforest Volunteer Fire Department has a need for this equipment for 
Fire operations. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,  by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Daphne that  

 
1- The following property is hereby declared to be surplus:     

 
Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment  
 

  and 
 

2- The Mayor is authorized to direct the donation of the above listed property to the 
Belforest Volunteer Fire Department 
 

3- The Mayor is further authorized to direct the disposition of the above listed 
property if it is not claimed by Belforest Volunteer Fire Department.. 

 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, this    ____   day of  __________    , 2013. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                            

                                                                                            

                                                                                                                                                                                           
     
_________________________________ 

                                                                           Dane Haygood, Mayor 
              

ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  
 
 
   

105



RESOLUTION 2013 - 46 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY SURPLUS  AND 

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO DISPOSE OF SUCH PROPERTY 
 

WHEREAS,  the Department Heads of the City of Daphne have determined that the items listed 
below are no longer required for public or municipal purposes;  and 
 

WHEREAS, the items listed below are recommended for disposal. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,  by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne 
that  

1- The property listed below is hereby declared to be surplus property, and 

    

DEPT EQ/VEH#          DESCRIPTION                                                VIN VIN # / SERIAL # 

 

Mowing 1170 2006 JD 1445 SERIES II 4WD MOWER- 62" DECK TC1445D061164 

Mowing 1173 2006 JD 1445 SERIES II 4WD MOWER- 62" DECK TC1445D060750 

Mowing 1172 2006 JD 1445 SERIES II 4WD MOWER- 62" DECK TC1445D061044 

Mowing 1338 2010 JD 1565 SERIES  TC1565D090166 

      Mechanical 1331/75 1996 FORD F800 TRASH LOADER 1FDYF80E6TVA05220 

          PD 6030 2003 FORD CROWN VIC 2FAFP71W63X183806 

     Mechanical 279 / 803 1979 FORD CHASS CAB TRK D80DVEH1489 

Mowing 991 1991 GMC 1500 PU (Orange) 1GTDC14K9MZ513906 

             Mowing 58 BUSH WHACKER Model T120  10T120102424008 

         Street T120  1993 CATERPILLAR EXCAVATOR 214B  09MF00408 

         Patrol 7030 2003 FORD CROWN VIC  2FAFP71W83X183807 

 
          2- The Mayor is authorized to advertise and accept bids through Govdeals.com as  
               contracted for the sale of such personal property, and 
 
          3-  The Mayor is authorized to sell said property to the highest bidder and deposit any and      
               all  proceeds to the General Fund.  The Mayor is further authorized to direct the           
               disposition of any property which is not claimed by any bidder. 
 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA, this               day of                     , 2013. 
           

      

                                                                                                                                                                                           

_____________________________ 

                                                                              Dane Haygood, Mayor 
       

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

106



RESOLUTION 2013 - 47 
 
 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY SURPLUS  AND 

AUTHORIZING DISPOSITION 
 
 

WHEREAS,  the Fire Department of the City of Daphne has determined that the Emergency 
Vehicle Lighting Equipment are no longer required for public or municipal purposes;  and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment that was previously utilized in the City’s 
Fire Department  is no longer used by City; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment has been recommended for surplus; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Belforest Volunteer Fire Department has a need for this equipment for Fire 
operations. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED,  by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne 
that  

 
1- The following property is hereby declared to be surplus:     

 
Emergency Vehicle Lighting Equipment  

and 
2- The Mayor is authorized to direct the donation of the above listed property to the 

Belforest Volunteer Fire Department 
3- The Mayor is further authorized to direct the disposition of the above listed property if it 

is not claimed by Belforest Volunteer Fire Department.. 
 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA, this    ____   day of  __________    , 2013. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                            

                                                                                             

                                                                                                                                                                                          
     _________________________________ 

                                                                                      Dane Haygood, Mayor 
              

 

 

ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  
 
 
   

107



108



RESOLUTION NO.  2013 - 48 

2013-P-SAFETY SHOES/BOOTS 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Daphne is required under section 41-16-20 of the Code 
of Alabama to secure competitive bids for items in excess of $15,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Daphne acknowledges that the cost for the SAFETY 
SHOES/BOOTS will exceed this amount; and 
 
WHEREAS, Staff has reviewed  the bids for the SAFETY SHOES/BOOTS and 
determined that the bid as presented is reasonable; and 
 
WHEREAS, Staff recommends the bid for the SAFETY SHOES/BOOTS be 
awarded to Eastern Shore Shoe Hospital. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, 
THAT THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, hereby 
accept the bid of Eastern Shore Shoe Hospital for following unit cost: 
    8” Boot                     - $120.00 
    8” Waterproof Boot  - $120.00 

6” Boot                    -  $115.00 
      6: Waterproof Boot  - $115.00 

                 Shoe        - $109.00 
Waterproof Shoe      - $109.00 

 
 as specified in BID SPECIFICATION NO. 2013-P-SAFETY SHOES/BOOTS. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS              day of                               , 2013 
 
                                                                 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                  

_____________________________ 
                                                                       Dane Haygood, Mayor 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  

 
                                                                          

109



RESOLUTION NO.  2013 - 49 

2013-Q-UNIFORMS 
(Uniform Rentals) 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Daphne is required under section 41-16-20 of the Code 
of Alabama to secure competitive bids for items in excess of $15,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Daphne acknowledges that the cost for the Uniform 
Rental for Public Works and other departments will exceed this amount; and 
 
WHEREAS, Staff has reviewed the bids for the Uniform Rental and determined 
that the bid as presented is reasonable; and 
 
WHEREAS, Staff recommends the bid for the Uniform Rentals be awarded to 
Unifirst Corporation. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, 
THAT THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, hereby 
accept the bid of Unifirst Corporation for unit cost listed as attached herein and 
made a part hereof for BID SPECIFICATION NO. 2013-Q-UNIFORMS. 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS                  day of                  , 2013 
 

                                                               
                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                  

_____________________________ 
                                                                       Dane Haygood, Mayor 
         
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  

 
 

110



  

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-50 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE RE-

APPOINTING TWO DIRECTORS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

SPECIAL CARE FACILITIES FINANCING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council (the “Council”) of the City of Daphne, Alabama (the 

“City”), previously has approved the formation of The Special Care Facilities Financing 

Authority of the City of Daphne (the “Authority”) in accordance with Chapter 62 of Title 11 of 

the Code of Alabama (1975), as amended (the “Act”); and  

WHEREAS, the City desires to re-appoint Carol Frush and to appoint Lee S. Yokel, 

each of whom is a qualified elector of and the owner of real property in the City and neither of 

whom is an officer of the State of Alabama or of any county or municipality in the State of 

Alabama. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE AS FOLLOWS:  

1. That Carol Frush is hereby re-appointed by the Council as a director to the Board        

            of Directors of the Authority.  The term of Carol Frush shall begin at noon on           

            November 12, 2013 and end at noon on November 11, 2016.   

 

2. That Lee. S. Yokel is hereby appointed by the Council as a director to the Board  

            of Directors of the Authority. The term of Lee. S. Yokel shall begin at noon on                    

            November 15, 2011 and end at noon on November 14, 2014.   

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA this the _________ day of ______________, 2013. 

 

   

       ______________________________ 

       Dane Haygood, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 
 

111



112



 

 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

ORDINANCE 2013-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE RULES OF PROCEDURE IN ALL 

INSTANCES FOR MEETINGS OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA that the Order Procedure in All Instances for Meetings of the City Council shall be 

as follows: 

 

SECTION I: 

 

 That the Rules of Procedure herein contained shall govern the deliberations and meetings 

of all of the Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama. 

 

SECTION II: 

 

 That the regular meetings of the City Council shall be held on the first and third Mondays 

of each month, which meeting shall convene at 6:30 p.m. at the City Hall Council Chamber and 

all meetings, regular and special, shall be opened to the public, except when Council meets in 

executive session as authorized by State law.  The regularly scheduled work session will be held 

on the second Monday of each month at 6:30 p.m. at the City Hall Council Chambers. 

 

SECTION III: 

 

 That special meetings may be held at the call of the presiding officer by serving notice on 

each member of the Council not less than twenty-four hours before the time set for such special 

called meeting.  All special meetings may be held as provided by Section 11-43-50 Code of 

Alabama, 1975 (as amended).  Furthermore, any two (2) Council members shall have the right to 

call for a special meeting.  Notice of all special meetings shall be posted on the council approved 

bulletin board and appropriate customary media notified, and shall be accessible to the public 

twenty-four hours prior to such scheduled meeting. 

 

SECTION IV: 

 

 A Quorum shall be determined as provided by Section 11-43-40, Code of Alabama, 1975, 

(as amended). 

           

SECTION V: 

 

 That the order of business of each council meeting shall be as follows: 

 

 1. Call to Order 

 

 2. Roll Call/Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 

 

 

113



ORDINANCE 2013-21                 COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE              PAGE   2 

 

 

 3. Approval of the Minutes of the Previous Meeting(s) 

 

 4. Public Participation 

 

 5. Reports of Standing Committees: 

   Finance Committee 

   Building/Property Committee 

   Code Enforcement/Ordinance Committee  

   Public Safety    

   Public Works/Solid Waste Committee 

 

 6. Reports of Special Boards and Commissions 

   Board of Zoning Adjustment 

   Downtown Redevelopment Authority 

   Industrial Development Board 

   Library Board 

   Planning Commission 

   Recreation Board 

   Utility Board 

 

  7. Reports by Department Heads 

               

             8.        City Clerk Report 

 

  9. Report of Officers: 

   a. Mayor’s Report 

   b. City Attorney’s Report 

   c. City Clerk’s Report 

 

 10. Resolution, Ordinances and Other Business 

  

 11. Council Comments 

 

 12. Adjournment 

 

SECTION VI: 

 

 That any item including all background material to be placed on council and work session 

agenda must be turned in by 12:00 p.m. on the Wednesday before the council meeting or work 

session to the City Clerk subject to the review of the Council President.  The council packet will 

be sent to the full City Council by 12:00 p.m. Friday before the City Council Meeting or work 

session, and posted on the city website Monday morning of the council meeting or work session. 

 

 

 

 

 

114



ORDINANCE 2013-21                 COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE              PAGE   3 
 

 

SECTION VII: 

 

 That no member shall speak more than twice on the same subject without permission of 

the presiding officer, and after all other council members have had the opportunity to speak. 

 

SECTION VIII: 

 

A. Public Participation. At the designated time in the order of business, any member of the 

public may address the City Council concerning any item appearing on the agenda for the 

council meeting or work session, except that no person shall be allowed to address the 

Council on any matter which shall be the subject of a public hearing scheduled by the 

Council until the meeting under which the public hearing on that matter is scheduled to 

be heard.  No individual who is not a member of the City Council or the Mayor shall be 

allowed to address the same while in session without permission of the presiding officer 

and for not more than three (3) minutes, unless approved by the presiding officer.   

 

B. Presentations to Council.  An individual wishing to make a presentation to the council 

with permission of the Council President or Presiding Officer will be allowed 10 minutes.  

The individual must provide in writing a synopsis of the topic to be discussed to the City 

Clerk by the Wednesday before the council meeting at 12:00 p.m. 

 

C. Comments by Councilmembers and Mayor. Any comments or discussion by 

councilmembers or the Mayor shall be with permission of the presiding officer, and for 

not more than three (3) minutes. 

 

SECTION IX: 

 

 That those motions to reconsider must be made by a council member who voted with the 

majority at the same or next succeeding meeting of the Council. 

 

SECTION X: 

 

 That whenever it shall be required by one or more members the "ayes" and the "nays" 

shall be recorded and any member may call for a division on any question. 

 

SECTION XI: 

 

 That all questions of order shall be decided by the presiding officer of the Council with 

the right of appeal to the full Council. 

      

SECTION XII: 
 

 That the presiding officer of the Council may, at his or her discretion, call any members 

to take the chair to allow him or her to address the Council or make a motion or discuss any other 

matter at issue. 

 

 

115



ORDINANCE 2013-21                 COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE              PAGE   4 
 

 

SECTION XIII: 

 

 That motions to lay any matter on the table shall be first in order, and on all questions, the 

last amendment, the most distant day, and the largest financial sum shall be first put. 

 

SECTION XIV: 

 

 The Council may meet in executive session only for purposes authorized by State law and 

only after the City Attorney certifies the stated purposes for the executive session are authorized  

by state law. When a council person makes a motion for executive session for an enumerated 

purpose, the presiding officer shall put the motion to a roll call vote. The estimated length of the 

executive session shall be stated prior to the roll call vote.   If the majority of the council shall 

vote in favor of the Motion for executive session the body shall after certification by the city 

attorney that the reason stated to enter into executive session is legal according to the Open 

Meetings Act move into executive session for discussion of the matter for which executive 

session was called.  No action may be taken in an executive session.  When the discussion has 

been completed, the council shall resume its deliberations in public. 

 

SECTION XV: 

 

 That a motion for adjournment shall always be in order. 

 

SECTION XVI: 

 

 That the rules of the Council may be amended in the same manner as any other ordinance 

of general or permanent nature. 

 

SECTION XVII: 

 

 That the rules of the Council may be temporarily suspended by unanimous roll call vote 

of all members present. 

 

SECTION XVIII: 

 

 That the chair of each respective committee, or the council member acting for him or her, 

shall submit and make report to the Council when so requested by the presiding officer or any 

member of the Council. 

  

SECTION XIX: 

 

 That all ordinances, resolutions or propositions submitted to Council which require the 

expenditure of money will lie over until the next Council meeting; provided that such ordinance, 

resolution or propositions may be considered earlier by unanimous consent of the Council 

members present at such meeting by roll call vote and provided further that this rule shall not 

apply to the current expenses of, or contracts previously made with, or regular salaries of 

officers, or wages of employees of the City. 

 

116



ORDINANCE 2013-21                 COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE              PAGE   5 
 

 

SECTION XX: 

 

 That all motions, resolutions, ordinances or other business required to be in writing shall 

be prepared and supplied to all Council members by twelve noon one full city work day before  

the Council meeting in which it is to be presented.  (e.g. if City offices are not open, the Friday 

before the Monday council meeting, then the writings and documentation shall be supplied to 

each city council member by placing same in each member's mailbox at City Hall by noon 

Thursday.) 

 

a. It is desired that information be supplied to the City Clerk in time to be made part  of the  

            agenda packet.  

 

b. When a work session is called or scheduled between two council meetings, all motions, 

resolutions, ordinances or other business required to be in writing shall be presented in 

substantially the same form as that which is required for presentation at council meeting. 

 

c. Notwithstanding Sections a. and b., hereinabove, in the situation of an actual emergency 

sections a. and b., hereinabove, shall not apply.  For purposes herein an actual emergency 

exist from failure to act will result in an immediate and irrefutable harm to the City or 

any of its citizens and or otherwise it was physically impossible to comply with notice 

requirements set forth herein as the same may be determined by the presiding officer of 

the Council. 

 

SECTION XXI: 

 

 That the City Clerk, City Engineer, City Attorney, Chief of Police, Fire Chief, Finance 

Director, Public Works Director, Human Resources Director, Building Departments Director, 

Community Development Director, Parks and Recreation Director, Library Director, Civic 

Center Director and such other department heads or their designated employee shall attend all 

meetings of the City Council, and shall remain at the council meeting after Department Heads 

Report when they have items on the agenda.  Department Heads shall attend Council work 

sessions when items on the agenda pertain to their department. 

 

SECTION XXII: 

 

 That the City Council may have the ability to have a discussion on any motion. 

 

SECTION XXIII: 

 

 That Roberts' Rules of Order 11
th

 edition be and is hereby adopted as the rules of 

procedure for this Council in those situations which cannot be resolved by the rules set forth in 

this Ordinance. 

 

 

 

 
ORDINANCE 2013-21                 COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE              PAGE   6 

117



 

 

SECTION XXIV: 

 

 The City Council will set all public hearings by a majority vote.  At all public hearings 

after the initial presentation all questions and comments are limited to three (3) minutes per 

speaker. 

 

SECTION XXV: 

 

All motions that come from committees do not require a second. 

 

SECTION XXVI: 

 

 That Ordinance 2012-63 be and is hereby repealed in its entirety and that other 

ordinance(s), parts of ordinance(s) or resolutions(s) conflicting with the provisions of this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed insofar as they conflict. 

 

SECTION XXVII: 

 

 That the provisions of this Ordinance are severable.  If any provision, section, paragraph, 

sentence are part thereof shall be held to be unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such decision shall not effect or impair the remainder of this Ordinance, it being the 

legislative intent to ordain and act each provision section, paragraph, sentence, and part thereof 

separately and independently of each other. 

 

SECTION XXVIII: 

 

 This Ordinance shall take effect and be enforced from and after approval by the City 

Council of the City of Daphne upon publication required by law. 

 

 ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA on this the _______  day of                    , 2013. 

 

 

CITY OF DAPHNE, 

AN ALABAMA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

 

 

       ________________________________ 

       DANE HAYGOOD, 

       MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

REBECCA A. HAYES, 

CITY CLERK 

118



 

1 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-47 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO REVISE DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT  

PREVENTION POLICY IN CHAPTER ONE 

AND CHAPTER SEVEN AND CHAPTER EIGHT OF THE 

CITY’S EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne, after due consideration believes 

that certain revisions to the Discrimination and Harassment Prevention Policy in Chapter 1 and 

the policies in Chapter 7 and Chapter 8 of the City of Daphne Employee Handbook are necessary 

for the proper administration of said Handbook and the policies contained therein; and 

 

 WHEREAS, said revisions to the Employee Handbook will enable the City to more 

easily facilitate and administer provisions of the Employee Handbook in order to benefit the 

health, safety, and welfare of its employees; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION I: REVISION TO DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT PREVENTION 

POLICY IN CHAPTER 1 

That the current policy 1.1.6 and policy 1.4 in Chapter 1 of the Employee Handbook, be and is 

hereby deleted in its entirety and is replaced as follows: 

 

1.4.  DISCRIMINATION & HARASSMENT PREVENTION POLICY 

Commitment to Equal Employment Opportunities.  

The city recognizes and appreciates each employee’s work and contribution to the city’s success, 

and the city believes that all employees are to be treated fairly and with respect.  The city 

provides equal employment opportunities and equal treatment in all aspects of employment to all 

employees and all applicants for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex/gender, 

(including pregnancy, childbirth and other related medical conditions), national origin, age, 

physical and/or mental disability, political affiliation, and/or military obligation (except where 

age, sex, or physical/mental ability constitute a bona fide occupational qualification).  The city is 

committed to making reasonable accommodations to ensure equal employment opportunities for 

qualified disabled individuals.  Violation of this policy shall not be permitted and shall be treated 

as a Group Two (2) offense, with disciplinary action up to and including termination. 

 

Harassment Forbidden. The City of Daphne expects all employees, including department 

managers and supervisors, to respect the feelings of fellow employees and to treat co-employees 

in a courteous and professional manner.  The city shall not tolerate any form of harassment in the 

workplace.  Specifically forbidden is harassment due to a person’s race, color, religion, 

sex/gender, (including pregnancy, childbirth and other related medical conditions), national 

origin, age, physical and/or mental disability, political affiliation, and/or military obligation.  

Certain examples of prohibited harassment include, but are not limited to: offensive, insulting or 

119



 

2 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

demeaning remarks, gestures, jokes, pranks, slurs, graffiti, emails, pictures, cartoons and the like, 

or statements or comments that reflect upon stereotypes.  Harassment of city employees is 

strictly forbidden and shall be treated as a Group Two (2) offense, with disciplinary action up to 

and including termination. 

 

Sexual Harassment Forbidden.  The City of Daphne requires all employees to maintain a 

professional workplace that is free of sexual harassment.  Sexual harassment is generally defined 

as a continuing pattern of unwelcome sexual advances, request for sexual favors, or physical 

contact of a sexual nature under any of the following conditions: (i) submission to such conduct 

is perceived to be a condition of employment; (ii) submission, or refusal, is perceived to be used 

used, or might be used, as the basis of an employment decision which affects the individual; (iii) 

the conduct unreasonably interferes with the individual’s job performance or creates a work 

environment that is intimidating, hostile, or offensive; or (iv) the conduct interferes with non-

employees.  The City of Daphne expressly prohibits any verbal or physical conduct of a sexual 

nature that could contribute to a hostile or offensive workplace for any employee, whether 

committed by a department manager, supervisor, employee, any other persons so employed with 

the city, or individuals who are not employed by the city who come into contact with city 

employees.  Some examples of prohibited conduct shall include, but are not to be limited to the 

following: 

(a) The use of profane or vulgar language; 

(b) Unwelcome sexual flirtations, sexual advances or sexual 

propositions; 

(c) Sexually oriented or suggestive jokes or comments; 

(d) Comments implied about a person’s body or sex life; 

(e) Sexually degrading words, including sexual slang used to describe 

any person; 

(f) Any physical contact of a sexual nature, including unwelcome or 

inappropriate touching, pinching, patting, grabbing and/or 

hugging; 

(g) The display, reproduction or transmission of sexually explicit 

and/or sexually suggestive images, objects, or cartoons in or about 

the workplace; 

(h) Sexually suggestive or vulgar graffiti, including words and/or 

drawings; 

(i) A department manager or supervisor’s comments suggesting that 

an employee will suffer employment consequences such as 

demotion, discharge or denial of a pay raise if such employee does 

120



 

3 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

not agree to certain demands or if the employee complains about 

such offenses of sexual behavior or other forms of harassment; 

(j) Comments suggesting that the employee will receive favorable 

treatment in exchange for sexual favors.   

Department managers, supervisors, and co-employees shall not threaten or insinuate that an 

employee’s refusal to submit to sexual advances or any other form of sexual harassment will 

adversely effect the employee’s continued employment, pay, benefits, working conditions or job 

opportunities.  Similarly, department managers and supervisors shall not state or imply, 

expressly or otherwise, that submission to sexual advances or any other form of sexual 

harassment will in any way enhance an employee’s employment opportunities, hours, pay, 

benefits and/or other terms or conditions of employment or advancement of employment. 

 

No department manager or supervisor has any authority to take any adverse action against an 

employee, including discharge, demotion or reducing the employee’s work hours, benefits or pay 

because the employee refuses or has refused to submit to any sexual advances or any other form 

of sexual harassment.  Similarly, no department manager or supervisor shall have any authority 

to provide an employee preferential treatment because the employee consents to the submission 

of sexual advances or any other form of sexual harassment. 

 

Sexual harassment of city employees is strictly forbidden and shall result in disciplinary action 

up to and including termination and shall otherwise be treated as a Group Two (2) offense. 

 

Retaliation Forbidden.  That the City of Daphne encourages all employees of the city to 

immediately come forward if such employee has a discrimination or harassment complaint and 

the city does expressly affirm that no adverse action shall or may be taken or allowed against any 

employee who, in good faith, reports discrimination or harassment in the workplace.  Retaliation 

against the employee shall be grounds for discipline and shall be considered a Group Two (2) 

offense. 

 

EEO/Harassment/Retaliation Complaint Procedure.  An employee must promptly report directly 

to the human resources director any observed or any known incidences of discrimination, 

harassment and/or retaliation to ensure that the city can promptly investigate, and if appropriate, 

take prompt and effective action.  It is considered inappropriate and insufficient for an employee 

to report or complain only to a manager or supervisor.  If a complaint involves the human 

resources director, then the employee shall promptly report said complaint to the mayor.  All 

managers and supervisors shall have a responsibility to address any observed or reported 

harassment, discrimination or retaliation and shall immediately stop such misconduct if such 

occurs in their presence.  All managers and supervisors shall have the responsibility to report 

observed or reported harassment, discrimination or retaliation to the human resources director, 

even if no employee initiates a complaint.  Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action, 

which shall be considered a Group Two (2) offense.  

 

Investigation. If the discrimination or harassment complaint involves the mayor, it will be 

forwarded to the city council for investigation and action.  If the discrimination or harassment 

121



 

4 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

complaint involves a member of the council, it will be forwarded to the mayor for presentation to 

the council for action.  In such cases, the council will appoint a council member or members to 

investigate the complaint.  The human resources director will thoroughly investigate all other 

complaints.  The complaining employee may be required to prepare a written report detailing the 

alleged allegation and to sign the report.  To the extent practical, investigations will be 

confidential with extreme and due regard for the sensitive nature of such complaint.  After 

completing an investigation, the human resources director or the mayor or council designee will 

determine if the complaint is valid. 

 

Remedial Action. Prompt and appropriate remedial or disciplinary action up to and including 

discharge will be taken against the person or persons engaged in misconduct, depending upon the 

severity of the violation.  If appropriate, the city has the discretion to provide counseling 

services, referrals and medical assistance for employees.  Employees who have reported 

violations of this policy will be notified, subject to confidentiality, of how their reports were 

investigated and what actions were taken, within thirty (30) calendar days of the filing of said 

complaint. 

 

Appeal of Findings and Action.  The complainant or the accused employee may appeal the 

findings or remedial action imposed in accordance with the procedures established in Chapter 8 

of this Employee Handbook, if he believes that the complaint has not been satisfactorily resolved 

or if he believes the discipline imposed is too severe. 

 

SECTION II: REVISION TO CHAPTER 7 DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES 

That the current Chapter 7 of the Employee Handbook, be and is hereby deleted in its entirety 

and is replaced as follows: 

 

CHAPTER 7 

 

DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES 

 

7.1.  EMPLOYEE STANDARDS & CLASSIFICATION OF OFFENSES 

Employee Standards.  The maintenance of high standards of honesty, integrity, and conduct by 

the city’s employees is essential to ensure the proper performance of city business and to instill 

citizen confidence.  Therefore, city employees are expected to maintain high standards of 

cooperation, efficiency, and economy in their work and to display conduct both on and off the 

job in such a manner as to reflect credit on the employee and the city.  Examples of employee 

conduct that are considered to be unacceptable are grouped below.  The offenses described are 

not all inclusive. The types of discipline described and order of discipline are not automatic. The 

disciplining individual is permitted and expected to treat each individual situation according to 

the circumstances and facts involved. 

 

Group One Offenses.  Group one offenses are defined as instances of unacceptable conduct by an 

employee which, while serious, do not normally merit a suspension without pay or dismissal 

upon the first occurrence, and therefore, may normally be addressed by a lesser degree of 

122



 

5 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

disciplinary action upon the first occurrence, as outlined below.  Examples of group one offenses 

include, but are not limited to, the following types of situations and activities: 

 

1. Improper Notice of Absence – failure to give proper notice of absence. 

 

2. Absenteeism – irregular attendance and/or absenteeism. 

 

3 Tardiness – not at his assigned work station at the beginning of the first hour of 

the employee’s workday. 

 

4. Work Interference – interfering with the work of others to include offensive 

personal habits which interfere with efficient operations. 

 

5. Inefficiency – excessive inefficiency to include waste, loafing, leaving the work 

area without permission, and defective workmanship. 

 

6. Safety Violations – violation of normal safety practices to include failure to report 

a work-related accident or injury, accident proneness, or failure to attend safety 

classes when directed. 

 

7. Abuse of Property – improper use and/or care of city property. 

 

8. Political Activities – political activities during the employee’s working time. 

 

9. Refusal of Required Overtime – failure to respond to any requirement to work 

outside his normal scheduled work day when directed by his supervisor. 

 

10. Court Judgments – willful and/or repeated failure to honor court judgments. 

 

11. Promiscuity – promiscuous behavior on city property or at work sites. 

 

12. Other misconduct – similar conduct that meets the intent of the definition of a 

group one offense. 

 

Group Two Offenses. Group two offenses are defined as instances of unacceptable conduct by an 

employee which are very serious and normally constitute grounds for dismissal upon the first 

occurrence of such conduct unless mitigating circumstances, as determined by the department 

head, render lesser discipline more appropriate.  Examples of group two offenses include, but are 

not limited to, the following types of situations: 

 

1. Drugs and Alcohol – possession and/or use of alcohol, un-prescribed drugs, or 

similar intoxicants while on city property or on the job. 

 

2. Driving A City Vehicle Under the Influence – operation of a city vehicle or 

motorized equipment while under the influence of intoxicants such as alcohol, 

123



 

6 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

unprescribed drugs, and/or prescribed drugs which induce an unsafe mental 

and/or physical state. 

 

3. Firearm Possession – unauthorized possession and/or use of a  firearm, other 

weapon,  explosive, or other dangerous material on/in city property or at a work 

site. 

 

4. Falsification – deliberate falsification of records and/or personal 

misrepresentation of statements given to a supervisor,  an official, the public, or 

any duly authorized committee. 

 

5. Dishonesty –dishonesty as related to an individual’s job duties and/or profession, 

or use of one’s official position for personal advantages. 

 

6. Fighting – fighting, except when the employee is a victim of an unwarranted 

assault. 

 

7. Serious Leave Offenses – excessive tardiness or absenteeism, unauthorized 

absence, or fraudulent or abusive use of sick leave. 

 

8. Conviction – conviction of a felony or misdemeanor involving  moral turpitude, 

or conviction during employment of a misdemeanor which affects the employee’s 

effectiveness on the job. 

 

9. Theft or Abuse of Property – theft, destruction, careless or negligent use, or 

willful damage of city property or property of others. 

10. Horseplay – dangerous horseplay on the job. 

 

11. Flagrant Safety Violations – flagrant violation of safety practices that might 

endanger the life or health of the employee or others. 

 

12. Serious Rule Violations – serious violation of city administrative regulations, 

rules, lawful orders or directions made or given by a supervisor. 

 

13. Proponent of Violent Overthrow of Government – membership in any 

organization which advocates the overthrow of the government of the United 

States by force or violence. 

 

14. Bribes or Rewards – solicitation of or acceptance of any consideration of value or 

gratuity which was given to improperly influence the employee in the 

performance of his duties. 

 

15. Refusal of Medical Exam – refusal to be examined by an authorized, fully 

licensed physician when so directed by the mayor or the city council. 

 

124



 

7 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

16. Gross Violations of Allowed Political Activities –  political activities that are 

gross violations of federal and/or state laws or these policies and procedures. 

 

17. Harassment/Discrimination/Retaliation – harassment, or discrimination, or 

retaliation which violates the Discrimination & Harassment Prevention Policy in 

Chapter 1. 

 

18. Sleeping – sleeping on the job unless specifically authorized to do so. 

 

19. Abusive Conduct – abusive personal conduct or language toward the public or 

fellow employees, or abusive public criticism of a superior or other city official. 

 

20. Willful Violation of Rules or Law – willful violation of any duly adopted city 

policy or rule, or state/federal law in the performance of one’s duties. 

 

21. Conduct Unbecoming an Employee – conduct unbecoming an employee, while on 

or off duty, which tends to bring discredit upon the city or its employees or which 

otherwise threatens order, safety, or health. 

 

22. Insubordination – acts of insubordination, including refusal to obey legitimate 

orders, disrespect, insolence, and like behavior and delay/failure to carry out 

assigned work. 

 

23. Unauthorized Use of Property – unauthorized use, misappropriation, destruction, 

theft, or conversion of city or public property. 

 

24. Refusal to Cooperate – refusal to fully and truthfully answer questions of a 

supervisor or other designated individual during any inquiry, interrogation, 

hearing, or court proceeding. 

 

25. Unauthorized Release of Information – unauthorized release of privileged or 

confidential information. 

 

26. Conflicts of Interest – conduct or actions determined to be a conflict of interest or 

ethics violation as defined by state law and/or city resolutions, rules, regulations, 

or procedures. 

 

27. Fraud in Personnel Matters – fraudulent misrepresentation or omission in securing 

an appointment or promotion in the city service. 

 

28. Repeated Violations of Group One Offenses – repeated violation of group one 

type offenses. 

 

29. Other Serious Misconduct – similar conduct not listed herein that meets the intent 

of the definition of a group two offense. 

 

125



 

8 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

Recommended Levels of Disciplinary Action. Disciplinary actions normally recommended for a 

Group One offense are as follows: 

First Offense – written warning. 

Second Offense – suspension without pay. 

Third Offense – dismissal (any combination of three (3) written warnings and/or 

suspensions without pay within a twenty-four (24) month period will constitute 

justification for immediate dismissal). 

 

The first time an employee commits a Group Two offense will normally constitute grounds for 

dismissal.  However, lesser disciplinary action such as a written warning, unpaid suspension, or 

demotion, may be taken if mitigating circumstances so warrant. The potential disciplinary 

actions described are not all inclusive and not automatic.  The disciplining individual is 

permitted and expected to treat each individual situation according to the circumstances and facts 

involved. 

 

Felony Criminal Charge. If a regular status classified or part-time employee is charged with a 

felony, which also is considered a serious violation of these policies and procedures, the mayor 

will determine if there is sufficient reason to believe that the allegations are true. If the mayor 

determines there is sufficient information available to indicate that the city’s rules or standards of 

employment have been violated, he may take appropriate disciplinary action, to include 

suspension without pay, demotion, or dismissal, as the case may warrant. Based on the 

anticipated disciplinary action to be taken,  the mayor will follow the Guidelines For Suspension 

Without Pay, Demotion, And Dismissal (Regular Status Classified And Part-Time Employees) 

even without a request from a department head for disciplinary action.  

 

7.2.  TYPES OF DISCIPLINE 

Written Warning.  A written warning may be initiated by a department head, or his designated 

representative, for unacceptable conduct by an employee assigned to his department that is 

deemed to require more than a verbal reprimand or an informal counseling session, but does not 

warrant more serious disciplinary action. 

 

Disciplinary Probation.  A department manager may, alone or in conjunction with other 

disciplinary action, place an employee on disciplinary probation.  During this time the 

performance of the employee will be evaluated once a month.  At the end of the probationary 

period, if an employee is unable to improve their job performance or work behavior to an 

acceptable level, he will be subject to further disciplinary action, up to and including termination.  

 

Suspension Without Pay.  Normally, a suspension without pay for a period of time not to exceed 

twenty (20) consecutive work days will be administered by the mayor, when an employee’s 

conduct continues to be unacceptable after he has been given a written warning.  However, 

nothing should be interpreted herein to prevent the suspension without pay of any employee at 

the first occurrence of unacceptable conduct, when the circumstances involved warrant such 

action. 

 

Demotion.  Normally a demotion will be administered by the mayor, when an employee’s 

conduct continues to be unacceptable after previous disciplinary action has been taken against 

126



 

9 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

the employee.  However, nothing herein should be interpreted to prevent the demotion of any 

employee at the first occurrence of unacceptable conduct. 

 

Dismissal from Service.  Normally, a dismissal from service will be administered by the mayor 

when an employee’s conduct continues to be unacceptable after previous disciplinary action has 

been taken against the employee.  However, nothing should be interpreted herein to prevent the 

dismissal of any employee at the first occurrence of unacceptable conduct, when the 

circumstances involved warrant such action. 

 

7.3.  SUSPENSION WITH PAY 

A violent action, an intolerable offense on the part of an employee (e.g., fighting, destruction of 

city property, gross insubordination) or other cause as determined by the mayor to warrant 

removal of an individual from city property or work sites may warrant suspension with pay.  The 

mayor may suspend an employee with pay for up to ten (10) working days, pending completion 

of a predetermination hearing and disciplinary action.  The employee’s suspension with pay will 

be recorded on the city’s time and attendance report. 

 

7. 4. PRE-DISCIPLINARY COUNSELING SESSIONS 

When practical, counseling sessions may be used to correct unacceptable conduct by an 

employee before disciplinary action is required. Before any disciplinary action is taken against 

the employee, the department head should advise the employee orally of the reason(s) that he is 

considering disciplinary action and allow the employee an opportunity to respond. If the 

department head determines that the facts of the case do not support the allegation, the employee 

should be notified orally of such decision and advised that the matter is closed.  If the department 

head determines that the facts of the case do support the allegation, but a written warning is not 

necessary to correct the situation, he will counsel the employee and warn him that in any future 

case stronger action may be taken.  A written report will not be required for a counseling session, 

but, if one is prepared, the supervisor must provide a copy to the human resources director for 

the employee’s personnel file. 

 

7.5.  GENERAL DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES 

Employees Subject to Discipline.  The city expects each employee, regardless of classification, 

to accept responsibility for his or her own behavior and to follow the city’s policies, procedures 

and rules.  If an employee fails to meet these expectations, the employee is subject to corrective 

action based upon the nature of the violation, the individual circumstances, and an employee’s 

previous disciplinary and performance history.  Even though unclassified and temporary 

employees serve at the pleasure of the city and may be discharged at any time, with or without 

cause, nothing should be interpreted herein to prevent the disciplining of any unclassified or 

temporary employee short of dismissal, if the circumstances warrant. 

 

Disciplining Individual.  Normally, disciplinary action will be administered by an employee’s 

department head.  However, if the action involves a suspension without pay, demotion, or 

dismissal, it will be taken by the mayor. 

127



 

10 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

 

Rights Protected.  The human resources director will assist the disciplining individual to ensure 

that an employee’s rights are protected during any disciplinary action. 

 

Facts and Circumstances Considered.  Normally, disciplinary actions will be administered 

uniformly and according to the order listed for each group of offenses.  However, the 

disciplining individual is expected and allowed to take actions according to the facts and 

circumstances of each situation. 

 

Actions Recorded in Writing.  All disciplinary actions will be recorded in writing.  The 

disciplining individual and the employee will sign the record, and the employee will be provided 

a copy.  Refusal of an employee to sign the record of a disciplinary action will be so noted on the 

record and may constitute grounds for a separate disciplinary action.  A copy will be filed in the 

human resources director’s office. 

 

7.6. GUIDELINES FOR WRITTEN WARNINGS & DISCIPLINARY PROBATION. 

When Given.  An employee may be issued a written warning or be placed on disciplinary 

probation by his department head when (1) he fails to maintain desirable standards and/or 

commits a group one offense and (2) the department head has determined that more severe action 

is not warranted and that a written warning and/or disciplinary probation is sufficient to correct 

the situation. 

 

Content of Written Warnings & Notice of Disciplinary Probation.  All written warnings and 

notices of disciplinary probation must contain the following information: (i)references to the 

discussion held, including the date, time, and place; (ii)specific reason(s) for the warning, the 

employee’s explanation as given during the inquiry, and the department head’s conclusions; (iii) 

warning that future infractions could result in more severe disciplinary action; and (vi) where 

appropriate, recommendations for corrective action; and (v) where appropriate the beginning and 

ending dates of any disciplinary probation. 

 

No Effect on Benefits.  A written warning and/or disciplinary probation will not affect the rights, 

privileges, or benefits to which an employee may have been entitled before the warning. 

 

7.7. GUIDELINES FOR SUSPENSION WITHOUT PAY, DEMOTION, AND 

DISMISSAL (REGULAR STATUS CLASSIFIED AND PART-TIME 

EMPLOYEES). 

 

Overview.  The mayor may, following these guidelines,  impose an unpaid suspension, or 

demote, or dismiss a regular status classified or part-time employee if the mayor determines such 

action to be warranted.  The mayor may suspend without pay, demote, or dismiss temporary 

employees and unclassified employees without following these guidelines. 

 

Request for Suspension Without Pay, or Demotion, or Dismissal.  When an employee’s actions 

are such that his department head feels that a suspension without pay, or demotion, or dismissal 

is warranted, he must forward to the mayor a written request that the mayor take such 

128



 

11 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

disciplinary action.  The written request must include the following information: (i) the 

employee’s action(s) or the lack thereof; (ii) a description of the incident citing dates and times; 

and (iii) a request for the mayor to suspend the employee without pay, or demote the employee, 

or dismiss the employee. 

 

Mayor’s Action -  Suspension, Demotion, Dismissal Not Warranted. After reviewing the 

department head’s request, the mayor may determine that an unpaid suspension, or demotion, or 

dismissal is not warranted.  In this event, the mayor will return the request to the department 

head stating that no action will be taken, or instruct the department head to proceed with a 

written warning or disciplinary probation.  

 

Mayor’s Action -  Suspension, Demotion, Dismissal Warranted.  The mayor may determine there 

is sufficient reason to proceed with the requested unpaid suspension, or demotion, or dismissal, 

or to proceed with either demotion or unpaid suspension rather than a requested dismissal, or to 

proceed with an unpaid suspension rather than a requested demotion.  The mayor may also 

determine there are grounds to impose more severe discipline, such as a demotion or dismissal, 

than the action requested by the department head.  

 

Notice of Right to Pre-Determination Hearing. In such event, the mayor will inform the 

employee in writing of his intended action and the employee’s right to a predetermination 

hearing concerning the allegations, if the employee requests it.  The written notice to the 

employee will contain the following information: (1) the date, time, and place of the hearing; (2) 

the reason(s) for the proposed disciplinary action; (3) the proposed disciplinary action to be taken 

and effective date; (4) notice of the employee’s right to appear in person and/or be represented 

by someone at his expense, if he requests a hearing; (5) notice of the employee’s right to respond 

to the allegations orally or in  writing; and (6) that the employee has the right to present evidence 

in his defense.  A copy of the notice will be placed in the employee’s personnel file.  The 

employee will have three (3) calendar days in which to respond to this notice and to request a 

hearing before the mayor.   If the employee does not request a hearing, the mayor may proceed 

with the disciplinary action he deems warranted based upon the facts of the case. 

 

Informal Hearing.  If the employee requests a hearing, it will be conducted informally at the time 

and place designated in the notice to the employee.  Formal rules of evidence will not apply 

during the hearing.  If, after conducting the hearing, the mayor determines that the facts of the 

case do not support a suspension without pay, or demotion, or dismissal, he may impose a lesser 

disciplinary action, or decide that a written warning or disciplinary probation is sufficient, or 

advise the employee that no discipline will be imposed.  If the mayor decides that a written 

warning is sufficient, the mayor will instruct the department head to proceed with a written 

warning or disciplinary probation. If the mayor determines during the hearing that the facts of the 

case appear to support more severe discipline than originally requested or that was originally 

deemed warranted, such a demotion or dismissal, he may decide to impose the more severe 

discipline.   A record of the hearing, to include a written summary of the hearing results, will be 

filed in the employee’s personnel file.  Such record need not be a transcribed record. 

 

Notice of Disciplinary Action.  If the mayor decides to suspend the employee without pay, or to 

demote the employee, or to dismiss the employee, written notification will be proved to the 

129



 

12 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

employee no later than the effective date of the suspension, demotion, or dismissal. A copy of 

the mayor’s action will also be provided to the department head and the human resources 

director to be filed in the employee’s personnel file. The notice will contain: the nature of the 

disciplinary action being taken; the specific reason(s) for the disciplinary action; the effective 

date of the disciplinary action; if applicable, the effective date(s) or length of the suspension; if 

applicable, the job title of the job to which the employee is demoted; and a description of the 

appeal rights of the employee. 

 

Record of Unpaid Suspension.    The employee’s suspension without pay will be recorded on the 

city’s time and attendance report. 

 

Return to Work After Unpaid Suspension.  When the employee returns to work he will be 

considered to be in good standing with the city and will be restored to all rights, privileges, and 

benefits he had prior to the suspension.  However, a suspension may be considered during any 

subsequent personnel actions, such as promotion, RIF, or disciplinary action. 

 

Employee Status After Demotion.  A demotion will not affect the rights, privileges, and benefits 

that the employee had prior to the demotion.  However, the employee’s pay will be adjusted in 

accordance with paragraph 10.8. of these policies and procedures. 

 

7.8.  APPEAL 

A regular status classified or part-time employee may appeal any  written warning, disciplinary 

probation, unpaid suspension, demotion, or dismissal in accordance with the guidelines of 

Chapter 8 of these policies and procedures.  Temporary employees and unclassified employees 

have no right of appeal of any disciplinary action. 

 

SECTION III: REVISION TO CHAPTER 8 GRIEVANCE SYSTEM  

That the current Chapter 8 of the Employee Handbook, be and is hereby deleted in its entirety 

and is replaced as follows: 

 

CHAPTER 8 

 

GRIEVANCE SYSTEM 

 

8.1.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Purpose. Every employee has the right, and is encouraged, to discuss any area of his employment 

with his supervisors and to seek resolution of concerns on an informal basis.  But the city 

recognizes informal discussions may not produce satisfactory resolution of disputes about 

employment matters. Legitimate grievances may be helpful to the city by calling matters to the 

attention of officials and supervisors where action may be needed.  When a grievance system is 

used properly, it can assist in maintaining a harmonious, cooperative working relationship 

between employees, supervisors, and city elected officials and also ensuring fairness in an 

employee’s employment. 

 

130



 

13 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

Retaliation Prohibited.  Employees should feel free to use informal efforts to resolve issues as 

well as the city’s formal grievance procedure. No employee, official, or supervisor will 

discriminate against, coerce, or interfere with any employee, witness, representative, or appellant 

for any informal problem resolution efforts or or for the presentation or adjudication of any 

formal grievance action made or brought in good faith, or, take any reprisal action against such 

persons.  Allegations of any violation of these protected rights may be processed as a separate 

grievance under the city’s grievance procedures or submitted in writing directly to the city 

council.  Individuals found to have violated an employee’s protected rights will be subject to 

disciplinary action that may include dismissal. 

 

Scope.  The city’s grievance system provides a standard process for speedy investigation and 

resolution of an eligible employee’s complaint of perceived improper treatment and/or appeal of 

disciplinary action taken against him where the employee’s informal efforts, if any, have not 

resolved an issue. The city grievance system is not intended, and will not be used, for the 

following purposes: 

 to resolve personal differences between/among employees; 

 to appeal pay reductions which are part of a general plan to reduce salaries and 

wages, when such reductions are pro-rated to all employees; 

 to appeal non-selection for a position when properly established staffing procedures 

have been followed; or 

 to appeal the contents of approved and published city resolutions or other legal 

actions. 

 

Employees Eligible to File Grievances.  All regular status classified and part-time service 

employees are eligible to file formal requests for personal relief in any matter of concern or 

dissatisfaction relating to their employment, to include disciplinary action.  Normally, 

probationary status employees will not be eligible to file formal hearing requests.  However, if an 

employee is serving in a probationary status as a result of his being promoted he will retain his 

eligibility to file a formal grievance action. 

 

Right to File Grievance.  When an eligible employee is unable to informally resolve his concern 

about his employment or disciplinary action or resolution of a discrimination, retaliation, or 

harassment complaint, he shall have the right to file a grievance. 

 

Good Faith Timely Presentation.  An eligible employee’s grievance must be submitted in good 

faith and within the specified period of time after the occurrence of the incident upon which the 

grievance is based.  Grievances that do not meet these requirements will not be considered.  If an 

employee willfully files a false grievance action, he may be subject to disciplinary action, to 

include dismissal, as determined by the mayor to be appropriate. 

 

Form and Content of a Grievance.  The employee’s grievance must be in writing and must 

contain as a minimum the following information: 

 The basis for the employee’s grievances to include: any policy, rule, regulation 

and/or procedure that he feels has been misapplied, or violated, and the date and 

description of such misapplication or violation; or  the disciplinary action that he 

is appealing; 

131



 

14 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

 Previous discussions the employee has had with his supervisor(s) and other city 

representatives, and their decisions, if any; 

 The specific remedy which the employee is seeking; and 

 The names of any witnesses who have knowledge of the facts involved. 

 

Deadline For Submitting Grievance.  The employee must submit the grievance within ten (10) 

calendar days of the time the employee has knowledge, or should have had knowledge, of a 

situation or a circumstance he wishes to grieve, or within ten (10) calendar days of the effective 

date of a disciplinary action he wishes to appeal. 

 

Recipient of Grievances. Employees must submit written grievances covered by this policy to the 

human resources director. 

 

Human Resources Director’s Action.  Upon receipt of an employee’s grievance, the human 

resources director will ensure the employee is eligible to submit a grievance, that it has been 

submitted within the required time period, and that it contains the required information.  As 

needed, the human resources director will assist the employee in completing his grievance 

submission.  Within five (5) working days of receipt of the employee’s grievance, the human 

resources director will forward the grievance to the appropriate hearing authority (either the 

mayor or the city council) for resolution. 

 

Withdrawal.  An employee may withdraw his grievance at any step in the process.   

 

Records.  All formal grievance actions, to include review, investigation, and findings, will be 

fully documented.  A copy of all completed actions will be compiled.  A copy will be provided 

the human resources director for filing in the employee’s personnel file; other files and a copy 

will be maintained by the human resources director. 

 

8.2. GRIEVANCES RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR 

Mayor as Hearing Authority.  The mayor is the hearing authority for any employee grievance 

which involves an administration matter or an appeal of a written warning or disciplinary 

probation, including any written warning or disciplinary probation given to the employee of as a 

result of another employee’s complaint of retaliation, discrimination, or harassment made under 

the EEO/Harassment/Retaliation Complaint Procedure in Chapter 1 of this Employee Handbook. 

 

Mayor’s Review.  Within five (5) working days of his receipt of the employee’s grievance from 

the human resources director, the mayor will review the facts as presented by the employee in his 

written grievance and schedule a meeting with the employee to discuss his complaint.  If the 

mayor or the employee determines that he needs to interview other individuals concerning the 

grievance, the mayor will ensure that they are also present at this meeting.  The employee, or his 

designated representative, will be allowed to present information on behalf of the employee and 

to present reasonable questions to the other individuals present.  The meeting will be held 

informally and a written summary of the factual material presented will be prepared.  The human 

resources director will assist the mayor in his review of the grievance. 

 

132



 

15 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

The Mayor’s Decision.  Within three (3) working days of completion of the mayor’s meeting 

with the employee, the mayor will provide the employee written notification of his decision.  The 

mayor’s decision will be considered a final action on the employee’s grievance. 

 

Extension of Review and Decision Time.  The mayor may, when circumstances warrant, extend 

the time periods for completion of his review and rendering a decision. 

 

8.3. GRIEVANCES RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL 

City Council as Hearing Authority.  The city council is the hearing authority for any employee 

grievance involving the appeal of a disciplinary action that resulted in his suspension without 

pay, demotion or dismissal, including any unpaid suspension, demotion, or dismissal given 

because of as a result of another employee’s complaint of retaliation, discrimination, or 

harassment made under the EEO/Harassment/Retaliation Complaint Procedure in Chapter 1 of 

this Employee Handbook.  The city council is also the hearing authority for any grievance filed 

by an employee who is dissatisfied with the resolution of that employee’s complaint of 

retaliation, discrimination, or harassment made under the EEO/Harassment/Retaliation 

Complaint Procedure in Chapter 1 of this Employee Handbook. 

 

City Council’s Review.  Within fifteen (15) working days of receipt of the employee’s grievance 

from the human resources director, the city council will hold a hearing on the employee’s appeal.  

The employee shall be allowed to appear before the city council with reasonable representation 

of his choice if he desires.  The city council shall hear the employee’s grievance, gather pertinent 

documents, interview witnesses as necessary, and prepare a written statement of fact. 

 

City Council’s Decision.  Within five (5) working days of the hearing, the city council shall 

make a final determination in the case.  The council may in its decision sustain, amend, or 

overrule any previous decision rendered.  The council’s decision will be in writing and a copy 

will be provided the human resources director.  The council’s decision will be considered a final 

action on the employee’s grievance. 

 

Extension of Review and Decision Time.  The city council may, when circumstances warrant, 

extend the time periods for completion of their review and rendering a decision. 

 

 

SECTION IV: REPEALER 

That any Ordinance, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted by the City Council of Daphne, 

Alabama, which is in conflict with this Ordinance be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such 

conflict. 

 

SECTION V: SEVERABILITY 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this ordinance is for any reason 

held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be 

deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the 

validity of the remaining portions hereof. 

 

133



 

16 
ORDINANCE 2013-47                AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTERS 1,  7 & 8 

   

SECTION VI: EFFECTIVE DATE.  

This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of its approval by the 

City Council of the City of Daphne and publication as required by law. 

 

 ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS ____  DAY OF _____, 2013. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

RON SCOTT 

CITY COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

 

___________________________________ 

DANE HAYGOOD 

MAYOR 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 

REBECCA HAYES 

CITY CLERK, MMC 

 

134



1 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-48 

 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AND REORGANIZE CHAPTER NINE OF THE 

CITY’S EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne, after due consideration believes 

that certain revisions to Chapter Nine of the City of Daphne Employee Handbook are necessary 

for the proper administration of said Handbook and the policies contained therein; 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Daphne has an existing Family and Medical Leave policy within 

Chapter Nine adopted to comply with the federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993; 

 

 WHEREAS, the federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 was amended in 2009 to 

provide for additional types of protected leaves of absence and also in 2009, the federal 

Department of Labor issued revised regulations governing compliance with the Family and 

Medical Leave Act; 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Daphne has an existing Military Leave policy and Military Duty 

policy within Chapter Nine adopted to comply with federal and state laws relating to military 

leave and absences for military service; 

 

 WHEREAS, following the city’s adoption of these policies, federal and state laws 

relating to military leave and absences for military service have changed over the years to 

expand the scope of coverage and to make other changes; 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council and the City of Daphne, after due consideration, believe 

that the City’s Military Leave policy and Military Duty policy and the Family and Medical 

Leave policy should be revised to fully comply with changes in applicable law and to provide 

guidance to employees and to the City of Daphne concerning the rights and obligations of both 

employees and the City; 

 

 WHEREAS, additional revisions to Chapter Nine of the Employee Handbook will 

enable the City to more easily facilitate and administer provisions in Chapter Nine of the 

Employee Handbook in order to benefit the health, safety, and welfare of its employees; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION I: REVISION TO EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER NINE (OTHER 

THAN SECTIONS 9.4.5, 9.5, AND 9.6) 

 

 That all Sections of Chapter Nine of the Employee Handbook, other than Sections 9.4.5, 

9.5, and 9.6, be and are hereby deleted in their entirety and replaced as follows: 

 

135



2 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

9.1 RESPONSIBILITY FOR ATTENDANCE AT WORK. 

General Requirements. All employees are responsible for being present at work during their 

scheduled work time, unless their absence has been approved by their department head or his 

designated representative.  If an employee has excessive absence occurrences or incomplete 

shifts (arriving late or leaving early), the employee will be subject to discipline.  Any 

unauthorized and unjustified absence from work for a period of five consecutive working days 

may be considered as a voluntary quit.  Department heads and supervisors must keep up with 

employee attendance and the reasons for absences, tardiness, and early departures to insure 

unexcused absenteeism is addressed through the disciplinary process while approved absences 

are excused and not counted for disciplinary purposes. 

 

Notice Requirements.  Each department will provide methods for employees to provide notice of 

absences, late arrivals or early departures, such as, by providing supervisor cell phone numbers 

and administrative contact persons within the department.  As a general rule applicable to all city 

employees, if an employee is unable to report for work, or to report on time, he must notify his 

supervisor or department head within fifteen (15) minutes of the scheduled start of his work day 

unless unusual circumstances prevent him from doing so.  Department heads may provide for an 

alternative notification period applicable to specific departments, such as thirty minutes or one 

hour prior to the start of the work day.  Department heads will ensure such alternative reporting 

time frames are posted in the department or otherwise made known to department staff in 

writing, and will provide a copy of the notification period to the human resources director.  If an 

employee has a need to leave his assigned work area before the end of his scheduled work time, 

he must notify his supervisor or department head and obtain permission for such early departure. 

An employee’s report of an absence, late arrival, or early departure on the day of the absence or 

tardiness as required by this policy does not guarantee that the absence or tardiness will be 

authorized or excused.  Management has discretion to decide if the reason given for the absence 

or tardiness is a sufficient excuse.  If employee foresees a need to be absent for a period longer 

than one workday, the employee should consider applying for a Leave of Absence. Applying for 

a Leave of Absence does not suggest the Leave will necessarily be approved.  Requested time 

away from work which has been approved by the employee’s department head or supervisor and 

included in the schedule at least three (3) weeks in advance, absent extraordinary circumstances, 

also is not considered an unexcused absence.   

 
9.2.  TIME & ATTENDANCE RECORDS 

Responsibility for Reporting.  Supervisors are responsible for accurately reporting the time and 

attendance for each employee within their activity to their department head.  Each department 

head will submit a time and attendance report for his department for each pay period to the 

human resources director in accordance with procedures established by the human resources 

director. 

 

Time Records.  All the time that each non-exempt employee is scheduled to work during his 

established workweek will be accounted for on a time and attendance report in accordance with 

procedures established by the human resources director.  Each department head will submit a 

time and attendance report that records the work schedule, the hours worked, and all absences for 

each employee assigned to the department.  In addition, those records as required by the FLSA 

136



3 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

for hours worked, wages earned, and wages paid will be established and maintained, by the 

human resources director. 

 

Attendance Records.  A centralized attendance record will be maintained by the human resources 

director for all city employees.  Each employee’s attendance record will show: his approved 

workweek; his scheduled hours of duty and hours worked for each duty day during his 

workweek; his authorized and/or unauthorized absences including sick leave, vacation, 

administrative leave, military leave, leave without pay, and non-pay status/worker’s 

compensation; and his overtime pay earned and paid for each pay period. 

 

Inspection by Employee.  An employee’s attendance record will be made available to the 

employee for inspection upon his written request. 

 
9.3.  WORK SCHEDULES 

General.  City offices and activities will be open for business as established by the mayor, in 

coordination with the city council.  Normal city operations will be Monday through Friday.  

However, certain city functions, such as public safety activities and emergency services, will 

operate seven (7) days a week. 

  

Full-Time Employee Work Schedule.  Each department head will establish, with approval of the 

mayor, the work schedule for the non-exempt employees assigned to his department.  The 

department head will ensure that approved work schedules are posted in locations that are readily 

available to all employees assigned to their department.  Exempt employees will not have a 

specific work schedule established for them.  However, they will be expected to work the normal 

work day as established for their position. 

 

Part-Time Employee Work Schedule.  The hours that part-time employees are scheduled to work 

in their workweek will be established by their department head based upon the number of hours 

of work approved by the city council.  Under normal circumstances a part-time employee will be 

scheduled to work less than thirty-two (32) hours in his workweek.  However, the actual number 

of hours a part-time employee works in his workweek may exceed this amount, if required to 

meet temporary work needs. 

 

Temporary Employee Work Schedule.  The hours that temporary employees are scheduled to 

work in their workweek will be established by their department head based upon the hours 

approved and funded by the city council for their position.  A temporary employee may be 

scheduled to work full-time or part-time. 

 

9.4.  WORK PERIODS FOR PAYROLL PURPOSES     

Employees Generally.  Each non-exempt employee will be assigned a work period in accordance 

with guidelines of the FLSA.  Normally, a work period will begin on Thursday at 6:00 a.m. and 

shall continue for seven (7) consecutive twenty-four (24) hour days. However, a separate work 

period may be established by a department head for specific employees assigned to his 

department, if needed.  If an individual work period assignment is made, it will be made in 

writing to the employee and a copy will be furnished to the human resources director.  

137



4 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

Unclassified and classified employees will be scheduled to work between thirty-two (32) and 

forty (40) hours in their work period as established at the time their positions are authorized by 

the city council. 

  

Police Officers and Correction Officers.  Each non-exempt Police Officer or Correction Officer 

shall be assigned a work period in accordance with the guidelines of the FLSA. Normally, a 

work period shall begin on Thursday at 6:00 a.m. and shall continue for fourteen (14) 

consecutive twenty-four (24) hour days.  However, a separate work period may be established by 

a department head for specific employees assigned to his department, if needed.  If an individual 

work period assignment is made, it will be made in writing to the employee and a copy will be 

furnished to the human resources director.  Unclassified and classified Police Officer and 

Corrections Officer employees will be scheduled to work eighty-four (84) hours in this 14-day  

work period as established at the time their positions are authorized by the city council. 

  

Fire Fighters.  Each non-exempt Fire Fighter employee will be assigned a work period in 

accordance with the guidelines of the FLSA.  Normally, a work period shall begin on Thursday 

at 7:00 a.m. and shall continue for twenty-eight (28) consecutive twenty-four (24) hour days.  

However, a separate work period may be established by a department head for specific 

employees assigned to his department, if needed.  If an individual work period assignment is 

made, it will be made in writing to the employee and a copy will be furnished to the human 

resources director. Unclassified and classified Fire Fighter employees will be scheduled to work 

216 hours in this 28-day period as established at the time their positions are authorized by the 

city council.   

 

9.5.  OVERTIME WORK 

Approval for Extra Work – Non-Exempt Employees.  Normally, any work requirement that 

exceeds a non-exempt employee’s regular scheduled workday will be approved by his 

department head prior to the work being accomplished.  However, extra work that is performed 

as part of a department call-in requirement will be performed in accordance with the guidelines 

associated with such requirements. The mayor will, in coordination with the appropriate 

department head, provide guidelines for establishing and approving extra work. 

 

Exempt Employees.  Even though an exempt employee is not scheduled to work a specific 

number of hours in a particular workweek, he will be expected to work the typical workday as 

established for his position.  If an exempt employee needs to work outside the normal workday 

to attend meetings or perform other work, it will be considered as part of the job.  However, any 

routine absence taken by the employee, such as for sickness or annual leave, will be charged as 

leave in accordance with the leave guidelines of these policies and procedures so long as such 

action does not violate the provisions of the FLSA. 

 

9.6 OVERTIME PAY 

Eligible Employees.  Only non-exempt employees shall be entitled to overtime pay.  computed at 

one and one-half (1-1/2) times of his regular hourly rate for those hours worked that qualify as 

overtime work.  No exempt employee shall be entitled to overtime pay.  The mayor, in 

138



5 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

coordination with the human resources director and the appropriate department head, will 

determine whether an employee shall be designated as a non-exempt or an exempt employee.  

Such determinations will be based upon the requirements of the FLSA and will be in writing. 

 

Non-Exempt Employees Generally.  All hours worked by a non-exempt employee who is not a 

police officer, corrections officer, or firefighter in the established work period that exceed forty 

(40) hours will be considered overtime work in accordance with the provisions of the FLSA 

  

Police Officers and Correction Officers.  All hours worked by a non-exempt Police Officer or 

Corrections Officer employee in the established fourteen (14) day work period that exceed 

eighty-six (86) hours will be considered overtime work in accordance with the provisions of the 

FLSA. 

 

Fire Fighters.  All hours worked by a non-exempt Fire Fighter employee in the established 

twenty-eight (28) day work period that exceed two hundred twelve (212) hours will be 

considered overtime work in accordance with the provisions of the FLSA. 

 

Exempt Employee.  An employee who has been designated as an exempt employee is salaried 

and as such is paid to accomplish his job regardless of the hours he must work.  No employee 

who has been determined to be exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA will be entitled 

to overtime pay for any reason. 

 

 “Hours Paid” vs. “Hours Worked”  Overtime pay is only computed based on hours worked, not 

on all hours paid.  If a non-exempt employee does not actually work on a holiday, the hours that 

he is paid for such holiday will not count as hours worked, when determining his entitlement to 

receive overtime pay.  Only the time that an employee actually works on a holiday will be used 

to determine if he qualifies for any overtime entitlement during his workweek in accordance with 

the FLSA. Similarly, paid vacation time and paid sick leave will be considered non-work time 

for purposes of determining an employee’s entitlement to overtime pay. 

 

9.7.  OFFICIAL HOLIDAYS 

Scheduled Holidays.  The following holidays have been approved by the city council to be 

observed by eligible employees as paid holidays: 

(1) New Year’s Day  (7) Veterans Day 

(2) Martin Luther King Day (8) Thanksgiving Day 

(3) Mardi Gras   (9) Day after Thanksgiving 

(4) Memorial Day (May)  (10) Christmas Eve 

(5) Independence Day  (11) Christmas Day 

(6) Labor Day 

When an approved holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday will be observed as the 

holiday.  When an approved holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday will be observed 

as the holiday. 

 

Eligibility.  All unclassified and classified full-time employees are eligible to observe and be 

paid holiday pay for established city holidays.  Part-time and temporary employees will not 

139



6 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

receive holiday pay for city holidays.  If a part-time employee works on an observed holiday, he 

will be paid for the day the same as a regular work day.  To be entitled to receive holiday pay for 

a city authorized holiday, an eligible employee must be present at work, or on approved leave 

with pay, on his scheduled work days immediately preceding and following the paid holiday.  If 

he is in a non-pay status for either of these days, holiday pay will not be paid. 

 

Holiday Pay.  All eligible employees will receive holiday pay in lieu of their regular pay for all 

city holidays.  The amount of holiday pay paid to each employee will be based upon an eight (8) 

hour work day.  If an employee is a twelve (12) or twenty-four (24) hours shift employee and 

takes the holiday off, the employee will be paid eight (8) hour holiday with the remaining hours 

as vacation, sick, or leave without pay, whichever is applicable.  If a non-exempt employee is 

required to work the holiday, he will receive both holiday pay and pay for the hours he actually 

works.  The pay that he receives for the hours worked will be calculated at his regular rate of 

pay.  An exempt employee will not be paid for the hours he works on a holiday, since he is paid 

a salary for accomplishing his assigned job.  However, he may take time off at a later date, with 

the concurrence of his supervisor. 

 

Holiday Pay in Lieu of Sick or Vacation Leave.  If an eligible employee is on approved paid sick 

or vacation leave when an official holiday occurs, such time will be charged as holiday pay and 

not as sick or vacation leave. 

 

9.8 PAID VACATION.   

Overview.  Paid vacation time will be provided to eligible city employees as part of the city 

provided compensation package for its employees.  The city considers this time away from the 

job as necessary for an employee’s morale and well being (rest for the employee, quality time 

with family members and friends and/or training opportunities) and should be taken each year.  

The city expects each employee to take his earned vacation pay, except as permitted by these 

guidelines, since working in lieu of taking such time off defeats the purposes of providing paid 

time away from the job.  Therefore, it is the city’s policy to strongly discourage the practice of 

allowing an employee to work in lieu of taking his vacation time, unless his presence is 

necessary to meet emergency situations and/or other unusual city demands. 

 

Eligibility.  Unclassified and classified employees are eligible to earn and use vacation pay.  

Part-time and temporary employees will not earn or be granted vacation pay. 

 

Leave Year.  The city’s vacation pay year will run from January 1 through December 31 of each 

year. 

 

Accrual of Vacation Pay.  All eligible employees will earn vacation pay for each full leave year 

(January 1- December 31) that they work.  The amount of vacation pay earned each year will be 

based on the employee’s continuous years of service and in accordance with the following 

criteria: 

 

Continuous Years of Service % X 2080     Hours Earned Per Year 

 

   0 thru 9 years   .0385 per hour       80 hours per year 

140



7 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

 10 thru 14 years  .0577 per hour     120 hours per year 

 15 thru 24 years  .0769 per hour     160 hours per year 

 Over 24 years   .0962 per hour     200 hours per year 

 

Continuous Years of Service % X 2808     Hours Earned Per Year 

 

   0 thru 9 years   .0385 per hour     108 hours per year 

 10 thru 14 years  .0577 per hour     162 hours per year 

 15 thru 24 years  .0769 per hour     216 hours per year 

 Over 24 years   .0962 per hour     270 hours per year 

 

Vacation Accrual Policy.  Employees will accrue vacation pay in accordance with the schedule 

listed above.  Normally, the total number of hours earned per year will be divided by 12 in order 

to determine the number of hours an employee will earn each month worked.  However, if an 

employee’s employment with the city begins during the year, the total number of hours earned 

per year will be prorated by the number of months the employee works for the city.  Accrued 

vacation pay will be posted to the employee’s leave account on the first pay period of each 

month following the month in which it is earned.  To be eligible to earn vacation pay in a month 

the employee must work at least 10 days during such month. 

 

Vacation Accrual During Probation.  Employees serving an initial probationary period will 

accrue vacation pay under this policy.  However, they will not be eligible to use such vacation 

pay until successfully completing probation. 

 

Use of Vacation Pay.  The use of vacation pay will be approved at the discretion of an 

employee’s department head, or the department head’s designated representative.  Normally, 

vacation pay will be approved in advance of each absence, except in unusual circumstances.  

Failure to comply with this requirement may result in an absence being treated as an 

unauthorized absence.  The employee will be placed in a leave without pay status, and 

disciplinary action will be taken against him.  All requests for vacation pay will be made as far in 

advance as possible of the time the employee desires the leave.  Before the start of each leave 

year all eligible employees will be afforded an opportunity by their department head to schedule 

their projected leave days for the coming year.  The order of selection will be based on each 

employee’s continuous years of eligible service with the city and will be made in accordance 

with guidelines to be established by the department head.  Subsequent requests for vacation pay 

after this period will be approved on a first come/first serve basis and the needs of the city.  

Vacation pay may be taken in one (1) hour increments, as approved by the employee’s 

department head. 

 

Vacation Pay Rate.  The pay that an employee receives for his vacation time will be based upon 

the regular pay that he would have received, if he had actually worked.   

 

Carry Over of Vacation Pay.  The City Of Daphne expects that all employees use their earned 

vacation days each year.  As described in this policy, an employee will forfeit unused vacation 

pay beyond certain limits if not used during the leave year. Each employee is responsible to keep 

up with his vacation pay balance so that unused vacation pay is not lost at the end of the year. 

141



8 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

Supervisors are responsible to ensure employees are given ample opportunity to schedule their 

use of vacation pay so that work operations are not affected and the available vacation pay is 

used. In general, an employee may carry over up to eighty (80) hours of unused vacation pay into 

the next leave year.  Due to the differences in work hours and the nature of the shifts worked by 

Fire Fighters, Police Officers, and Corrections Officers, accrual rates for these types of 

employees are calculated differently.  Vacation carry over will reflect these differences.  A Fire 

Fighter who works a 212 hour schedule may carry over up to one hundred eight (108) hours of 

unused vacation pay into the next leave year.    A Police Officer or Corrections Officer who 

works an 84 hour work schedule may carry over up to eighty four (84) hours of unused vacation 

pay into the next leave year.  If an employee has any unused vacation pay which exceeds the 

applicable limit  at the end of the leave year, the unused amount over the limit will be forfeited.  

 

Use During Holiday.  When an official holiday occurs while an employee is absent on a paid 

vacation or while using vacation pay, his absence will be charged as a paid holiday and not as 

vacation pay. 

 

Vacation Accrual at Termination.  If an employee’s employment with the city ends during a 

leave year, the employee will only be eligible for vacation pay accrued up to termination.  

However, if an employee does not complete at least six month’s service with the city and leave 

in good standing, all accrued leave will be forfeited. 

 

Pay Upon Separation.  Upon separation from service, an individual who completes more that six 

(6) months of service will be paid for all his accrued and unused vacation pay, if proper notice is 

given in accordance with these guidelines. 

 

9.9. PAID SICK LEAVE   

Overview.  Paid sick leave is a benefit provided to unclassified and classified employees.  It is 

provided to ensure that an eligible employee who is unable to work due to illness or injury does 

not feel compelled to do so for financial reasons.  Abuse of sick leave privileges by any 

employee will be severely dealt with and the employee may be dismissed, if the city determines 

that the circumstances involved in the employee’s actions warrant such action. 

 

Accrual of Paid Sick Leave.  Unclassified and classified employees based on 2,080 annual hours 

will earn paid sick leave credit at the rate of 3.08 hours per pay period for a total of 80 hours per 

year.  Unclassified and classified employees based on 2,808 annual hours will earn paid sick 

leave credit at the rate of 9 hours per month for a total of 108 hours per year. However, an 

eligible employee will not earn any paid sick leave credit for any month in which he is in a non-

pay status for more than one-half of his regularly scheduled working days during the month.  An 

eligible employee may accrue up to a maximum of one thousand four hundred forty (1,440) 

hours of paid sick leave credit. 

 

Use of Paid Sick Leave.  An eligible employee may use paid sick leave credits for any of the 

following types of reasons: 

(a) when he is unable to work due to personal illness, injury incurred off-duty, 

or when his presence may endanger the health of fellow workers; 

(b) keeping a doctor, dentist, chiropractor or optometrist appointment; 

142



9 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

(c) any impairment related to pregnancy, and/or actual confinement.  A 

female employee who requests time away from work for pregnancy, 

maternity and childbirth will be treated equally to other employees with 

other forms of disability or sickness who request leave; or 

(d) serious illness of a member of his immediate family that requires the 

personal attention of the employee (for purpose of this section, immediate 

family includes the employee’s spouse, children, parents and like relations 

of the spouse’s family).  

Paid sick leave may be taken in one (1) hour increments, as approved by the employee’s 

department head. 

 

Sick Leave Pay Rate.  The pay that an employee receives for authorized sick leave will be based 

upon the regular hourly rate of pay that he would have received, if he had actually worked.  

 

Requirements for Use Generally.  When an employee is aware of a need to use paid sick leave 

(such as for scheduled medical treatment), the employee must give notice of the anticipated 

absence at least thirty (30) days before the date the employee wants to use paid sick leave.  If the 

employee learns of the need to use paid sick leave in less than 30 days, the employee must give 

notice of the anticipated absence either the same day or the next business day.  If the absence and 

need to use paid sick leave is unforeseeable and advance notice of the absence is not possible, the 

employee must provide as much notice as is practical under the circumstances.  Failure to 

provide timely notice so may be cause for denial of sick leave for the period of absence.  Denial 

of sick leave may result in an employee being charged with vacation leave or being placed in a 

leave without pay status, at the discretion of his department head.  Failure to comply with these 

requirements may result in disciplinary action being taken against the employee. 

 

Requirements for Extended Use.  For a period of absence in excess of two (2) consecutive 

working days, or anytime at the request of the employee’s department head, the human resources 

director, or the mayor, an employee may be required to submit a medical report signed by a 

licensed doctor.  The medical report should state that the employee has been incapacitated for 

work for the period of absence, when it is anticipated that he will again be able to return to work, 

and be able to perform his duties.  The city may also, at its discretion, require an employee 

returning to work after a sickness or injury to undergo a medical examination to ensure that he is 

able to return to work. Such examination, when required will be conducted by a medical 

authority designated by the human resources director.  Once an employee exhausts paid sick 

leave credits, he may use vacation pay during the period of an extended absence due to non-

work-related illness or injury.  As more fully provided in any short-term disability insurance plan 

provided by the city, employees must exhaust all paid sick leave credits and all available paid 

vacation before becoming eligible to apply for short-term disability insurance benefits, 

 

Abusive Use.  Any unjustified, fraudulent, or abusive use of sick leave may result in the absence 

being charged as leave without pay, being charged as vacation leave, and/or being punished by 

disciplinary action (to include dismissal when considered appropriate by the city).  

 

143



10 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

Use During Holiday.  When an authorized city holiday occurs during the period an employee is 

on sick leave, he will receive his regular holiday pay and that day will not be charged against his 

sick leave. 

 

Coordination With Worker’s Compensation.  When an employee is absent due to a job-related 

injury or illness, he may coordinate such absence with his sick leave in accordance with the 

following guidelines (vacation leave may be used in lieu of sick leave, if he does not have 

accrued sick leave). 

 

(a) The first three (3) days that he is absent from work will be charged as sick leave, if he 

agrees in writing to reimburse the city the amount of benefit he receives from worker’s 

compensation for such days.  If he does not have accrued sick leave to cover his absence 

for these days, he will be placed in a leave without pay status. 

 

(b) If the absence is less than twenty-one (21) days and worker’s compensation provides 

benefit payments for the first three (3) days, he will be charged for three days of sick 

leave or leave without pay, as the case may be. 

 

(c) If the absence is for over twenty-one (21) days and worker’s compensation provides 

benefit payments for the first three (3) days, he will reimburse the city the amount of 

benefit he receives from worker’s compensation for these days and he will be charged 

only one-third (1/3) of a day of sick leave for each of the first three (3) days, if he was 

charged with sick leave for these days. 

 

(d) If he does not agree to reimburse the city for use of sick leave for the first three (3) 

days of his absence, his absence will be charged as leave without pay beginning with the 

first day of the absence. 

 

(e) If the absence exceeds three (3) days, he will be placed in leave without pay status 

beginning with the fourth day of his absence. 

 

Paid Sick Leave Donation 

Eligibility:  Only full-time employees and part-time employees working 32 or more hours per 

week are eligible to donate or receive donations of paid sick leave. Employees eligible for short-

term disability coverage are not eligible for receiving donations of paid sick leave. 

 

Amount of donated sick leave:  Employees may only donate that amount of paid sick leave they 

have in excess of eighty (80) hours, but no more than forty (40) hours may be donated per leave 

year (January 1 – December 31) 

 

Conversion of sick leave between employees:  Conversion of donated paid sick leave will be 

based upon the dollar amount of sick leave.  “Example” – Employee X wishes to donate 40 hours 

of sick leave to Employee Y.  Employee X makes $6.00/hr; Employee Y makes $12.00/hr. 

Employee X will make a donation of $240 ($6 x 40 hrs) worth of sick leave. Employee Y 

receives the equivalent of 20 hours of sick leave ($12 x 20 hrs=$240). 

 

144



11 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

Approval:  All employees’ requests to donate sick leave must be reviewed by their Department 

Head.  Department heads requests must be reviewed by the mayor. Requests once reviewed will 

be forwarded to the human resources director for final review. 

 

Forfeiture of Sick Leave at Separation.  Employees will not be paid for their unused sick leave 

when they are separated from the city service for any reason, except that sick may be converted 

to retirement service credit.  Upon separation, all individuals will forfeit the sick leave that they 

have accumulated.  However, if an individual is rehired within two (2) years of his separation 

date in a service category that is eligible to accrue sick leave, he will have his previous sick leave 

balance restored upon completion of six (6) months of service or the required probationary 

period (whichever is longer). 

 

Election to Convert Sick Leave Upon Retirement.  Under the provisions of Section 36-26-36.1 

Code of Alabama 1975, a city employee may elect to convert unused sick leave to retirement 

service credit. That by electing to come under the provisions Section of 36-26-36.1 Code of 

Alabama 1975, the City of Daphne agrees to assume the cost of benefits provided by said Act 

with regards to its employees who are members of the Employee’s Retirement System of 

Alabama. 

 

9.10. PAID ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE.   

Overview. Unclassified and classified employees may be granted administrative leave with pay 

in accordance with the following guidelines, provided the absence is on a regularly scheduled 

workday for the employees.  The number of hours of leave granted for each approved day of 

leave will not exceed the number of hours the employee would have been scheduled to work for 

that day.  Administrative leave will not be charged against the vacation or sick leave of an 

employee.  The following types of administrative leave are provided by the city. 

 

Civil/Legal.  Leave will be granted eligible employees for jury duty, court attendance as a 

witness in a case not involving personal litigation, and voting.  The length of time granted for 

voting will be the reasonable time necessary to vote and normally will be granted at the start or 

end of a workday.  Attendance in court by an employee who is acting in an official capacity will 

not be considered as administrative leave but as regular work time.  The provisions of any law or 

city policy that require any fees provided an employee who is attending court in an official 

capacity to be turned into the city will be observed.  In other situations, any fees paid an 

employee will be retained by the employee in addition to his administrative leave pay. 

 

Bereavement.  Bereavement leave is intended to provide an eligible employee time off with pay 

for purposes of attending to personal matters associated with the death of a close family member 

and/or for attending a family member’s funeral.  Up to twenty-four (24) hours of bereavement 

leave will be granted an employee who has a death in his immediate family.  Immediate family is 

defined as follows:  Spouse, children, parents, grandparents, grandchildren, brothers, sisters, or 

the equivalent relations of the employee’s spouse.  Included within the definition of family are 

those persons who live with the family as a member of the family whether related or not.  If 

additional time off is required beyond the bereavement leave days authorized, an employee may 

request vacation leave or leave without pay. 

145



12 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

 

Hazardous Weather.  When considered necessary for the safety of city employees, the mayor 

may authorize the closure of city offices and activities and/or late arrival or early departure time 

for hazardous weather conditions.  Such time will be reported on attendance reports as 

administrative leave for hazardous weather.  When a hazardous weather situation occurs, any 

employee may be required to work if his presence is required to perform essential operations.  

Emergency closing and/or late arrival times will be approved by the mayor and will normally be 

broadcast over the local radio station.  However, it is the responsibility of each employee to 

contact his supervisor, if he is uncertain as to the situation.  If the mayor does not declare a 

hazardous weather condition, all employees are expected to make a good faith effort to get to 

work.  An employee who is unable to get to work under such conditions is expected to notify his 

supervisor.  Such employee will be placed on vacation leave or leave without pay, at the 

discretion of the employee.  If the employee is placed on leave without pay, he maybe authorized 

by his department head to make up the missed time so long as feasible work is available and the 

time can be made up in the same workweek. 

 

Inclement Weather.  When inclement weather prevents an employee who works outdoors from 

performing work outside, he will be given other duties that can be performed indoors.  If an 

employee does not wish to perform the alternate work, he may request vacation leave; however, 

he will be required to work if his presence is needed.  If an employee requests time off and he 

does not have any accrued leave with pay that he can take, he may be given time off without pay. 

 

9.11 LEAVE WITHOUT PAY. 

Requirements for Approval. The city will provide leave without pay to unclassified and 

classified employees in certain situations as described below.  An employee who is granted leave 

without pay will be placed in a non-pay status.  The following guidelines apply to the approval of 

any general leave without pay: (i) the leave will be for a justifiable reason; (ii) the leave will not 

cause an undue hardship on the city; (iii) the employee understands that he may be required to 

return to work before his leave expires; and (iv) the employee understands that his failure to 

report for duty promptly when requested or at the end of the leave will be considered a 

resignation and he will be separated. 

 

Length of Leave.  An employee may, for justifiable reason, be granted a general leave without 

pay for a period not to exceed one hundred twenty (120) calendar days. 

 

Expiration of Leave Without Pay.  If an employee returns to work when an unpaid leave of 

absence expires, the employee will be reinstated to the position he held at the time the leave was 

granted or to a similar position, if his previous position is no longer available. 

 

Benefits While in Leave Without Pay Status.  No authorized paid benefits (such as vacation and 

sick leaves, insurance premiums) will be provided to an employee for any pay period in which he 

has been placed in a leave without pay status for more than ten (10) working days during a 

month.  An employee who is in a leave without pay status for more than ten (10) working days 

during the month will be required to reimburse the city for any benefit costs paid by the city on 

his behalf for such period.  Any unused vacation and/or sick leave days an employee has accrued 

146



13 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

at the time he is placed in a general leave without pay statues will be made available to him upon 

his return to work.  If the employee does not return to work, these days will be forfeited.  An 

employee in a leave without pay status will accrue credit toward longevity and across-the-board 

pay increases. 

 

Approval.  All leaves without pay will be approved by the mayor. 

 

SECTION II: REVISION TO EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER NINE SECTION 9.4.5 

MILITARY LEAVE AND SECTION 9.6 MILITARY DUTY 

 

 That Section 9.4.5 and Section 9.6 of the Employee Handbook, be and are hereby deleted 

in its entirety, and are combined, renumbered, renamed, and replaced as follows: 

 

9.12 MILITARY LEAVE POLICY 

Scope & Eligibility.  An unclassified or classified employee is eligible for military leave and the 

re-employment rights described in this policy if he is a member of or becomes a member of the 

United States Armed Forces, the United States Reserves, the Alabama National Guard, certain 

Public Health Service positions, the National Disaster Medical System (including the AL3 

Disaster Medical Assistance Team (D.M.A.T)), and the civilian auxiliary of the United States 

Air Force known as the Civil Air Patrol.  Military leave is available if an eligible employee needs 

time off from work for military training and drills, or fitness-for-duty examinations, or is called 

into active service by the Governor of the State of Alabama (“state military service”) or is 

ordered into active service under the provisions of the National Defense Act, the Public Health 

Security and Bioterrorism Preparedness and Response Act of 2002 or of the federal laws 

governing the United States Reserves (“federal military service”).  With certain limitations 

described herein, eligible employees may take military leave without loss of pay, time, efficiency 

rating, accrued vacation or sick leave, or any other provided benefit. 

 

Notification of Military Absence/Documentation.  Upon receipt of orders or other notice of 

training, fitness-for-duty evaluation, or active service, an employee must submit a written request 

for military leave  to the human resources director through his department head. The employee 

must submit a copy of his military orders or other documentation necessary to support his 

request along with the leave request, unless the orders or documentation are not reasonably 

available.  If orders or other documentation are not initially available, the employee must submit 

the orders or documentation as soon as possible after they become available. In making the 

request for military leave, the employee also must notify the human resources director through 

the department head of the reasons for the requested military leave, the anticipated date of 

departure, and the anticipated return-to-work date, if known.  Requests for extension of a 

previously granted military leave must be made to the human resources director, provide the 

same information, and be supported with new orders or other written documentation provided 

when reasonably available. 

 

Paid “Federal Service” Military Leave.  An employee granted a military leave of absence for 

“federal” service, and for training and fitness-for-duty examinations as a member of the National 

Guard or Reserves will be paid for up to one hundred sixty eight (168) working hours per 

147



14 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

calendar year for those hours the employee otherwise would have been working for the city.  For 

example, if the employee is not otherwise scheduled to work on weekends, then the employee 

will not be paid for “weekend drill.”  If the employee’s federal service military leave for these 

reasons is longer than 168 working hours, the remainder of the military leave will be unpaid, 

except that the employee may elect to receive available vacation pay during the absence. 

 

Paid “State Service” Military Leave.  An eligible employee will be entitled, in addition to the 

above, to be paid for up to one hundred sixty eight (168) working hours at any one time while 

called to duty by the Governor in the active service of the state  to assist with the enforcement of 

the law, the preservation of the peace or for the security of the rights and lives of citizens or 

protection of property in aid and relief of citizens in disaster, or any similar duty, or any other 

service that the Governor may for specific reasons so designate.  If the employee’s state service 

military leave is longer than 168 working hours, the remainder of the military leave will be 

unpaid, except that the employee may elect to receive available vacation pay during the absence. 

Seniority, Status, and Pay.  Employees returning from military leave will be entitled to the 

seniority and raises they would have earned had they been continuously employed. 

 

Benefits.  An individual will be entitled, during his military leave of absence, to insurance and 

other benefits to which other employees on leave without pay status are entitled.  Retirement 

credit for his military service will be in accordance with the city’s retirement plan. 

 

Vacation Pay and Paid Sick Leave.  If the employee separates from employment in order to join 

the Armed Forces, unused vacation pay will either be taken by the employee prior to his 

departure or, if such action is not feasible, he will be paid for such leave as provided in the 

separation of employment provision of the Paid Vacation policy.  If an employee separates from 

employment in order to join the Armed Forces, and then later exercises re-employment rights 

described in this policy to return to work for the city, the city will credit unused sick leave that 

the employee had accumulated at the time of his departure to his sick leave account when he 

returns to work.   An employee who is on military leave for more than ten (10) working days 

during a month will not accrue any paid vacation or paid sick leave for the month, as it is with 

other employees on a leave without pay status.  An employee who separates from employment in 

order to join the Armed Forces will not accrue any paid vacation or paid sick leave during the 

period prior to re-employment.  An employee who separates from employment in order to join 

the Armed Forces and does not return to employment with the city will forfeit unused sick leave 

as provided in the Paid Sick Leave policy, unless the separation from employment with the city 

is a retirement. 

 

Insurance.  A returning employee will be able to participate in the city’s insurance program and 

receive benefits according to the policies governing other individuals who are returning to work 

from approved leave without pay.  An individual on military leave which lasts longer than 30 

calendar days is entitled to elect health insurance continuation coverage at the employee’s 

expense the same as other individuals who are separated from employment or who take an 

unpaid leave of absence of longer than 30 days. 

 

Re-Employment Rights.  If an unclassified or classified employee is called to active duty or 

separates from employment to join the Armed Forces, the city will re-employ him in his old 

148



15 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

position or position of like seniority, status, and pay upon his discharge from duty, subject to the 

following conditions. 

 Notice Given Prior to and Following Absence.  The employee must have complied with 

the notice provisions of this policy prior to and following the absence for military duty. 

 Honorable or General Discharge.  The employee must have received an honorable or 

general discharge from military service, unless the employee remains a member of the 

National Guard or Reserves or is otherwise not in an active-duty service. 

 Length of Service Restrictions. The employee’s total cumulative absence must not exceed 

five years, excluding certain types of military service described under federal law. 

 

Notification of Return from Military Absence. When an employee seeks to return to work or 

apply for re-employment following a military absence, the employee must provide notice to the 

human resources director of his intent to return to work or apply for reemployment according to 

following schedule: 

(1) If the employee was absent for military fitness-for-duty examination or the military 

absence was for less than 31 days, the employee must return to work and/or reapply for 

work at the beginning of the first full regular scheduled work period that starts at least eight 

hours after the employee returns from the location of military service, training, or 

examination.  For example, if an employee is released from a two-week National Guard drill 

at 8:00 a.m. on Monday, June 1, the city will allow the employee the time it takes to travel 

home, plus eight additional hours.  If the travel time is less than eight hours, the employee 

would not be required to report for work until the next full scheduled work day, Tuesday, 

June 2.  If the travel time is more than eight hours, then the employee would not be required 

to report for work until Wednesday, June 3, because the travel time plus eight hours will 

overlap into Tuesday, June 2. 

 

(2) If the military absence was for more than 30 days but less than 181 days, the employee 

must return to work and/or re-apply for work no later than 14 days after completing the 

service or training. But if circumstances beyond the employee’s control make returning 

within this 14-day period impossible or unreasonable, then the employee must notify the 

human resources director about those circumstances and return to work on the next calendar 

workday when returning becomes possible or reasonable. 

 

(3) If the military absence was for more than 180 days, the employee must notify the human 

resources director of his or her intent to return to work no later than 90 days after the 

completion of the service or training by submitting a written application for re-employment. 

 

(4) If an employee is hospitalized or recovering from an injury or illness incurred or 

aggravated during the military service or training which makes the employee unable to 

perform job duties, the employee must: (i) as soon as possible, notify the human resources 

director regarding the injury or illness and resulting inability to work; and (ii) at the end of 

the necessary recovery period, notify the human resources director of the intent to return to 

work by submitting a written application for re-employment.   The city cannot guarantee 

reinstatement if the recovery period exceeds two years, unless circumstances beyond the 

employee’s control make re-application impossible or unreasonable.  In such circumstances, 

149



16 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

the employee must re-apply to the human resources director on the next calendar workday 

when notice becomes possible. 

 

Return-to-Work Documentation. Within two weeks after returning from any military leave or 

absence of longer than 30 days, the employee must provide documentation (unless such 

documentation does not yet exist or is not readily available) showing: (i) the return-to-work 

notice was submitted within the required time period; (ii) the total length of the period of military 

service; and (iii) the employee received an honorable or general discharge (if applicable). 

 

Exceptions to Re-employment Rights.  Re-employment will not be required if the city’s 

circumstances have so changed as to make it impossible or unreasonable to re-employ the 

individual.  Such changes include: (i)the organization has changed drastically in nature and size; 

(ii) the individual’s old job has been abolished and employment would have been lost anyway; or 

(iii) the individual is no longer physically or mentally qualified for his old job or a comparable 

job; or (iv) the position from which the employee departed was a temporary job. 

 

 

SECTION III: REVISION TO EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER NINE 

SECTION 9.5 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE 
 

 That Section 9.5 of the Employee Handbook, be and is hereby deleted in its entirety and 

is renumbered, renamed, and replaced as follows: 

 

9.13 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE (FMLA) POLICY 

A.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Eligibility.  To be eligible for leave under this policy, an employee must meet all of the 

following requirements: (1) the employee must have worked for the City for at least 12 months, 

which need not be 12 consecutive months; and (2) the employee must have worked for the City 

for at least 1,250 hours during the 12 months immediately preceding the date the leave of 

absence begins or requested leave of absence would begin.  We count towards both the 1,250-

hour and 12-months-of-service requirements the time employees are on an approved military 

leave of absence or are otherwise serving in the military.  We do not count any hours during any 

other period of leave of absence towards the second eligibility requirement. 

 

Compliance With FMLA Law and Regulations.  The City adopted this policy to comply with 

the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended, and applicable federal regulations.  The 

policy is not intended to be interpreted to provide any protections or require restrictions not 

contemplated by that law and regulations. 

 

Types of FMLA Leave.  All leaves covered by this policy are collectively called “FMLA leave.”  

Eligible employees may take a leave of absence covered by this policy during the “FMLA year” 

(defined below) for any of these reasons: 

 For the birth of the employee’s healthy child, or the placement by a State of a child for 

adoption or foster care with the employee, including child care after birth or placement for 

adoption or foster care. Leave to care for a child after birth or after adoption or placement 

150



17 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

for foster care must be taken within one year after the child’s birth or placement.  This type 

of leave is called “Family Leave.” 

 

 To care for the employee’s spouse, child or parent with a serious health condition. This 

type of leave is called “Caregiver Medical Leave.” 

 

 For the employee’s own serious health condition (including pregnancy, childbirth and 

related conditions).  This type of leave is called “Medical Leave.”  The employee’s serious 

health condition can include illnesses or injuries caused by on-the-job accidents or working 

conditions which may qualify for workers’ compensation benefits or medical treatment paid 

for by the City. 

 

 For absences caused by an active duty exigency when the employee’s spouse, child, or 

parent is a service member.  This type of leave is called “Military Exigency Leave.” 

 

 To care for the employee’s spouse, child, parent, or “next of kin” (if the employee is the 

nearest blood relative) who is a “recovering service member.”  This type of leave is called 

“Military Caregiver Leave.” 

 

FMLA Year. In determining the amount of leave available to an employee for all FMLA leaves 

except for Military Caregiver Leave, the City uses a "rolling" 12-month period measured 

backward from the date an employee uses FMLA leave covered by this policy. For purposes of  

Military Caregiver Leave, the City will determine the “12-month period” in which the 26-weeks-

of-leave-entitlement by measuring forward from the date an employee's first leave to care for the 

covered service member begins.  Regardless of the period used, for convenience the twelve-

month period is referred to as the “FMLA year.” 

 

Maximum Length of Leave (General Rules).  An employee may take up to 12 weeks combined 

total of Family Leave, Caregiver Medical Leave, Medical Leave, or Military Exigency Leave 

during the FMLA year. Under the “look back” method applicable to these four types of leave, the 

City essentially take a snapshot of the twelve-month period which changes daily.  Each time an 

employee takes FMLA leave, the remaining leave entitlement is the balance of FMLA leave time 

not used during the immediately preceding twelve months.  An employee may take up to 26 

weeks of Military Caregiver Leave during the FMLA year, unless the employee also takes 

Military Exigency Leave during the FMLA year, as discussed in the following special rule.  Each 

time the employee takes Military Caregiver leave within the “look forward” period, the 

remaining leave entitlement is the amount not used within the 12-month period.  If the employee 

does not take all of the available 26 weeks of Military Caregiver Leave during that single 12-

month period, the remaining part of the 26-weeks leave entitlement is forfeited. 

 

For example, if an employee used four weeks for Medical Leave beginning February 1, 2013, 

four weeks of Medical Leave beginning June 1, 2013, and four weeks of Medical Leave 

beginning December 1, 2013, then as of January 1, 2014, the employee would not be entitled 

to any additional Family Leave, Caregiver Medical Leave, Medical Leave, or Military 

Exigency Leave until February 1, 2014. Beginning on February 1, 2014, the employee would 

again be eligible to take any of these 12-week FMLA leave types, recouping the right to take 

151



18 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

FMLA leave in the same manner and amounts in which it was used in the previous year. 

Thus, the employee would recoup (and be entitled to use) one additional day of FMLA leave 

each day for four weeks beginning on February 1, 2014. The employee would similarly also 

begin to recoup additional days beginning on June 1, 2014, and additional days beginning on 

December 1, 2014. 

 

For example, if an employee takes the full 26 weeks of Military Caregiver Leave to care for 

an injured or ill service member commencing on Monday, July 1, 2013, the 26-week leave 

will expire on Monday December 30, 2013.  The employee must return from leave on 

Tuesday, December 31, 2013.  The employee will not be eligible to take any further Military 

Caregiver Leave until after July 1, 2014, which is 12 months after the commencement of the 

first Military Caregiver Leave. 

 

Special Limit on Amounts of Military-Related Leaves. If an employee requests both Military 

Exigency Leave and Military Caregiver Leave, the employee may take only a combined total of 

26 weeks of leave for these two reasons during the overlapping FMLA years applicable to both 

types of leave, if FMLA leave is not used for any other reason. 

 

For example, if an employee takes 10 weeks of Military Caregiver Leave to care for an 

injured or ill service member commencing on Monday, July 1, 2013, the 10-week leave will 

expire on Monday September 9, 2013.  The employee must return from leave on Tuesday, 

September 10, 2013.  At that point, using the “look back” rule for Military Exigency Leave, 

the employee is eligible to take only two (2) weeks of Military Exigency Leave, and using 

the “look forward” rule for Military Caregiver Leave, the employee is only eligible to use 

another 16 weeks of Military Caregiver Leave until after July 1, 2014. 

 

If this same employee then takes two (2) weeks of Medical Leave commencing on 

December 1, 2013, and ending on December 15, 2013, using the “look back” rule, the 

employee is not eligible to take any further Military Exigency Leave or any of the other 12-

week types of FMLA leave, but is still eligible, under the “look forward” rule, to take 

another 16 weeks of Military Caregiver Leave until after July 1, 2014. 

 

For example, if an employee takes 22 weeks of Military Caregiver Leave to care for an 

injured or ill service member commencing on Monday, July 1, 2013, the 22-week leave will 

expire on Monday December 2, 2013. The employee must return from leave on Tuesday, 

December 3, 2013.  If the employee does not take any further Military Caregiver Leave until 

after July 1, 2014, the remaining four weeks of this type of leave are forfeited.  If this same 

employee requests Military Caregiver Leave on September 1, 2014, the employee only 

would be entitled to take 26 weeks of this type of leave during the 12-month period ending 

September 1, 2015. 

 

Special Limits on Amount of Leave – Spouses Both Employed by the City.  If both a husband 

and wife are eligible employees of the City, they may take only a combined total of 12 weeks for 

Family Leave or a combined total of 12 weeks of Caregiver Leave to care for a parent with a 

serious health condition, or a combined total of 26 weeks of Military Caregiver Leave during the 

FMLA year, if they each do not use FMLA leave for any other reason. For example, if each 

152



19 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

spouse took 6 weeks of Caregiver Leave to care for a parent, each could use an additional 6 

weeks of Medical Leave due to his or her own serious health condition or 6 weeks of Caregiver 

Leave to care for a child with a serious health condition. 

 

Form of FMLA Leave.  FMLA leave under this policy generally is taken in a single consecutive 

absence up to the 12-week or 26-week maximum.  But under some circumstances, employees 

may take leave under this policy “intermittently,” which means taking leave in short blocks of 

time (of no less than one quarter hour increments) while otherwise continuing to work. 

Intermittent leave may be granted, if necessary, for a Caregiver Leave, Medical Leave, Military 

Exigency Leave, or Military Caregiver Leave.  Family Leave must be taken in a consecutive 

block of time.  Intermittent leave due to foreseeable absences can be taken as a result of 

reduction in an employee’s regular schedule.  For example, if the employee needs Medical Leave 

to attend scheduled appointments for dialysis treatments lasting four hours every other Friday, 

the employee’s schedule can be adjusted to allow the absence, and the four hours spent at 

dialysis counts towards the employee’s total available FMLA leave.  Regardless of the form of 

the FMLA leave, in all cases, the total FMLA leave during the FMLA year will not exceed the 

maximum length allowed by this policy. 

 

Designation by City.  If we determine that an employee’s absence is covered by this policy, 

including an absence that could qualify for another type of leave described in the City’s 

Employee Handbook, we may designate the absence as FMLA leave covered by this policy and 

count the absence toward the employee’s 12 weeks (or 26 weeks) of FMLA leave. 

 

Fraud. An employee who fraudulently obtains FMLA leave is subject to disciplinary action, up 

to and including termination of employment. 

 

B. DEFINITIONS OF TERMS 

The term “parent” includes the biological, adoptive, or “step” mother or father of an employee or 

an individual who stood in loco parentis to the employee.  The term does not include a “parent-

in-law” or a grand-parent , unless the grandparent stood in loco parentis to the employee when 

the employee was age 18 or younger. 

 

The term “child” generally includes a biological, adopted, or foster child, a stepchild, a legal 

ward, or a child of a person standing in loco parentis towards the child.  For purposes of 

Caregiver Leave, the term does not include any individual age 18 or over, unless the person is 

incapable of self-care because of mental or physical disability.  For purposes of Military 

Exigency Leave and Military Caregiver Leave, the term does include individuals over age 18. 

Stated otherwise, unless an employee’s adult child is incapable of self-care due to a disability, an 

employee cannot take Caregiver Leave to care for an adult child. 

 

The term “in loco parentis” means the person took or takes responsibility for day-to-day care of 

another person and provided or provides financial support for the other person without any 

biological or legal relationship.  In other words, a grand-child is not usually considered the 

“child” of an employee for purpose FMLA leave, unless the employee stands in loco parentis 

towards the grand-child. 

 

153



20 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

The term “spouse” includes an employee’s husband or wife, as defined by applicable State law, 

including a “common law” spouse who the employee has previously held out or represented to 

the City and others to be the employee’s spouse. 

 

The term “next of kin” means a person’s nearest blood relative other than the person’s parent, 

son, or daughter, in the following order of priority: blood relatives who have been granted legal 

custody of the person by court decree or statute, brothers and sisters, grandparents, aunts and 

uncles, and first cousins, unless the person has specifically designated in writing another blood 

relative as his or her nearest blood relative for purposes of military caregiver leave.  

 

The term “service member” means a member of the Armed Forces (Army, Navy, Air Force, 

Marines, and Coast Guard), the United States Reserves, or the National Guard who is related to 

the employee. 

 

The term “recovering service member” means a service member who suffered a serious injury or 

illness while on active-duty and in the line of duty that may render the person unable to perform 

the duties of the person’s office, grade, rank or rating and who is undergoing medical treatment, 

recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in an outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary 

disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness. 

 

The term “key employee” means a salaried eligible employee who is among the highest-paid 

10% of all of the City’s employees, both salaried and non-salaried, eligible and non-eligible.  In 

determining whether an employee is among the highest paid 10%, the City will review year-to-

date earnings divided by weeks worked by the employee (including weeks in which paid leave 

was taken). Earnings include wages, premium pay, incentive pay, and non-discretionary and 

discretionary bonuses, but do not include the value of any employee benefits.  The City 

determines whether a salaried employee is among the highest paid 10% at the time the employee 

gives notice of the need for leave or otherwise needs to take the leave. 

 

The term “incapacity” means an inability to work, attend school, or perform other regular daily 

activities because of the serious health condition, treatment, or recovery. 

 

The term “continuing treatment” means the employee either (i) must be seen and treated in-

person by a health care provider (or by a provider of health care services such as a nurse or 

physical therapist under orders of, or on referral by, a health care provider) two or more times 

within 30 days of the first day of incapacity, unless circumstances beyond the employee’s control 

prevent the follow-up visit, or (ii) must be seen and treated by a health care provider on at least 

one occasion, which results in a regimen of treatment under the supervision of the health care 

provider.  A regimen of treatment that includes the taking of over-the-counter medications such 

as aspirin, antihistamines, or salves, or bed-rest, drinking fluids, exercise, and other similar 

activities that can be initiated without a visit to a health care provider, is not, by itself, sufficient 

to substitute for the second visit to the health care provider.  A regimen of taking prescription 

medication is sufficient to substitute for the second visit to the healthcare provider. 

 

The term “serious health condition” means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental 

condition that involves:  

154



21 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

(1) inpatient care (e.g., an overnight stay in a hospital, hospice, or residential medical 

facility), including any period of incapacity or any subsequent treatment in connection with 

the inpatient care; or 

 

(2) a period of incapacity of more than three consecutive full calendar days and “continuing 

treatment” by a health care provider or a provider of health care services under the 

supervision or by referral of the health care provider (for purposes of this type condition, the 

first (or only) in-person treatment visit to the health care provider must take place within 

seven days of the first day of incapacity); or 

 

(3) any absences for medical care or any period of incapacity because of pregnancy, 

childbirth and related medical conditions; or 

 

(4) any absences for medical care or any period of incapacity because of a chronic condition, 

which is any medical condition which (i) requires periodic visits (at least twice a year) for 

treatment by a health care provider, or by a nurse under direct supervision of a health care 

provider, (ii) continues over an extended period of time (including recurring episodes of a 

single underlying condition); and (iii) causes or may cause episodic rather than a continuing 

period of incapacity; or 

 

(5) any absences for medical care or any period of incapacity because of a permanent long-

term condition for which treatment may not be effective (the person must be under the 

continuing supervision of, but need not be receiving active treatment by, a health care 

provider); or 

 

(6) any period of absence to receive or recover from multiple treatments by or under orders 

or referral from a health care provider for restorative surgery after an injury or for a condition 

so serious that, in the absence of medical intervention or treatment, would likely result in a 

period of incapacity of more than three consecutive full calendar days. 

 

A serious health condition may include occupational or on-the-job-related injuries and illnesses 

that might also qualify for workers’ compensation insurance benefits. 

 

Absences for treatment for alcohol or substance or drug abuse by a health care provider or by a 

provider of health care services on referral by a health care provider may qualify for medical 

leave under this policy if the absence involves either in-patient care or a period of incapacity of 

more than three consecutive full calendar days and “continuing treatment” by a health care 

provider.  But an absence caused by an employee's use of the drug, alcohol, or substance, rather 

than for treatment, does not qualify for FMLA leave. 

 

Conditions for which cosmetic treatments are administered (such as most treatments for acne or 

plastic surgery) are not “serious health conditions” unless inpatient hospital care is required or 

unless complications develop. Ordinarily, unless complications arise, the common cold, the flu, 

ear aches, upset stomach, minor ulcers, headaches other than migraine, routine dental or 

orthodontia problems, and periodontal disease are examples of conditions that do not meet the 

definition of a “serious health condition” for purposes of this policy. 

155



22 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

 

The term “active duty exigency” means any of the following seven reasons for taking leave 

under this policy: 

 

(1) Short-notice deployment.  The employee may take leave for up to seven calendar days 

(beginning on the date of the deployment notice) to address any issue arising from a notice to 

the service member of an impending call or order to active duty in support of a contingency 

operation, if the service member receives the deployment notice seven or less calendar days 

before the date of deployment. 

 

(2) Military events and related activities.  The employee may take leave to attend any official 

ceremony, program, or event sponsored by the military, or any family support or assistance 

program or informational briefing sponsored or promoted by the military, military service 

organizations, or the American Red Cross, if such ceremonies, events, meetings, programs, 

or briefings are related to the active duty or call to active duty status of the service member. 

 

(3) Childcare and school activities. If the service member’s active duty or call to active duty 

status requires a change in the existing childcare or schooling arrangements for a biological, 

adopted, or foster child, a stepchild, or a legal ward of the service member, or a child for 

whom the service member stands in loco parentis, then the employee may take leave: (i) to 

arrange for alternative childcare for the child; (ii) to provide childcare to the child on an 

urgent, immediate need basis (but not on a routine, regular, or everyday basis); (iii) to enroll 

in or transfer the child to a new school or day care facility; or (iv) to attend meetings on 

behalf of the service member with staff at a school or a daycare facility, such as meetings 

with school officials regarding disciplinary measures, parent-teacher conferences, or 

meetings with school counselors, relating to the service member’s child.. 

 

(4) Financial and legal arrangements.   The employee may take leave (i) to make or update 

financial or legal arrangements to address the service member’s absence while on active duty 

or call to active duty status (for example, to prepare or update a will); and (ii) to act as the 

service member’s representative before a federal, state, or local agency for purposes of 

obtaining, arranging, or appealing military service benefits while the service member is on 

active duty or call to active duty status, and for a period of 90 days following the termination 

of the service member’s active duty status. 

 

(5) Counseling. If the employee, the service member, or a child of the service member needs 

counseling (from someone other than a health care provider, such as a counselor or 

psychologist) because of the active duty or call to active duty status of the service member, 

then the employee may take leave to attend or assist with the counseling.  Absences for 

counseling by a psychiatrist (medical doctor) qualify as either Caregiver Leave or Medical 

Leave. 

 

(6) Rest and recuperation.  The employee make take up to five days of leave to spend time 

with a service member who is on short-term, temporary, rest and recuperation leave during 

the period of deployment. 

 

156



23 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

(7) Post-deployment activities.  The employee make take leave (i) to attend arrival 

ceremonies, reintegration briefings and events, and any other official ceremony or program 

sponsored by the military for a period of 90 days following the termination of the service 

member’s active duty status; and (ii) to address issues that arise from the death of a service 

member while on active duty status, such as recovering the body of the service member and 

making funeral arrangements. 

 

C. NOTICE AND CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 

Procedures for Requesting FMLA Leave.  Notice of an absence qualifying for FMLA leave 

may be given by the employee or the employee's spokesperson (e.g., spouse, adult family 

member, or other responsible party) if the employee is unable to do so personally. To help us 

promptly and efficiently process the leave request, employees (or spokespersons) should make 

all requests for FMLA leave to the City’s Human Resources Director or the Benefits and Payroll 

Coordinator and must provide enough information to make the City aware that a need for FMLA 

leave exists.  For example, under most circumstances, “calling in sick” does not provide enough 

information to inform us an employee needs FMLA leave.  Employees must assist with the 

completion of any requested written documentation to set forth the reasons for the requested 

leave, the anticipated start of the leave, the anticipated duration of the leave, and anticipated 

return-to-work date. 

 

Manager and Supervisor Special Responsibilities. If a manager or supervisor learns of an 

employee’s circumstances that might qualify for FMLA leave under this policy, the manager or 

supervisor must personally inform the Human Resources Director or the Benefits and Payroll 

Coordinator regarding those circumstances and, if the employee is available, advise the 

employee to also contact the Human Resources Director or the Benefits and Payroll Coordinator 

concerning the circumstances.  For example, if an employee has missed three consecutive work 

days, or missed work on a Friday and the following Monday, and has indicated a desire to use 

sick leave, or if the employee’s manager or supervisor otherwise obtains information about an 

employee’s previously unexplained absence from work which shows the absence may qualify as 

FMLA leave,  the manager or supervisor must inform Human Resources Director or the Benefits 

and Payroll Coordinator concerning those circumstances and advise the employee to also contact 

these Human Resources representatives.  Managers and supervisors must cooperate and assist the 

Human Resources Department in any investigation or requests for information concerning the 

absence to be used in evaluating whether the absence qualifies for designation as FMLA leave. 

 

Time Frames for Employee Notice.  We require employees to provide notice in a timely manner 

of the absence which may qualify for FMLA leave and/or the employee’s desire for or need for 

FMLA leave.  Failure to do so may result in a delay in taking leave or denial of the leave, 

depending on the circumstances. 

 

Foreseeable Absences/Scheduled Medical Treatments. When an employee is aware of a need 

for an FMLA leave (such as for scheduled medical treatment or a scheduled child delivery 

date), the employee must give notice of the need for FMLA leave at least thirty (30) days 

before the date the employee wants the leave to begin.  If the employee learns of the need for 

leave to begin in less than 30 days, the employee must give notice of the anticipated absence 

either the same day or the next business day.  In particular, when planning medical treatment, 

157



24 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

the employee must consult with the Human Resources Department and his or her manager or 

supervisor to make a reasonable effort to schedule the treatment so as not to disrupt unduly 

the City's operations, subject to the approval of the health care provider, and to work out a 

treatment schedule which best suits the needs of both the employer and the City. 

 

Unforeseeable Absences.  If the absence and need for FMLA leave is unforeseeable and 

advance notice of the absence is not possible, the employee must provide as much notice as 

is practical under the circumstances. For example, while the City expects employees who 

will be absent from work to follow designated call-in procedures, if an employee requires 

emergency medical treatment and has no spokesperson (e.g., spouse, parent, doctor or nurse) 

who could call for him or her, the employee would not be required to follow the call-in 

procedure until his or her condition is stabilized and the employee has access to, and is able 

to use, a phone. 

 

Military Certifications.  An employee’s request for Military Exigency Leave must be supported 

by a certification that the service member is on active duty or has been called to active duty, 

unless it is impossible or impracticable to obtain such certification within a reasonable period 

following the request or need for leave.  

 

Medical Certification & Recertification of a Serious Health Condition.  If an employee 

requests Caregiver Leave, Medical Leave, Or Military Caregiver Leave, we usually will require a 

medical certification of the employee’s or family member’s health condition and the probable 

length of time treatment will be required.  If an employee requests Caregiver Leave or Military 

Caregiver Leave, we usually will require certification regarding the necessity for the employee to 

provide care to the family member.  We also may require recertification on a reasonable basis 

during the leave, such as every 30 days or upon the occurrence of certain events.  We may also 

require recertification if an employee’s or family member’s serious health condition lasts longer 

than an FMLA year. Certifications must be provided to the Human Resources Department on 

Certification of Health Care Provider forms.  Failure to provide requested certifications may 

result in delay or denial of the requested FMLA leave and potential treatment of the absence as 

unexcused, which may lead to discipline, up to and including discharge. 

 

Second/Third Opinion on Certification.  To verify any certification of an employee’s or family 

member’s serious health condition given by a health care provider, we may require the employee 

to obtain a second medical opinion from another health care provider of our choice at our 

expense.  If the second opinion differs from the certification provided by the employee’s or the 

family member’s health care provider, we may require, at our expense, the opinion of a third 

healthcare provider selected jointly.  The third opinion will be final and binding. 

 

D. PAY AND BENEFITS 

Use of Available Paid Leave.  Unless the employee’s absence is related to an on-the-job injury 

covered by workers compensation insurance for which the employee receives workers’ 

compensation benefit payments, during a FMLA leave covered by this policy, an employee must 

use available unused paid sick leave and vacation leave, in that order.  If an eligible employee is 

also receiving payments for short term disability benefits during a leave covered by this policy, 

we will require the employee to use available paid leave to make up the difference between the 

158



25 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

employee’s usual pay and the disability benefits payments.  After the employee exhausts all 

available paid leave, the remainder of the leave, if any, will be unpaid.  The maximum periods of 

leave available under this policy may not be extended by adding any paid leave to the FMLA 

leave period. 

 

Health/Dental Insurance Benefits During FMLA Leave.  During an approved FMLA leave, an 

employee’s health and/or dental insurance, if any, will continue just as if the employee was not 

absent from work.  The City will continue to pay any portion of the premiums for health and/or 

dental insurance it would pay if the employee was working.  The employee must make 

arrangements to pay on time any portion of the premium the employee would pay if working. If 

an employee fails to pay on time any portion of the premium the employee is required to pay, the 

health and/or dental insurance coverage may terminate.   Under the City’s health and dental 

insurance plans, an employee remains eligible for these types of insurance coverage, but loses 

eligibility for coverage if the employee remains absent from work after exhaustion of the FMLA 

leave. 

 

Other Employment Benefits During FMLA Leave.  An employee on FMLA leave will continue 

to accrue credit towards longevity and across-the-board pay increases, as well as continuous 

years of service for determining the number of days of vacation leave that he or she is entitled to 

accrue each year.  Holidays occurring during an FMLA leave will not be paid.  Other restrictions 

on accruing sick and vacation leave as described in the sick leave and vacation leave policy will 

apply during any FMLA leave, if the FMLA leave exceeds ten (10) working days in a month.  

Other benefits do not continue or accrue during FMLA leave.  Employees may continue other 

benefits, if any, as permitted by the particular benefit plan by making arrangements in advance to 

make any required contributions or premium payments. 

 

E. CONDUCT DURING LEAVE; RETURN TO WORK REQUIREMENTS AND RIGHTS 

No Outside Employment During FMLA Leave.  Employees may not accept employment with 

another employer and may not actively engage in self-employment while on any FMLA leave of 

absence covered by this policy.  If the employee does so, the City will consider the employee to 

have voluntarily quit. 

 

Reporting During FMLA Leave.  While on an approved FMLA leave, employees are required to 

report semimonthly or weekly to the Human Resources Department regarding the employee’s 

status and intent to return to work.  Employees will be advised as to when to report by the 

Human Resources Department. 

 

Return-to-Work / Fitness-For-Duty Certification. When an employee seeks to return to work 

following an approved Medical Leave taken because of the employee’s own serious health 

condition, the employee must provide a medical certification stating whether the employee is 

able to perform all essential job duties or if there are any limitations on the employee’s ability to 

perform essential job duties.  Failure to provide the return-to-work / fitness-for-duty certification 

may result in delay of the employee’s return to work until the certification is provided, or 

possible disciplinary action. 

 

159



26 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

Employment Following FMLA Leave. When an employee returns to work as scheduled 

following FMLA leave, the employee in most circumstances will be assigned to the same job or 

to an equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, seniority, and working conditions.  Under 

limited circumstances, the City may be entitled to replace rather than reinstate certain highly paid 

“key” employees after or during a FMLA leave.  If an employee questions whether he or she is 

considered a “key” employee, the employee should contact the Human Resources Director. 

 

Post-Leave Accommodation.  If an employee continues to have physical or mental impairments 

at the conclusion of a Medical Leave, the City will engage in an interactive process with the 

employee to determine whether an employee is able to return to work with or without reasonable 

accommodation. If the City offers an opportunity to return to work with a reasonable 

accommodation and the employee fails to do so, the failure to return to work will be treated as a 

voluntary quit without notice. 

 

Failure to Return From FMLA Leave.  We will consider an employee to have voluntarily quit 

without notice if the employee does not return to work for five (5) consecutive work days after 

an approved FMLA leave expires and does not request approval for an additional non-FMLA 

leave of absence.  If an employee fails to return to work following FMLA leave, the employee 

may be required to reimburse us for any insurance premiums we paid during the leave, unless the 

failure to return to work is due to circumstances beyond the employee’s control, such as the 

continuation of a serious health condition or a new serious health condition arising. 

 

SECTION IV: REPEALER 

 

 That any Ordinance, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted by the City Council of Daphne, 

Alabama, which is in conflict with this Ordinance be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such 

conflict. 

 

SECTION V: SEVERABILITY 

 

 If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this ordinance is for any 

reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall 

be deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the 

validity of the remaining portions hereof. 

 

SECTION VI: EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of its approval by 

the City Council of the City of Daphne and publication as required by law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

160



27 
ORDINANCE 2013- 48                   AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 9 

  

 ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS ____  DAY OF ________, 2013. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

RON SCOTT 

CITY COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

 

___________________________________ 

DANE HAYGOOD 

MAYOR 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 

REBECCA HAYES 

CITY CLERK 

 

161



1 
ORDINANCE 2013-49                       AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 11 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-49 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AND REORGANIZE CHAPTER ELEVEN OF THE 

CITY’S EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne, after due consideration believes 

that certain revisions to Chapter Eleven of the City of Daphne Employee Handbook are 

necessary for the proper administration of said Handbook and the policies contained therein; 

 

 WHEREAS, revisions to Chapter Eleven of the Employee Handbook will enable the 

City to more easily facilitate and administer provisions in Chapter Eleven of the Employee 

Handbook in order to benefit the health, safety, and welfare of its employees; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION I: REVISION TO EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER ELEVEN 

 

 That Chapter Eleven of the Employee Handbook be given a revised name, that new 

sections be adopted,  and existing sections be revised or replaced as follows: 

 

EMPLOYMENT RECORDS AND REPORTS 
 

11.1. RECORD-KEEPING RESPONSIBILITIES 

The human resources director will ensure that all administrative records that are necessary for the 

proper implementation of the city’s personnel system are established and maintained in 

accordance with appropriate laws and these policies and procedures. The human resources 

director will develop and provide such forms, blanks, and other record- keeping materials that 

are necessary for documenting the actions associated with the city’s personnel system. 

 

It is important that the city keep accurate information concerning each employee’s name, 

address, telephone number(s), marital status, dependents, withholding status and emergency 

contacts. Employees must promptly notify the human resources department in writing of any 

changes in this information. 

 

At hire, each employee must provide the human resources department current, accurate tax 

withholding forms, including the employee’s full name as listed on the employee’s Social 

Security card (or similar tax identification card), the employee’s current address, and the number 

of dependents for tax deduction purposes.  During employment, employees must notify the 

human resources department regarding any changes to this information. 

 

If an employee has group health insurance provided by the city covering dependants (spouse 

and/or children), the employee must inform the human resources department in writing about the  

occurrence of any of the following events no later than sixty (60) days after the event: 

162



2 
ORDINANCE 2013-49                       AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 11 

 employee becomes covered by Medicare (Part A, Part B, or both) 

 divorce or legal separation from the employee’s spouse who is covered on health insurance 

 a child of the employee or the employee’s spouse who is covered by health insurance turns 

age 26 

 marriage of the employee (if spouse is to be covered on health insurance) 

 

If the employee wants a child to be covered on group health insurance, the employee must 

inform the human resources department in writing about the  occurrence of any of the following 

events no later than sixty (60) days after the event: 

 birth of a child to the employee or employee’s spouse 

 adoption of a child under age 26 by the employee or the employee’s spouse 

 employee has a step-child under age 26 due to a new marriage 

 employee is permanently appointed as legal guardian for child under age 26 (not temporary 

custody) 

 

The human resources department will maintain an employee’s employment records in an inactive 

status for five (5) years after the employee leaves the city’s employment. 

 

11.2.  PERSONAL HISTORY RECORD (PHR) 

A Personal History Record (PHR) will be established and maintained by the human resources 

director as a permanent record for each city employee as a central source for that information 

that is required to support employee personnel actions.  The PHR will be the official source of 

information for responding to valid requests for official information about a present or former 

employee. 

 

The material included in a PHR will be restricted to those items that have been verified through 

established procedures, e.g. official personnel forms, statements from an employee or his 

supervisor, and statements provided by references named by an employee.  The PHR will 

exclude material that is not appropriate for use in making judgments in personnel actions.  The 

PHR will contain information related to an employee’s qualifications including: evidence of an 

employee’s knowledge, skills, abilities, experience, training, and character; completed 

application form for employment; supplementary qualification information provided by an 

employee or his supervisor; test results; interview reports; reference reports; performance 

appraisals; and employee’s job description.  The PHR also will contain other information 

pertinent to an employee’s employment, such as: personnel action forms and correspondence 

pertaining to appointment, status changes, certain leaves of absence, separation, and 

reappointment; letters of commendation; and/or records of disciplinary actions. The PHR also 

will contain personal information needed for processing required personnel actions, such as age, 

next of kin, address; and records of benefit enrollments. 

 

  

 

 

11.3.  MEDICAL RECORDS 

163



3 
ORDINANCE 2013-49                       AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 11 

Medical information, drug or alcohol testing records, and information relating to Family and 

Medical Leaves of Absence will be kept in confidential medical records files separate from other 

personnel records in the PHR. 

 

11.4. CONFIDENTIALITY 

The city will make every effort to maintain the confidentiality of employment records, but the 

city cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality when such information is shared by an employee 

with persons other than the human resources director and employees of the human resources 

department.  Those provided access to employment records are expected to maintain 

confidentiality when they become privy to such information and particularly to respect the 

sensitivity of any medical information.  Unauthorized disclosure of an employee's employment 

records or data is grounds for discipline, up to and including discharge. 

 

11.5. ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILES & DATA 

As a government employer, the city is subject to Alabama’s open records laws, which require the 

city to make some records and data available on request to the public, including the news media. 

Only the human resources director is authorized to disclose or release employment records or 

information.  To facilitate compliance with the open records laws, and to protect against 

disclosure of sensitive or confidential information, the city has divided personnel files and data 

into two categories. 

 

Category 1: Records subject to disclosure. The following personnel records or data are subject to 

disclosure and may be made available on request to the public: wage or salary information; 

current and former job assignments; completed evaluation records; demographic data (employee 

race and sex); hire date; date employee attained classified status (if applicable); job applications; 

and records of completed disciplinary actions.  If any such records contain information not 

subject to disclosure (listed below), such information shall be redacted from the records before 

disclosure (e.g., home addresses and telephone numbers must be redacted from employment 

applications). 

 

Category 2: Records not subject to disclosure.   If records or data are not mentioned in the 

previous paragraph, the city considers the records and data as not generally subject to disclosure.  

Without limiting the scope of this designation, the following personnel records or data explicitly 

are not subject to disclosure and must not be made available to the public without the involved 

employee’s written consent and authorization, or an appropriate court order, subpoena or lawful 

request by another governmental authority: employee home telephone numbers and home 

addresses; employee Social Security numbers; employee tax withholding forms; employee 

benefits records, including applications and claims records or data; medical history and medical 

records; confidential recommendations for employment actions; drug or alcohol testing records; 

evaluation and disciplinary records if the employee has not exhausted available grievance or 

appeal procedures; names of persons recommended for discipline if the decision-maker has not 

yet acted on the recommendation. 

 

The human resources director may release Category 1 records or information only after receiving 

a written request that provides (i) the name of the requesting individual, (ii) the date of the 

164



4 
ORDINANCE 2013-49                       AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 11 

request, (iii) a list or description of the records or information requested for review, and (iv) the 

reason why the person wants to review the records or information. 

 

The human resources director may release Category 2 records or information to outsiders only 

with the involved employee’s express written consent and authorization, or an appropriate court 

order, subpoena or lawful request by another governmental authority. 

 

Each employee (current or former) may review all of his or her own employment records (in 

both categories) by making a request and appointment to do so with the human resources 

director.  No employee may review another employee’s employment records without a 

reasonable or proper purpose. 

 

Individuals may review personnel records and data only in the presence of the human resources 

director or other designated employee, at a time designated by the human resources director, and 

at the human resources department offices.  Individuals may obtain copies of documents in 

employment records upon payment of per page copying charges for city records established by 

the City Clerk. 

 

The mayor will have access to the employment records of all employees. The city’s attorney and 

other legal counsel for the city will have access to the employment records of any employee 

where needed in the representation of the city.  Other internal access to personnel files and data 

must be approved by the human resources director and is usually limited to supervisors and 

managers who are considering the employee under their jurisdiction for a promotion, transfer, or 

other personnel related action.  The circumstances must represent a legitimate and verifiable 

need to know specific information about the employee. 

 

The human resources director shall restrict access to confidential medical records to: (i) 

supervisors and managers who must be advised of any necessary medical restrictions on work 

duties; (ii) employees responsible for implementing any necessary accommodations; (iii) first aid 

or safety personnel; (iv) investigators from other government agencies overseeing compliance 

with applicable medical records confidentiality statutes; (v) the city attorney or other legal 

counsel for the city if needed for the representation of the city; and (vi) employees of the human 

resources department under the direction of the human resources director. 

 

The City reserves the right to verify basic information such as employment status or job title 

without notifying the employee. 

 

An employee who questions the accuracy or completeness of information in the employee’s 

personnel files should discuss such concerns with the human resources director.  Disputes over 

information in personnel files should be resolved through the chain of command in compliance 

with the grievance system. 

 

The personnel clerk will maintain a record of all individuals who access an employee’s PHR or 

confidential medical records. 

 

165



5 
ORDINANCE 2013-49                       AMEND EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CHAPTER 11 

  

SECTION II: REPEALER 

 

 That any Ordinance, or parts thereof, heretofore adopted by the City Council of Daphne, 

Alabama, which is in conflict with this Ordinance be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such 

conflict. 

 

SECTION III: SEVERABILITY 

 

 If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this ordinance is for any 

reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall 

be deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the 

validity of the remaining portions hereof. 

 

SECTION IV: EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of its approval by 

the City Council of the City of Daphne and publication as required by law. 

 

 

 ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS ____  DAY OF ________, 2013. 

 

 

___________________________________ 

RON SCOTT 

CITY COUNCIL PRESIDENT 

 

___________________________________ 

DANE HAYGOOD 

MAYOR 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 

REBECCA HAYES 

CITY CLERK 

 

166



167



168



169



170



171



 

ORDINANCE 2013-50 

 

ADOPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2014 OPERATING BUDGET 

 

WHEREAS,  the Mayor of the City of Daphne has submitted to the City Council an operating budget 
for Fiscal Year 2014 which begins October 1, 2013 and ends September 30, 2014 (the “FY14 
Operating Budget”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and considered such proposed operating budget; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council believes that the attached proposed operating budget is a viable 
spending plan for the City during the next fiscal year; 
 

WHEREAS, the City’s procedures require the adoption of the budget by Ordinance; and 
 

WHEREAS,  if the amounts budgeted for departmental operating items or purposes are not required 
to be utilized for such items or purposes, then these amounts may be expended for other 
departmental items or purposes, provided that the total amount of the adopted operating budget is 
not exceeded; and 
 

WHEREAS,  the Mayor is authorized to approve all applications for grants during the fiscal year with 
the understanding that grant awards requiring an additional appropriations will be presented to 
Council for approval.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, that the FY14 Operating Budget in which total revenues exceed appropriations the amount 
of $1,845,545 and general fund revenues exceed appropriations in the amount of $339,646; as 
attached hereto and made a part hereof; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council that an additional 
general fund appropriation in the amount of $203,652 is included in the FY14 Operating Budget and 
is approved for the following: 
 

 Allowance for merit pay increases, totaling $42,874  

 Allowance for a 2% Cost of Living Adjustments totaling $160,778, which represents a pro-
rated amount to be effective beginning the first pay period of January 2014 

 
 
Approved and adopted on this the ______ day of ___________, 2013. 
 
 
       
      ____________________________________ 

      Dane Haygood,  Mayor 
       

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

172



TOTAL  General Fund 

 Garbage/  

Recycling 

 Civic 

Center 

 Bay Front 

Park 

 Debt 

Service 

Fund 

 Special 

Revenues 

Fund 

 Capital 

Projects 

Fund 

Sales & Use Taxes 15,026,981    13,499,081   -                 -                -                590,000      937,900     -                 
Ad Valorem Taxes 4,972,000      4,972,000     -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 
Business Licenses 1,630,910      1,630,910     -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 
PILOT Taxes 2,230,000      2,230,000     -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 
Luxury Taxes 703,000         703,000        -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 
Permits 427,625         427,625        -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 
Court Collections & Fines 467,000         443,000        -                 -                -                -                 24,000       -                 
Intergovernmental 564,896         230,478        -                 -                -                -                 34,418       300,000     
Fees & Charges 2,241,050      277,050        1,340,000   222,500    77,000      -                 184,500     140,000     
Recreation 111,410         111,410        -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 
Grants 93,950           93,950          -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 
Interest 119,100         112,000        -                 -                -                200             800            6,100         
Miscellaneous 37,300           18,300          -                 -                -                -                 19,000       -                 

Total Estimated Revenues 28,625,222    24,748,804   1,340,000   222,500    77,000      590,200      1,200,618  446,100     

Base Wages 10,320,965    9,667,630     369,720      106,675    106,705    -                 70,235       -                 
Overtime 377,575         348,775        23,300        3,500        2,000        -                 -                 -                 
Payroll Related 1,615,580      1,513,350     59,990        16,610      16,380      -                 9,250         -                 
Other Personnel 2,871,645      2,661,630     145,855      32,225      31,935      -                 -                 -                 

Personnel 15,185,765    14,191,385   598,865      159,010    157,020    -                 79,485       -                 

Employee Support 273,494         263,544        3,050          2,200        250           -                 4,450         -                 
Professional Services 806,656         736,806        13,300        41,000      9,000        -                 2,550         4,000         
Insurance 543,845         462,245        25,200        35,025      21,375      -                 -                 -                 
Advertising 64,450           38,200          9,250          11,500      5,500        -                 -                 -                 
Community Services & Programs 416,918         407,078        -                 9,840        -                -                 -                 -                 
Supplies & Equipment 1,981,990      1,689,244     128,120      47,050      8,400        -                 109,176     -                 
Waste Disposal & Landfill 352,045         83,895          263,200      2,950        2,000        -                 -                 -                 
Maintenance 1,093,914      892,839        109,950      54,000      6,300        -                 30,825       -                 
Utilities 1,237,950      1,066,880     4,625          137,825    18,350      -                 10,270       -                 

Inmates 90,800           70,800          -                 20,000      -                -                 -                 -                 
Contributions to Boards, Authorities, & Districts 210,300         -                   -                 -                -                -                 210,300     -                 
Miscellaneous 9,950             8,975            700             275           -                -                 -                 -                 

Operating 7,082,312      5,720,506     557,395      361,665    71,175      -                 367,571     4,000         

General Long Term Debt Proceeds -                     -                   -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 

Capital 40,000           40,000          -                 -                -                -                 -                 -                 

Debt Service 4,471,600      -                   8,421          -                -                4,463,179   -                 -                 

Transfers To/From Other Funds

Transfers To Other Funds (4,610,302)     (4,457,267)    -                 -                -                -                 (153,035)    -                 
Transfers From Other Funds 4,610,302      -                   -                 298,175    151,195    3,873,179   37,753       250,000     

-                     (4,457,267)    -                 298,175    151,195    3,873,179   (115,282)    250,000     

TOTAL Estimated Revenues (Under) Appropriations 1,845,545      339,646        175,319      -                -                200             638,280     692,100     

2014 Proposed Operating Budget

Enterprise Funds

173



ORDINANCE 2013  - 51 
 

ADOPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2014 CAPITAL BUDGET 
 

WHEREAS,  the Mayor of the City of Daphne has submitted to the City Council capital  and 
personnel requests for Fiscal Year 2014 which begins October 1, 2013 and ends September 
30, 2014 (the “FY14 Capital Budget”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and considered such proposed capital and 
personnel requests; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that funds are available for certain Fiscal 2014 
appropriations and such appropriations should be considered, approved and made a part of the 
Fiscal Year 2014 budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, City Departments have submitted new Personnel & Capital requirements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed such requests and prioritized them 
according to needs and available funds and has incorporated them into the FY14 Capital 
Budget; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, 
that the Fiscal Year 2014 Capital Budget is hereby appropriated in the amount $1,615,771 
($1,123,241 for capital equipment and $492,530 for personnel requests) from the General Fund. 
Such appropriations are itemized in the attached list and made a part hereof. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, 
this   ____     day of  ________________    , 2013. 
 
 
         

_________________________________ 

                                                                       Dane Haygood, Mayor 
       
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk  

174



FY 2014 CAPITAL REQUESTS

General Government

Legislative $28,000 Rolling Filing System in Vault

General Government Total: $28,000

Pubic Safety

Police $35,476 Special Response Team Assault Tactical Vests

$164,023 6 - Chevy Tahoes 

$97,977 Associated Vehicle Equipment to outfit Tahoes

$297,476

Fire $25,000 Holmatro Extrication Tool Set

$26,000 New Vehicle for Fire Marshal

$51,000

Building Inspection $25,000 New Vehicle for Code Enforcement

Public Safety Total: $373,476

Public Works

Streets $30,000 300 Barricades

$21,000 Changeable Message Sign

$40,000 Ford F450 Dump Body Truck

$50,000 Hydroseeder

$150,000 16 Yard Dump Truck

$291,000

Grounds $36,000 F450 Truck

$16,000 LED Light for all City Traffic Intersections

$52,000

Facility Support $14,500 Shutters

Mowing $10,000 4x2 Gator

Mechanical Shop $13,000 18,000 lb. Lift

Public Works Total: $380,500

Parks & Recreation

Recreation $14,000 New Air Conditioner

$22,701 Dodge R1500 Quad Cab 2WD Pickup

$33,064 Ford F250 Crew C&C w/Dump Body

$16,000 John Deere 1200A Field Groomer

$10,000 John Deere Z960A 72" Mower

$95,765

Trione Sports Complex $10,000 Fencing - Front Entrance Closure & 4 Fields

$7,000 3 Batting Cages

$17,000

Lott Park $30,000 Bleachers***

$45,000 Portable Restroom

$75,000

Public Works Total: $187,765

Civic Center & Bayfront

Civic Center $20,000 Carpet for 3 rooms

$1,000 Interior Painting

$10,000 Kitchen Equipment

$50,000 Roof

$3,000 Voltage Monitoring System

$3,000 Telephone System Upgrade

$87,000

Bayfront Pavilion $11,500 Kitchen & Bathroom Floors

$1,000 Interior Painting

$20,000 Exterior Painting

$32,500

Civic Center & Bayfront Total: $119,500

Garbage & Recycling

Recycling $34,000 Ford F450 V10 Crew Cab Truck

Garbage & Recycling Total: $34,000

FY 2014 CAPITAL REQUESTS: $1,123,241

*** Top priority as current bleacher do not meet safety standards.

175



FY 2014 NEW PERSONNEL REQUESTS

Name Job Title

Location 

Description Status Grade Step

Annual 

Salary

Medicare 

Round

Soc Sec 

Round

Retire 

Round

Med, SS 

& Retire 

Total

SUI 

Round

Med/Dent 

Premiums

Obama 

Care 

Fees

Disability 

Round

Life Ins 

Round

Worker's 

Comp 

Round

SUI, 

Med/Dent, 

Dis, Life & 

WC Total

Combined 

Total

SAFETY/TRAINING COORDINATOR H RESOURCE FT 18 4 36,110 525 2,340 2,670 5,535 90 9,855 185 200 125 70 10,525 52,170

SAFETY/TRAINGING COORD : 1 36,110 525 2,340 2,670 5,535 90 9,855 185 200 125 70 10,525 52,170

MARKETING/COMMUMICATION COORDEXECUTIVE FT 45,000 655 2,790 3,335 6,780 115 9,855 185 200 125 70 10,550 62,330

MARKETING/COMMUNICATION COORD. : 1 45,000 655 2,790 3,335 6,780 115 9,855 185 200 125 70 10,550 62,330

POLICE OFFICER POLICE FT PD20 1 37,220 540 2,310 2,760 5,610 100 9,855 185 200 100 1,335 11,775 54,605

POLICE OFFICER POLICE FT PD20 1 37,220 540 2,310 2,760 5,610 100 9,855 185 200 100 1,335 11,775 54,605

OFFICERS : 2 74,440 1,080 4,620 5,520 11,220 200 19,710 370 400 200 2,670 23,550 109,210

SCHOOL CROSS GUARD POLICE PT 2 4 3,235 45 205 240 490 10 0 0 0 0 1,335 1,345 5,070

SCHOOL CROSS GUARD POLICE PT 2 4 3,235 45 205 240 490 10 0 0 0 0 1,335 1,345 5,070

SCHOOL CROSSING GUARDS : 2 6,470 90 410 480 980 20 0 0 0 0 2,670 2,690 10,140

PART TIME DISPATCHER POLICE PT 11 1 13,150 195 820 975 1,990 35 0 0 0 0 70 105 15,245

PART TIME DISPATCHER POLICE PT 11 1 13,150 195 820 975 1,990 35 0 0 0 0 70 105 15,245

COMMUNICATION OFFICER (1)  : 2 26,300 390 1,640 1,950 3,980 70 0 0 0 0 140 210 30,490

SR PSW STREET STREETS FT 11 4 28,490 415 1,770 2,115 4,300 75 9,855 185 175 80 70 10,440 43,230

PSW STREET STREETS FT 6 4 23,045 335 140 1,710 2,185 60 9,855 185 175 80 70 10,425 35,655

PUBLIC SERVICE WORKERS (2) : 2 51,535 750 1,910 3,825 6,485 135 19,710 370 350 160 140 20,865 78,885

CITY ADMINISTRATOR EXECUTIVE FT 55,000 800 3,410 4,080 8,290 140 9,855 185 200 125 70 10,575 73,865

CITY ADMINISTRATOR : 1 55,000 800 3,410 4,080 8,290 140 9,855 185 200 125 70 10,575 73,865

PROGRAM COORDINATOR RECREATION FT 19 1 34,310 500 2,130 2,545 5,175 90 9,855 185 225 125 465 10,945 50,430

REC PROG COORDINATOR : 1 34,310 500 2,130 2,545 5,175 90 9,855 185 225 125 465 10,945 50,430

P/T LIBRARY AIDE LIBRARY PT 6 1 10,645 155 660 790 1,605 30 0 0 0 0 225 255 12,505

P/T LIBRARY AIDE LIBRARY PT 6 1 10,645 155 660 790 1,605 30 0 0 0 0 225 255 12,505

PART TIME LIBRARY AIDE : 2 21,290 310 1,320 1,580 3,210 60 0 0 0 0 450 510 25,010

FY 2014 NEW PERSONNEL REQUESTS : 14 350,455 5,100 20,570 25,985 51,655 920 78,840 1,480 1,575 860 6,745 90,420 492,530

Additional Information:

1.  In order to facilitate this request for PD Communications, $15,000 was removed from their overtime budget.  The net additional expense to fill these 2 positions is $15,490.  If this request is not granted, the overtime budget will be restored to its original 

amount.

2.  In order to facilitate this request for Streets,  $17,000 was removed their overtime budget and an additional $33,000 was removed from their temporary services budget.  The net additional expense to fill these 2 positions is $28,885.  If this request is not 

granted, the overtime and temporary services budgets will be restored to their original amounts.

176



ORDINANCE  2013 - 52 
ATRIP Grants: Initial Survey, Design & Geo-Technical Engineering:  

 Resurfacing Lake Forest Boulevards (Lake Forest Phase IV)  

 Resurfacing North Main Street  
 
WHEREAS, Ordinance 2012-58 approved and adopted the Fiscal Year 2013 Budget on 

October 1, 2012; and 

 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget, the City Council 

has determined that certain appropriations are required and should be approved and 
made a part of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Daphne did heretofore make application for funding through 

Alabama Transportation Rehabilitation and  Improvement Program (ATRIP) to assist 
with City Road Projects.  
 
WHEREAS, the project to resurface Lake Forest Boulevards Phase IV and North 

Main Street was approved for grant funding through the ATRIP Grant; and 

 
WHEREAS, project consulting services will be required to meet the requirements of 

the ATRIP Grant; and,  

 
WHEREAS, staff has reviewed the ATRIP Grant requirements and agree that monies 

need to be appropriated for initial survey, design and geo-technical engineering fees. 

  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council that the Mayor is 

hereby authorized to enter into any required contracts for the Grant on behalf of the 
City of Daphne for the following projects 

 CODFY2013-1 - ATRIP Project No.:02-05-34 North Main Street Resurfacing – Hatch 
Mott MacDonald 

o Initial Survey & Design                        $ 43,565.00 
o Project Total (up front)                        $ 43,565.00 

 

 CODFY2013-3 - ATRIP Project No.:2-05-35 Lake Forest Blvds–Phase IV- HMR 
o Initial Survey & Design                        $ 96,287.00 
o Initial Geo-Technical Engineering       $ 20,600.00 
o Project Total (up front)                        $116,887.00 

                                              
and that funds in the amount of $160,452 as available from the 2012 Construction Fund 
with the balance being funded from the Capital Reserve Fund and made a part of the 
Fiscal Year 2013. 

 
ADOPTED AND APPROVED  this the _____ day of ___________, 2013. 

 
 
                     _____________________________ 
                     Dane Haygood, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, City Clerk 

177



PAGE 1 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

CITY OF DAPHNE 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013 -53 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO REPEAL ORDINANCE NO. 2010 -46 

AND TO ESTABLISH PENALTIES AND ENFORCEMENT  

PROCEDURES FOR VIOLATION OF MUNICIPAL ORDINANCES  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama desires to promote the 

health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Daphne, Alabama; and 

  

 WHEREAS, the City Council of Daphne, Alabama passed Ordinance Number 2005-55 

setting forth a schedule of fines for certain offenses which may be paid without the necessity of 

appearing before the Municipal Court of Daphne, Alabama, and that such a need still exists for 

the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, said schedule of fines necessitates the inclusion of the offense of speeding 

in a school zone; and 

 

 WHEREAS, prior ordinances so establishing said schedule of offenses have been 

amended from time to time and ordinance numbers subject to the schedule of fines have changed 

through amendments and repeals to such an extent that a reorganization of this Ordinance is 

called for in order to remove confusion in the citation of ordinance numbers; and 

  

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, desires to establish a new 

Ordinance setting forth the ordinances subject to fines payable without mandatory court 

appearance; 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 SECTION I:  PENALTY AND ENFORCEMENT PROCEDURES 

 

 (a) Except as otherwise provided by separate ordinance, any person, firm or 

corporation committing an offense within the corporate limits of the City or within the police 

jurisdiction thereof which is in violation of an ordinance of the City now existing or hereafter 

178



PAGE 2 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

enacted shall, upon conviction, be punishable by a fine not to exceed five hundred dollars 

($500.00). 

 

 (b) In addition thereto, any person so convicted may be imprisoned or sentenced to 

hard labor for the City for a period not exceeding six (6) months, at the discretion of the Court 

 

 c) Except where otherwise provided, every day any violation of such code or any 

other ordinance of the City or such rule, regulation or Order shall continue shall constitute a 

separate offense. 

 

 SECTION II:  VIOLATIONS SUBJECT TO MUNICIPAL OFFENSE TICKET 

 

 (a) Violations of the municipal ordinances of the City, as amended from time to time, 

shall be punished by the issuance of a municipal offense ticket as set out further herein. 

 

SECTION III:  ADOPTION OF APPENDIX “A” AS THE SCHEDULE OF FINES 

FOR CITY OF DAPHNE 

 

 (a) The City of Daphne hereby adopts and incorporates, in whole, the schedule of 

fines attached hereto as Appendix “A” and the same shall apply in municipal ordinance violation 

cases or cases charging the violation of a rule or regulation promulgated by a state agency or 

department and incorporated by municipal ordinance. 

 

(b) In addition to the fines so established, the defendant shall pay, in addition to such 

fine amount, any court costs as set forth on Appendix “A”.  If the defendant elects to plead guilty 

before a magistrate to a violation of any of the listed municipal laws for which there is a fine set 

forth in this Section, the fine plus the applicable court costs shall apply in such case.  In lieu of 

appearing before a magistrate, the defendant may sign a guilty plea and waiver of trial provision 

on the municipal offense ticket, and deliver the amount of the fine plus applicable court costs to 

the Clerk of the Municipal Court or mail such amount to the Clerk of the Municipal Court at 

1502 Highway 98, Daphne, Alabama, 36526.  In the event the defendant elects to be tried by the 

Municipal Court, then the defendant shall be subject to such fine and punishment as expressed in 

Section I of this Ordinance. 

 

 SECTION IV:  PROCEDURE FOR ISSUANCE OF MUNICIPAL OFFENSE  

      TICKET AND DISPOSITION OF CHARGE 

 

 a) When any officer, inspector, investigator, auditor or other employee of the City, 

designated by the City code, ordinance or appointment by the Mayor, as an enforcement officer 

179



PAGE 3 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

finds any violation or violations of the provision of the municipal law which he is authorized and 

required to enforce, the City employee may issue, on forms provided by the City, a municipal 

offense ticket and deliver to the person, firm, or corporation in violation of such municipal law. 

 

 The municipal offense ticket shall direct the person or a representative of the firm or 

corporation, whichever the case may be, to appear in the Municipal Court of the City at a time 

and on a date stated therein to answer the charge or charges for violating such municipal law, 

which violation shall be stated in the municipal offense ticket.  However, in the alternative, if the 

violation is the first violation of such municipal law by the person, firm, or corporation cited, or 

if Section III provides a scheduled fine for a second or third offense, then such person, firm, or 

corporation, may, in lieu of appearing in the Municipal Court pursuant to the municipal offense 

ticket, pay the appropriate fine and court costs pursuant to the terms stated in Section III and on 

the municipal offense ticket, in addition to either of the following: 

 

(1) Appearing in person before a magistrate, signing the plea of guilty and 

waiver of trial provision on the ticket or on a form provided by the Magistrate and 

paying the fine and court costs, provided that the Magistrate retains a copy of the 

ticket or such other form; or 

 

(2) Signing the guilty plea and waiver of trial provisions on the ticket and 

mailing the ticket in the amount of the fine and court costs to the Clerk of the 

Court.  Remittance by mail of the fine and costs constitutes a guilty plea and 

waiver of trial, whether or not the guilty plea and waiver of trial provisions on the 

ticket are signed by the defendant. Should the amount tendered be insufficient, 

such money received by the Magistrate or Clerk shall be considered to be a partial 

payment of the lawful penalty, applied by the Clerk to the fines and costs, and 

disbursed as required by law. The Clerk may give notice of such insufficiency, 

and a supplemental summons or warrant of arrest shall be issued for the offender's 

arrest, and judgment shall be entered by the Magistrate of Court for the balance of 

the penalty due. 

 

 (b) If any person, firm or corporation, so cited shall fail to appear in the Municipal 

Court of the City at the time and place stated in any municipal offense ticket duly issued or fails 

to pay the appropriate fine set forth on the municipal offense ticket as set forth herein, the 

officer, inspector, investigator, auditor or other employee of the City issuing such citation is 

hereby authorized and directed to swear out a warrant or execute an affidavit or complaint 

charging such person, firm or corporation with a violation of the municipal law or laws, listed on 

such municipal offense ticket. 

 

180



PAGE 4 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

 (c) The officers, inspectors, investigators, auditors, or other employees of the City, 

designated by law as enforcement officers and authorized to issue the municipal offense tickets 

as herein provided, are hereby further authorized to swear out warrants or execute affidavits or 

complaints charging such person(s), firm, or corporation within a violation of municipal law 

without having first issued a municipal offense ticket for such violation. 

 

 SECTION V:  PENALTIES FOR SUBSEQUENT OFFENSES, FAILURE TO  

    APPEAR, ETC. 

 

 (a) Any person, firm or corporation, receiving a subsequent (second, third or more) 

municipal offense ticket for violation of a municipal law or laws for which there is no scheduled 

fine for subsequent (second, third or more) offense, and anyone failing to appear in Municipal 

court, or otherwise failing to settle the matter by payment of the applicable fine and court cost 

prior to the date stated on the municipal offense ticket shall be punished as provided in Section I 

of this Ordinance, or by community service for a period not exceeding six (6) months, or by both 

such fine and imprisonment and/or community service, at the discretion of the judge, unless 

otherwise prohibited by state law. 

 

 (b) For purposes of this section, the term subsequent (second, third, or more) offense 

shall mean the committing of an offense involving the same offense for which the defendant has 

been previously issued a municipal offense ticket within three (3) years of the earlier offense. 

 

 SECTION VI:  REPEALER 

 

 Ordinance No. 2010-46 and the Schedule of Fines established by the same are hereby 

repealed in their entirety. 

 

SECTION VII:  SEVERABILITY 

 

 The provisions of the Ordinance shall supersede any conflict provisions of any other 

ordinances or resolutions previously adopted which pertain to the establishment of fines and 

penalties for violations of a job classification and pay plan.  Should any provision of this 

Ordinance be declared invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 

remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such invalidity. 

 

 SECTION VIII:  EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its adoption by the City Council of 

the City of Daphne, and publication as required by law. 

181



PAGE 5 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

 

 

 ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, ON THIS THE       DAY OF                           , 2013. 

 

 

          

 

       ___________________________________ 

       DANE HAYGOOD, 

       MAYOR 

        

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

REBECCA A. HAYES, 

CITY CLERK 

182



PAGE 6 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

Appendix “A” 

Updated September 2013     

OFFENSE FINE Cost Total  

Driving on Wrong Side of Road $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Failure to Dim headlights $10.00 $166.50 $176.50 

Failure to Stop at Railroad Crossing $10.00 $166.50 $176.50 

Failure to Use Child Restraint $25.00 $166.50 $191.50 

Failure to Wear Safety Belt $41.00 $0.00 $41.00 

Failure to Yield Right-of-Way $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Following too Closely $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Backing $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Brakes $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Lights $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Muffler $10.00 $166.50 $176.50 

Improper or No Rearview Mirror $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Passing $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Signal $10.00 $166.50 $176.50 

Expired Tag $25.00 $166.50 $191.50 

Improper Tires $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Turn $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Window Tinting $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

No Helmet (Motorcycle Rider) $10.00 $166.50 $176.50 

Operating Motor Vehicle W/O a D.L. * $25.00 $216.50 $241.50 

Running Red Light $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Running Stop Sign $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Speeding 

<25 MPH over Posted Speed Limit 

25 or > 25 over Posted Speed Limit 

$20.00 

$40.00 

$166.50 $186.50 

$206.50 

Speeding in a Construction Zone: 

<25 MPH over Posted Speed Limit 

25 or > 25 over Posted Speed Limit 

$20.00 

$40.00 

$166.50 $186.50 

$206.50 

Speeding in a Construction Zone: 

<25 MPH over Posted Speed Limit 

25 or > 25 over Posted Speed Limit 

 

$40.00 

$80.00 

 

$166.5 
WORKERS PRESENT 

 

$206.50 

$246.50 

Speeding in a School Zone Mandatory Court Appearance 

Speed - exceeding reasonable and prudent $20.00 Costs  

Stopping on Highway $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Violating D. L. Restriction or Endorsement * $10.00 $216.50 $226.50 

Allowing a Child Under the Age of 16 to     

   Operate a Vehicle $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

Shifting Load $25.00 $166.50 $191.50 

Spilling Load $25.00 $166.50 $191.50 

No Red or Orange Flag or Red Light or Amber 

Strobe 
$20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

183



PAGE 7 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

Unattended Motor Vehicle $25.00 $166.50 $191.50 

Driving upon Sidewalk $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Obstructing Driver's View $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Coasting $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Following Emergency Vehicle $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

Crossing  a Fire Hose $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

Littering Highway $100.00 $166.50 $266.50 

Improper Use of Clearly Indicated Divided Highway $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Failure to Yield to Emergency Vehicle $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

Improper Stopping or Parking on or in     

   Highway (General) $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Improper Stopping, Standing, or Parking     

   Outside of Business or Residence $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Improper Stopping, Standing, or Parking     

   in Specified Places $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Blocking Highway $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Parking More Than 18 Inches from Curb $30.00 $166.50 $196.50 

Hitchhiking $10.00 $166.50 $176.50 

Improper Tag Classification $25.00 $166.50 $191.50 

Switched Personalized License Plates $100.00 $166.50 $266.50 

Overweight/Overheight/Overlength Truck $100.00 $166.50 $266.50 

No Permit (Oversized Width, Height,     

   Length) $100.00 $166.50 $266.50 

Refusal to weigh $300.00 $166.50 $466.50 

Casting a Light from a Road 

   (Nuisance Spotlighting) 

    

$100.00 $166.50 $266.50 

Expired License  $20.00 $216.50 $236.50 

Failure to move over or reduce speed when $25.00 $166.50 $191.50 

    approaching enforcement or emergency     

    vehicle.     

Improper Lane Change $20.00 $166.50 $186.50 

Improper Lane Usage $20.00                   $166.50 $186.50 

Insurance** - allowing the operation of a vehicle 
$50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

    without insurance - 1st offense only-  

    current proof of insurance required     

Insurance** - display of invalid insurance -  $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

    1st offense only - proof of valid insurance     

    required.     

Insurance** - failure or refusal to display -  $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

     1st offense only - proof of valid insurance     

     required     

Insurance** - operating a vehicle the registration $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

      of which is suspended - 1st offense only-     

      proof of valid insurance and registration     

      required.     

Insurance** - operating a vehicle without insurance $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

      1st offense only - proof of valid insurance     

184



PAGE 8 OF 8 

MOT ORDINANCE 

 

      required.     

No plainly visible tag $50.00 $166.50 $216.50 

Careless Driving *** $150.00 $114.50 $264.50 

      

Fire lanes  $25.00 $114.50 $139.50 

No Parking/May day $25.00 $148.00 $173.00 

Parked Near Fireplug $25.00 $114.50 $139.50 

Parked Near Intersection $10.00 $114.50 $124.50 

Parked Vehicle for Sale $25.00 $114.50 $139.50 

Parking Handicapped $100.00 $114.50 $214.50 

Parking in Median $10.00 $114.50 $124.50 

Parking No Parking Area $10.00 $114.50 $124.50 

Parking Tow Away Zone $25.00 $114.50 $139.50 

Soliciting W/O Permit $200.00 $148.00 $348.00 

Viol. Noise Ordinance  1St. $50.00 $148.00 $198.00 

Viol. Noise Ordinance  2Nd. $100.00 $148.00 $248.00 

Viol. Noise Ordinance  3Rd. $200.00 $148.00 $348.00 

      

*Includes $50.00 Fee for Driver's License Penalty    

**Subsequent violation requires mandatory court appearance.    

*** To be issued on UTC only       

 

 

185



 

 Page 1 
ORDINANCE 2013-54                        Establishing Public Works Equipment Use Police 

 

ORDINANCE 2013-54 

 

Repealing Ordinance 2013-02 and Establishing Public Works Equipment Use 

Policy 
 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne recognize the importance of 

promoting the health and welfare of its citizens; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the intention of the City of Daphne, through the Department of Public Works, 

to support the sporting events, festivals, fundraisers, parades, and all other special events of the 

Municipalities, Schools, Charities, and Civic Groups of Baldwin County; and 

 

WHEREAS, other commercial and for-profit entities has needs for use of equipment maintained 

by Public Works; and 

 

WHEREAS, Public Works in the past has made available to these groups for their events 

barricades, tents, tables, chairs, water coolers, and ice; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is an expense associated with the purchase, maintenance, transportation, and 

the wear and tear of these items. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA that in order to insure these materials are available and in 

good repair at all times, the following policy is established: 

 

 

SECTION I APPLICATION OF POLICY 

 

For all groups described above, except Schools (and associated entities) within Daphne 

attendance zones, this policy shall apply. 

 

SECTION II  NUMBER OF USE REQUEST  

 

a.) Each group described in paragraph two above will be afforded one equipment use 

request, for a singular event, per calendar year. 

 

b.) For each subsequent equipment use request the below rental fee schedule will apply on a 

unit basis. 

 

c.) For all groups described in paragraph three the below rental fee schedule will apply on a 

unit basis. 

 

 

 

186



 

 Page 2 
ORDINANCE 2013-54                        Establishing Public Works Equipment Use Police 

 

SECTION III  REQUEST AND USE DETAILS 

 

a.) The request must be made in writing a minimum of 30 days prior to pick-up or delivery 

 

b.) The request must indicate items, quantities, dates of pick-up/delivery and return 

 

c.) The request must include name of group, description of event, and contact person with 

full contact information 

 

d.) For events outside of the City of Daphne the requesting group will be responsible for 

transportation of requested equipment 

 

e.) Only Municipal/County vehicles may tow City barricade trailers. Nongovernmental 

groups shall pay the haul rate below 

 

f.) Equipment will be inspected upon return. Borrower will be responsible for cost of any 

damage 

 

g.) The Mayor, at his discretion, may waive any part of or all requirements of this policy. 

 

 

SECTION IV  RENTAL FEE SCHEDULE 

 

ITEM      PRICE PER UNIT 
 

Barricades $5.00 EA 

 

Barricade Trailers (150 capacity) $75.00 EA 

 

Tent (20x40)  $300.00 EA 

                     

Tent (10x10) $25.00 EA 

   

Table (6 & 8 Foot Folding) $5.00 EA 

 

Chairs (Metal Folding) $2.00 EA 

 

Trailer Haul Rate $0.75 /Mile 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

187



 

 Page 3 
ORDINANCE 2013-54                        Establishing Public Works Equipment Use Police 

 

SECTION V:  REPEALER 

 

Ordinance No. 2013-02 is by the same is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

 

 

SECTION VI  SEVERABILITY 

The provisions of this Ordinance are severable. If any provision, section, paragraph, sentence or 

part thereof shall be held unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect or impair the 

remainder of the Ordinance, it being the legislative intent to ordain and enact each provision, 

section, paragraph, sentence : and part thereof separately and independently of each other.  

SECTION VII:  EFFECTIVE DATE  

This Ordinance shall become effective and be in force from and after the date of its 

approval and adoption by the City Council of Daphne and publication as required by law.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA on this        day of    , 2013. 

 

 

 

       __________________________________ 

       Dane Haygood 

       Mayor 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, 

City Clerk 

188



189



 
CITY OF DAPHNE, ALABAMA 

ORDINANCE NO.  2013-55  

 

Zoning District Map 

Revision to the City of Daphne  

Land Use and Development Ordinance 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Daphne, Alabama at their regular 

meeting held on July 25, 2013 favorably recommended to the City Council of the City of Daphne 

certain amendments to the Zoning District Map approved and adopted by the Daphne Land Use and 

Development Ordinance No. 2011-54 and amended by Ordinances No. 2011-73, 2012-19, 2012-54 

and 2013-11; and 

 

WHEREAS, said amendments are necessary due to various rezoning and annexation 

requests which have been approved since the adoption of Ordinance 2011-54 and Ordinances 2011-

73 and 2012-19 and 2012-54 and 2013-11; and 

 

WHEREAS, due notice of said proposed zoning map amendments has been provided to the 

public as required by law through publication and open display at the City  of Daphne Public Library 

and City Hall; and 

 

WHEREAS, a public hearing regarding the proposed Zoning District Map amendments was 

held by the City Council on September 16, 2013; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Daphne after due consideration and upon 

recommendation of the Planning Commission believe it in the best interest of the health, safety and 

welfare of the citizens of the City of Daphne to amend said Zoning District Map as recommended; 

and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA, as follows: 

 

SECTION I: ZONING DISTRICT MAP 

 

The Zoning District Map referenced hereto as Exhibit AA@ shall be the official zoning map 

of the City of Daphne, Alabama and shall be further designated in Appendix H of Exhibit AA@ of the 

City of Daphne Land Use and Development Ordinance, as set forth in Ordinance No. 2011-54 and its 

amendments. 

 

SECTION II: REPEALER 

 

Ordinance No. 2011-54, Appendix H AExhibit A@, Ordinances No. 2011-73 and 2012-19,   

2012-54 and 2013-11 is hereby repealed and any Ordinance(s), parts of Ordinance(s) or 

Resolution(s) conflicting with the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed insofar as they 

conflict. 

 

 

190



 
ORDINANCE 2013-55                     REVISION TO ZONING MAP                           PAGE   2 

 

 

 

SECTION III: EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after the date of its approval by the 

City of Daphne City Council and publication as required by law. 

 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DAPHNE, ALABAMA ON THE            
 
DAY OF                      , 2013. 

 

 

                     

_____________________ 

DANE HAYGOOD,  

MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________ 

REBECCA A. HAYES,  

INTERIM  CITY CLERK 

 

191



192


	AGENDA - September 16  
	ROLL CALL
	Council Minutes - September 3
	Council Work Session Minutes - September 9
	Council Strategic Plan minutes - August 26
	Council Strategic Plan Minutes - September 9
	Proclamation - Amelia
	Proclamation - Mens Cancer Awareness Month
	Public Hearing Info
	Report of Standing Committees
	Finance Minutes - 08-28 Special Meeting
	Finance Minutes - 2013-09-09
	Backup to Finance Minutes
	Buildings & Property Minutes
	Public Safety Minutes
	Ordinance Committee Minutes - September 11
	Beautification Meeting  Minutes
	Environmental Adv. Brd. Minutes
	Report of Special Boards
	IDB Minutes - August 26
	Planning Commission Minutes
	Sign Committee Minutes
	Report of Officers
	Resolutions & Ordinances
	2013-44 - RES - Declaring Certain Property Surplus
	2013-45 - RES - donation FD Emergency Lighting
	2013-46 - RES - GOVDEALS COM               
	2013-47 - RES - Donation FD Emergency Lighting
	Backup to 2013-47 - RES
	2013-48 - RES - SafetyShoes
	2013-49 - RES - Uniforms
	2013-50 - RES - Westminister Board Members 
	Backup to 2013-50 - RES
	2013-21 - ORD - COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE - REVISED DRAFT (3-27-13)
	2013-47 - ORD - Handbook Chap 1 Discrim  Hrssmt  Chapters 7  8 (8-19-13)
	2013-48 - ORD - Handbook Chapter 9 Revision (8-19-13)_approved by Ord Comm (2)
	2013-49 - ORD - Handbook Chapter 11 Revision (8-19-13)
	Backup to 2013-50 ORD - AMENDMENTS
	2013-50 - ORD - 2014 Operating Budget
	Backup to 2013-50 - ORD - 2014 Proposed Operating Budget Summary
	2013-51 -  ORD - 2014 - New Capital  Personnel Requests
	Backup to 2013-51 - ORD -  #1 - Requests 2014-Capital
	Backup to 2013-51 -  ORD -  #2 - ORD - New Requests 2014-Personnel
	2013-52 - ORD - ATRIP - Initial Survey-Eng - LF Blvds Ph IV-N Main St
	2013-53 - ORD - MOT - Schedule of Fines (2)
	2013-54 -  ORD - Revised Public Works - Equipment Use Policy 8-21-2013
	Backup to 2013-54 - ORD -  Changes to 2013-02
	2013-55 - ORD - REVISIONS TO ZONING MAP 7-31-13
	Backup to 2013-55 - ORD



